# OSTEOARTHRITIS AND CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE RISK

YIXUE MEI

# CARDIOVASCULAR RISK IN INDIVIDUALS WITH AND WITHOUT OSTEOARTHRITIS USING THE CANADIAN LONGITUDINAL STUDY ON AGING

By YIXUE (MICHELLE) MEI, HBSc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Masters of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Yixue Mei, June 2022

McMaster University – Master of Science (2022) Hamilton, Ontario (Kinesiology)

Title: Cardiovascular Risk in Individuals with and without Osteoarthritis

Using the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Author: Yixue (Michelle) Mei, HBSc. (McMaster University)

Supervisor: Dr. Baraa K. Al-Khazraji

Committee Members: Dr. Maureen MacDonald, Dr. Marie Pigeyre

External Examiner: Dr. Russell de Souza

Number of pages: xi, 120

# Lay Abstract

Osteoarthritis (OA) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) are two of the most prevalent comorbidities that affect the aging population. Surrogate measures of CVD, such as CVD risk scores and carotid intima-media thickness, have rarely been examined in individuals with OA despite studies showing elevated CVD risk in individuals with OA. We used baseline and 3-year follow-up data collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging to study CVD risk factors in older individuals with and without OA, with considerations given to the site of OA and to menopause, which are additional non-modifiable factors known to influence vascular outcomes. We hypothesized that individuals with OA. We found that individuals with OA have greater CVD risk and odds of developing CVD compared to individuals without OA. We found that individuals with OA have greater CVD nisk and odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up, with no influence of OA site on CVD outcomes, and post-menopausal women with OA have greater odds of developing CVD than post-menopausal women without OA. Our findings suggests that aspects of the OA pathology play a role in increasing CVD risk, which are partially explained through shared risk factors and etiology.

# Abstract

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a prevalent and progressive musculoskeletal condition characterized by the degradation of the cartilage and bone and is often comorbid with cardiovascular disease (CVD), with both disease prevalence's increasing with age. Several factors, such as the site of OA and the menopause transition, are known to independently influence both conditions. OA and CVD share overlapping risk factors and proposed mechanisms, though it is not well understood how these mechanisms influence the risk of comorbidity. This thesis examines the relationship of CVD risk factors, sites of OA, and menopausal variables on CVD risk in individuals with OA.

The first aim of this thesis was to examine preclinical markers of CVD risk, namely the carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT) and cardiovascular risk scores, the Framingham risk score (FRS) and the InterHeart risk score (IHRS), in individuals with and without OA to examine differences in CVD risk profiles. Additional considerations were given to the site of OA, as well as non-specific CVD risk factors (such as social disadvantage and frailty). Risk factors were compared between age- and sex-matched individuals with and without OA and between weight-bearing and non-weight bearing OA. Individuals with OA had significantly greater cIMT, FRS, and IHRS, though no differences were found when comparing the site of OA. Unadjusted and multivariate adjusted odds ratios (OR) calculated odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up in the same cohorts. There was a significantly unadjusted (p<0.001, OR:1.70) and adjusted (p<0.001, OR ranging from 1.67-1.70) influence of OA diagnosis on odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up. There was no significant unadjusted or adjusted difference in odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up when comparing different sites of OA (p ranging from 0.24-0.75, OR ranging from 0.69-0.71).

The second aim of this thesis was to study CVD risk in post-menopausal women. CVD risk factors and the IHRS were used to calculate differences between age-matched post-menopausal women. Unadjusted and multivariable adjusted ORs calculated odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up. There was a significant unadjusted influence of OA diagnosis (p=0.03, OR:1.34) on CVD outcomes, though the effect of OA diagnosis became non-significant after adjusting for the IHRS (p=0.25, OR:1.36) and the IHRS with menopausal variables (p=0.22, OR:1.40).

Although OA is a multifaceted condition, it has often been viewed as a joint-centric disease. The elevated risk of CVD individuals with OA suggests that additional aspects of the OA pathology, such as inflammation and frailty, may drive the increase in risk of CVD independent of age, sex, or menopausal status.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to many people who made this journey not only possible, but also a positive and significant learning experience.

I could not ask for a better mentor and supporter than Dr. Baraa Al-Khazraji, who went above and beyond to provide academic time, guidance, valuable insight. Dr. Al-Khazraji also showed incredible care for my mental and physical well-being, helped me value my own time, set boundaries, and mature as a person and a scientist. These projects would not be possible without Dr. Al-Khazraji's mentoring and feedback. My deepest appreciation also goes to my academic committee members, Dr. Maureen MacDonald and Dr. Marie Pigeyre, for lending their expertise to help improve the quality of my research and providing me resources to achieve the most out of my Master's degree. I am thankful for my external examiner, Dr. Russell de Souza for the time and insight provided for refining my thesis and the manuscripts.

Thank you to my coauthors for the work and time put into refining the projects. I am appreciative of the support of my lab and peers. I would not have had such a full and fulfilling graduate experience without them. An important acknowledgement goes to the researchers at the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging and the comprehensive data collected that made this research possible. I am extremely appreciative to the 50,000 Canadians who have taken the time to participate in the study for researchers to better understand the multifaceted impact of aging. I would like to recognize the McMaster Institute for Research on Aging and the Labarge Centre for Mobility in Aging for their financial support, and for providing opportunities to network with interdisciplinary researchers.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family for their ongoing patience and encouragement over the years and through the process of writing manuscripts and this thesis. I am humbled and grateful for the support I have been shown. Thank you.

## Preface

This Master's thesis contains two manuscripts that will be submitted to journals for publication and is formatted as a "sandwich" thesis. The first chapter provides background of the thesis topics and reviews previous literature. The second and third chapters contain the two manuscripts, which contains introduction, methods, results, and discussion sections. As the manuscripts follow similar research methodology and use the same dataset, there is overlap in the methods and limitations sections. At the time of submission of this thesis, the manuscripts are being prepared for submission to peer-reviewed journals. A comprehensive table of contents begins on page vii.

Disclaimer: The opinions expressed in these manuscripts are the author's own and do not reflect the views of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging.

# Table of Contents

Lay Abstractiii
Abstractiv
Acknowledgementsv
Prefacevi
List of Figures and Tablesx
LIST OF FIGURESx
LIST OF TABLESx
List of Abbreviationsxi
Declaration of Academic Achievementxii
Chapter 1 – Literature Review
1.1 Cardiovascular Physiology and Pathophysiology1
1.2 Osteoarthritis Pathophysiology3
1.3 Markers of CVD risk 4
1.3.1 Carotid Intima-Media Thickness 4
1.3.2 CVD Risk Scores
1.4 Osteoarthritis and Cardiovascular Disease Intersection
1.4.1 Aging
1.4.2 Sex Differences and Menopause8
1.4.3 Inflammation9
1.4.4 Drug and substance use 10
1.4.5 Physical inactivity
1.4.6 Nutrition and Biomarkers12
1.4.7 Social disadvantage14
1.4.8 Frailty
1.5 Clinical Epidemiology Studies and Approaches16
1.5.1 Significance of epidemiological studies16
1.5.2 Statistics in clinical epidemiology16
1.5.3 Working with CLSA: a large longitudinal aging dataset
1.6 Purpose & Objectives

Chapter 2 – Predictors of CVD risk in the OA population using the Canadian Longitudinal Study Aging	on 21
2.1 Introduction	21
2.2 Methodological Approach	27
2.2.1 Study design and population	27
2.2.2 Osteoarthritis status	28
2.2.3 Cardiovascular disease (CVD) status	28
2.2.4 Cardiovascular risk	29
2.2.5 Carotid Intima-Media Thickness (cIMT)	30
2.2.6 Statistical analyses	30
2.3 Results	31
2.4 Discussion	35
Limitations & Strengths	46
Conclusion	48
2.5 References	49
2.6 Figures and Tables	55
Chapter 3 – The association between OA, menopause, and the risk for CVD in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging	.67
3.1 Introduction	67
3.2 Methodological Approach	70
3.2.1 Study design and population	70
3.2.2 Osteoarthritis status	71
3.2.3 Menopausal status and hormone therapy (HT) use	71
3.2.4 Cardiovascular risk	72
3.2.5 Cardiovascular disease (CVD) status	72
3.2.6 Statistical analyses	72
3.3 Results	73
3.4 Discussion	76
Limitations & Strengths	81
Conclusion	84
3.5 References	85

3.6 Figures and Tables	90
Chapter 4 – Conclusions	96
4.1 Summary of Findings and Implications	
4.2 Future directions and Conclusions	
4.3 References	
Supplementary Figure	
Supplementary Tables	107

# List of Figures and Tables

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figures	Page
Chapter 2	
Figure 1. Flowchart of individuals included in manuscript 1 (Chapter 2)55	
Chapter 3	
Figure 2. Flowchart of individuals included in manuscript 2 (Chapter 3)	90

### LIST OF TABLES

Tables		
Chapter 2		
Table 1.1.1a. CVD frequency in individuals with OA (hand OR hip OR knee OA) compared to	56	
individuals with no OA diagnoses at baseline using CLSA data.		
Table 1.1.1b. CVD frequency in individuals with OA (hand OR hip OR knee OA) compared to	57	
individuals with no OA diagnoses at baseline who have complete data for cIMT, FRS, and IHRS		
using CLSA data.		
Table 1.1.2. CVD frequency at 3-year follow-up in individuals with OA (hand OR hip OR knee OA)	58	
compared to individuals with no OA diagnoses at baseline who have complete data for cIMT, FRS,		
and IHRS using CLSA data.		
Table 1.2. Participant demographics using baseline CLSA data.	59	
Table 1.3.1 Unadjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA	60	
Table 1.3.2 Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA – cIMT	60	
Table 1.3.3. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA – cIMT and CVD risk	61	
factors		
Table 1.3.4. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA – cIMT and FRS	61	
Table 1.3.5. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA – cIMT and IHRS	62	
Table 1.4 Participant demographics using baseline CLSA data in weight-bearing and non-weight-	63	
bearing OA		
Table 1.5.1. Unadjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and	64	
non-weight-bearing OA (nwb OA)		
Table 1.5.2. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-	64	
weight-bearing OA (nwb OA) – cIMT only		
Table 1.5.3. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-	65	
weight-bearing OA (nwb OA) – cIMT and CVD risk factors		
Table 1.5.4. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-	65	
weight-bearing OA (nwb OA) – cIMT and FRS		
Table 1.5.5. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-	66	
weight-bearing OA (nwb OA) – cIMT and IHRS		
Chapter 3		
Table 2.1. CVD frequency at baseline in OA and No OA (CTL) groups stratified by sex (M/F).	91	
Table 2.2. CVD frequency at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA (CTL) groups without CVD at baseline	92	
stratified by sex (M/F).		
Table 2.3. Participant demographics of post-menopausal female participants with and without OA.	93	
Values represent mean [SD].		

Table 2.4.1. Unadjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA post-menopausal	94
female participants.	
Table 2.4.2. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA post-menopausal	94
female participants.	
Table 2.4.3. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA post-menopausal	95
female participants.	

# List of Abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index
cIMT	Carotid intima-media thickness
CLSA	Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging
cm	Centimetres
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
FRS	Framingham Risk Score
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
hsCRP	High-sensitivity C-reactive protein
HT	Hormone therapy
IHRS	InterHeart Risk Score
kg	Kilograms
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
m	Metres
OA	Osteoarthritis
OR	Odds ratio
PASE	Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly
SD	Standard deviation
SDS	Social disadvantage score
TUG	Timed-up-and-go
WH ratio	Waist-to-hip ratio
%	Percentage

## Declaration of Academic Achievement

I, Yixue Mei, declare this thesis work to be my own. I assisted with creating the study design, and for both the manuscripts I performed the data extraction, statistical analysis, interpretation of results, and writing of this thesis document, including the two manuscripts.

My supervisor, Dr. Al-Khazraji, and Dr. Dylan Kobsar led the creation of the study design for manuscript 1 (Chapter 2). Dr. Al-Khazraji has provided detailed guidance and feedback throughout the entire process, and along with Dr. Kobsar will have provided edits and meaningful feedback on the study design, results, and manuscript upon submission, and are therefore listed as co-authors of manuscript 1.

Dr. Al-Khazraji provided feedback for the study design for manuscript 2 (Chapter 3), and detailed guidance and feedback during the study process. Dr. Maureen MacDonald (committee member), and Dr. Alison Shea have provided edits and meaningful feedback regarding the study design and manuscript, and are listed as co-authors of manuscript 2.

### Chapter 1 – Literature Review

#### 1.1 Cardiovascular Physiology and Pathophysiology

The cardiovascular system is comprised of the heart and blood vessels, and is responsible for transporting blood containing nutrients and oxygen throughout the body.<sup>1</sup> The heart and vasculature work closely together to ensure that the tissues and organ systems in the body receive adequate nutrients and remove appropriate waste products. This coordination occurs as a response to stimuli, such as changes in blood pressure, hormones, and other signalling molecules.<sup>1</sup>

The nervous system and the respiratory system work closely with the cardiovascular system. The nervous system has baroreceptors that detect changes in pressure and chemoreceptors that detect changes in chemical signals in the blood. Working synonymously, these systems interact to adapt blood flow patterns to internal and external stimuli. Similarly, the respiratory system interacts with the nervous and cardiovascular system in the form of blood gasses. Particularly, carbon dioxide and oxygen concentrations in the blood alter blood flow patterns to ensure that adequate oxygen in the blood is maintained and distributed to other tissues and organ systems. Waste products such as carbon dioxide and other metabolites signal the body to change blood flow patterns. This can be through increasing or decreasing blood flow by means of vasoconstriction or vasodilation, as well as changes in the heart's regulation of heart rate and stroke volume.<sup>1</sup>

At the cellular level, signalling molecules and proteins work to maintain blood flow and vascular function in response to changes in blood gasses and signalling molecules, particularly with the endothelium. The endothelium is the layer of cells within vessels, and plays a large role in

regulating blood flow and vascular tone.<sup>2</sup> Nitric oxide (NO), catalyzed by endothelial NO synthase (eNOS), is a biological messenger that acts in the cardiovascular system to manage vascular tone, contractility, and inflammation by means of inflammatory markers adhering to the endothelium.<sup>3</sup> The endothelium is a target for inflammation and oxidative stress, and factors like obesity, smoking, stress, and high glucose intake may result in endothelial dysfunction.<sup>2</sup> Endothelial dysfunction, which can be screened using the Flow Mediated Dilation (FMD) method, is often a consequence of chronic inflammation.<sup>4</sup> Continuous repair and remodelling of the arterial wall further exacerbates dysfunction and increases the risk for atherosclerosis, which is a precursor to vascular-related diseases.<sup>4</sup>

Pathophysiology often occurs when there is a lacking of sufficient homeostatic mechanisms that regulate the cardiovascular system, such as changes in neural control, cardiac function, and/or as a result of vascular dysfunction (e.g., endothelial dysfunction).<sup>2</sup> Aging and inflammation have both been implicated in the damage to vascular structure. Vascular walls naturally thicken with age, which results in decreases in elasticity and increase the risk for conditions such as hypertension and atherosclerosis,<sup>4</sup> subsequently increasing the risk for future cardiovascular related events (e.g., heart failure, myocardial infarctions, strokes).<sup>4,5</sup> Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is an umbrella term encompassing pathologies related to the heart and vasculature, and is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the older population, accounting for over 17 million deaths per year and expected to increase to over 24 million by 2030.<sup>6,7</sup> Generally, men have higher prevalence of CVD compared to pre-menopausal women, and following the menopausal transition, the risk for CVD in women increases and may surpass age-matched men.<sup>7,8</sup>

Various factors, such as circulating sex hormones, are thought to underly sex differences in CVD risk.<sup>8</sup>

Different CVDs have different etiology, including beginning with atherosclerosis that results from the interaction of factors including inflammation and endothelial dysfunction, which marks the early stage of CVD pathology.<sup>9</sup> CVD diagnosis includes physical exams, imaging (e.g., electrocardiogram), expression of symptoms (e.g., chest pain), or presence of risk factors.<sup>9</sup> Following suspected or established diagnosis, many individuals are encouraged to address modifiable risk factors, such as stopping smoking, increasing physical activity, consuming a healthy diet, and avoiding/addressing obesity.<sup>9</sup>

#### 1.2 Osteoarthritis Pathophysiology

With the growing number of older adults in the population, there is an increase in the proportion of individuals who live with physical disability.<sup>10</sup> Osteoarthritis (OA) is a highly prevalent musculoskeletal condition that has negative implications on the mobility, independence, and quality of life of individual affected.<sup>11</sup> The majority of individuals over 65 have some evidence of OA pathology in their joints, with around 1 in 4 people receiving a formal diagnosis, making OA among the most common causes of disability in the older population.<sup>12,13</sup> OA is characterized by the progressive breakdown of supporting tissues in the joints, namely the cartilage and bone.<sup>14</sup> It has often in literature been cited as a "wear and tear" disease, as one of the speculated causes of OA is overuse or injury to the joint that cannot be rectified by the body's homeostatic properties. However, OA has been noted to have other causes as well, such as damage accrued by the

accumulation of metabolic by-products.<sup>15</sup> OA affects many different sites of the body, including the hand, hip, and knee.

OA results from the structural and functional damage to the affected joint(s), often by trauma or overloading<sup>11,16</sup>, which can introduce various adverse symptoms, namely pain and swelling that lead to reduced movement.<sup>16</sup> Factors such as female sex, increased age, and obesity are found to increase the likelihood of developing OA.<sup>16</sup> OA can be diagnosed by a physician clinically (through symptoms) and radiographically (through medical imaging).<sup>16</sup> Specifically, diagnosis by a physician is often initiated by symptoms of OA, and can be confirmed through X-rays.<sup>16,17</sup>

Several treatment options are prescribed to minimize pain, improve function, and slow progression of OA. Non-pharmacological interventions include weight loss in obese individuals and increased physical activity to manage pain and improve function.<sup>16</sup> However, as physical activity and rehabilitation is often associated with pain in individuals with OA, more common treatment options are pharmacological avenues to control pain (e.g., non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs), with more severe progressions needing surgery (i.e., joint replacement).<sup>16</sup>

#### 1.3 Markers of CVD risk

#### 1.3.1 Carotid Intima-Media Thickness

The thickness between the intima and media layers of the artery, or the intima-media thickness (IMT), is a physiological measure of the vascular system that has been implicated in studies to be representative of cardiovascular health, and a surrogate for CVD risk.<sup>18</sup> The common site of IMT measures occurs at the carotid artery as carotid IMT (cIMT) is easily imaged through

ultrasonography, which produces high-resolution ultrasound images of the cross-section of the cIMT that can be analyzed for thickness.<sup>19</sup>

Studies have found increases in IMT values in men and women with increasing age.<sup>20</sup> Higher IMT values have also been implicated in increased risk of atherosclerosis, and may be a result of increased stress on the vascular system.<sup>18</sup> Importantly, these higher IMT values associated with increased disease risk are independent of age-related IMT changes,<sup>18,20</sup> and IMT is considered an important technique for identifying CVD risk.<sup>19</sup>

#### 1.3.2 CVD Risk Scores

Various factors increase the risk for cardiovascular disease. Composite risk scores have been created in the last few decades to represent multiple variables for CVD as a single, holistic score. This approach is advantageous for examining CVD, as often it is not only one or two variables that predict increased CVD risk, but the interaction or influence of several.

The Framingham risk score (FRS) was developed in the late 1990s using data collected by the Framingham Heart Study that initially assessed risk for coronary heart disease.<sup>21</sup> The FRS considered variables known to influence heart disease: age, sex, blood pressure, total cholesterol, high- and low-density lipoprotein, smoking behaviour, and diabetes. Predictive equations were implemented to create a score that estimated the risk of heart disease in 5 and 10 years.<sup>21</sup>

The FRS is used by clinicians and patients to estimate the risk of developing heart disease by evaluating known risk factors. It has been reported that the FRS performs reasonably well when discriminating between individuals who are at high risk versus low risk, though concerns still exist surrounding the general predictive capacity of the score.<sup>22</sup> A cited limitation is that the FRS was

originally developed and validated in a middle-class white American population, which limits the generalizability of the score to other groups.<sup>22</sup> However, follow-up studies have found that the FRS performs reasonably well when applied to other populations (such as Hispanic men, Black men and women), though there was found to be an over-estimation of risk of heart disease.<sup>22</sup>

A newer risk score is the InterHeart risk score (IHRS), which was created using data collected from 52 countries, strengthening the generalizability of the CVD risk score to a vaster cohort of individuals. In addition to the CVD risk factors considered by the FRS (e.g., age, sex, cholesterol, hypertension, smoking), the IHRS incorporates several important modifiable risk factors (e.g., diet, physical activity), as well as considering other known factors that influence CVD risk (e.g., psychosocial stress).<sup>23,24</sup>

The original IHRS development study examined the probability of CVD onset for 1 and 3.25 year(s) follow-up, which is a shorter time interval compared with the FRS.<sup>23,24</sup> The IHRS was originally validated in 2010 to detect myocardial infarction worldwide in both sexes and all ages,<sup>23</sup> and later validated to predict general CVD events with a similarly high degree of accuracy.<sup>23</sup> Additionally, the researchers also developed a non-laboratory IHRS that excludes biomarkers (LDL, HDL) and results in a similar predictive accuracy, which is advantageous for accessibility and implementation in community-based populations.<sup>25</sup>

#### 1.4 Osteoarthritis and Cardiovascular Disease Intersection

OA is highly comorbid with CVD, particularly in the aging population.<sup>26</sup> Approximately a quarter of the older population is diagnosed with OA, and having OA has been proposed as being an independent risk factor for CVD.<sup>27</sup> Collectively, OA and CVD are independently two of the

leading causes of morbidity and mortality in older individuals.<sup>28</sup> Hawker and colleagues<sup>33</sup> found that OA has a high rate of comorbidities, where up to 90% of patients with OA have at least one comorbid, chronic condition, the most frequent of which is CVD. Other reviews and meta-analyses found OA to be a strong indicator for cardiovascular-related events, where the risk of CVD was significantly increased in those with OA in comparison to those without.<sup>28,29</sup> The literature surrounding the relationship between OA and CVD has been abundant, with many studies and reviews speculating the directionality of the relationship and the associated underlying mechanisms. In the following sections, shared risk factors that influence the risk for and progression of OA and CVD are highlighted.

#### 1.4.1 Aging

Age-related wear on the heart and vasculature can disturb regulation of vascular repair and homeostasis.<sup>28</sup> Vascular repair by means of intimal and medial thickening result in increased stiffness and subsequent loss of elasticity, and occurs due to plaque build-up, or atherosclerosis.<sup>30</sup> Atherosclerosis is facilitated by inflammatory cells and lipid debris,<sup>30</sup> which presents clinically as hypertension and increases the risk for CVD.<sup>28</sup> Increased cIMT is strongly associated with age, even in a healthy aging population.<sup>20</sup> Higher cIMT is also a surrogate for vascular risk, and has been found to be associated with increased CVD.<sup>18,31</sup>

The stiffening of the vessels subsequently influences nutrient delivery to tissues, which affects the bone and joints. Particularly in individuals with or at-risk of OA, stress on the joint in addition to age-related loss of homeostatic capacity can occur to compound the symptoms of OA.<sup>28</sup> Additionally, aging studies in OA found low-grade chronic inflammation associated with OA pathology, and the increased oxidative stress may disrupt bone health regulation.<sup>32</sup> The elevated

risk for older adults to develop OA and CVD independently may contribute to the increased comorbidity of the two conditions in the aging population.

#### 1.4.2 Sex Differences and Menopause

Circulating sex hormones play a role in regulating aspects of the body, particularly in adipose tissues. Increased adiposity may be seen in women compared to men, due to higher concentrations of circulating estrogen and progesterone in the blood. Alterations in adiposity and circulating sex hormones has been suggested to play a role in a higher risk of OA in women, particularly after menopause, compared with men.<sup>33</sup> Estrogen's role in regulating bone health has been documented, with estrogen regulating calcium signalling, decreasing inflammation, and regulating bone turnover.<sup>34</sup> After the menopause transition, studies have determined an association between decreased circulating estrogen and increased risk for OA.<sup>35,36</sup>

Similarly, changes because of menopause have been linked to increasing CVD risk. Estrogen plays a cardioprotective effect in vascular health through various pathways including increasing NO production, reducing oxidative stress, and protecting against vascular injury.<sup>37,38</sup> Dramatic decreases in endogenous estrogen following menopause have been associated with increased progression of cIMT and greater risk of atherosclerosis, which increases the risk for CVD events.<sup>39,40</sup> The role of estrogen in adipose tissue, and the protective effects on bone and vascular health help explain sex differences in the prevalence and risk for OA and CVD, and the menopause transition and subsequent decline in sex hormones account for the increase in risk for both conditions in women.

#### 1.4.2.1 Hormone therapy

In post-menopausal women, hormone therapy (HT) is a commonly prescribed treatment for vasomotor symptoms associated with the sharp decline in circulating sex hormones. There is literature to suggest that HT, particularly estrogen therapy, may help preserve joint health through maintaining healthy bone turnover.<sup>35</sup> The role of HT in CVD risk has also been examined, and found that the benefits of HT are greatest when started within 10 years of the menopausal transition.<sup>8,41</sup> Literature has been more mixed with the use of HT and CVD risk, particularly in 10+ years postmenopausal women, where studies found no change or increased CVD risk with the use HT.<sup>42</sup> However, the use of HT on the interaction between OA and CVD risk, particularly with regards to the type, duration, and route of administration, remains unclear.<sup>34</sup> Whether HT elevates or decreases the risk for OA and CVD as comorbidities or drives an increase in CVD risk in women with OA using HT requires further consolidation of literature.

#### 1.4.3 Inflammation

Inflammation in the joints, as a result of cytokines and adipokines, contributes to the shared pathology of CVD and OA.<sup>43</sup> Chronic, low-grade inflammation plays a role in the progression of OA, potentially beginning following trauma or increased loading in the joints. After the initial damage, inflammation becomes chronic, as the joint experiences a self-perpetuating cycle of inflammation and repair, causing OA to be progressive.<sup>44</sup> Inflammatory cytokines have been associated with OA pathology, where markers including C-reactive protein (CRP) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) were found to be elevated with inflammation in individuals with OA.<sup>15,45</sup> Additionally, there is a proposed link between IL-6 and obesity and insulin resistance, which also are related to

elevated CVD risk.<sup>15</sup> These inflammatory cytokines may result in damage to the arterial wall, which accelerates the progression of atherosclerosis, subsequently increasing CVD risk.<sup>46</sup> Specifically, inflammatory factors reduce the expression of eNOS, and results in excess amounts of circulating NO that is implicated in endothelial dysfunction.<sup>46</sup>

Obesity results in chronic inflammation in the adipose tissues as they release adipokines.<sup>47</sup> Adipokines play a role in the vascular wall and endothelial function, and overexpression of proinflammatory adipokines result in increased risk for atherosclerosis and subsequent CVD.<sup>48</sup> Jointrelated pain associated with OA is often accompanied by decreased physical activity, which increases the occurrence of increased obesity<sup>49</sup> and thus the circulation of adipokines. The chronic inflammation in OA pathology acting as a risk factor for CVD suggests the shared etiology may be a driving factor for the high prevalence of the conditions as comorbidities.

#### 1.4.4 Drug and substance use

#### 1.4.4.1 Smoking

Smoking has been implicated as a risk factor for various health concerns. Specifically, cigarette smoking has been linked to chronic musculoskeletal conditions, though the relationship between smoking and OA has been largely mixed.<sup>50</sup> One study examined the relationship between smoking and cartilage loss in men, and found current smokers to be less physically active, have greater knee pain, and at increased risk for cartilage loss compared to non-smokers.<sup>50</sup> Smoking can increase oxidative stress,<sup>51</sup> which can lead to additional cartilage loss, with additional mechanisms needing further consolidation.

Smoking and smoking exposure has been associated with increased risk for CVD and CVDrelated mortality.<sup>52</sup> Studies have found negative impacts of smoking on endothelial function, possibly as a result of oxidative and inflammatory processes.<sup>53</sup> Second-hand exposure has been associated with increased toxic particulate matter (such as metals)<sup>54</sup> on cardiovascular health, and even short periods of smoking exposure has been linked to increases in endothelial dysfunction and risk for vascular conditions.<sup>55,56</sup> Collectively, smoking as a modifiable risk factor for OA and CVD explain some of the overlapping risk that result in elevated occurrences of the two conditions.

#### 1.4.4.2 Medication

Disease management methods, such as the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are common in individuals with OA. NSAIDs are frequently prescribed for pain and inflammation and may act through several pathways depending on the type. NSAIDs act to inhibit the cyclooxygenase (COX) enzyme, which is required in the production of prostaglandins.<sup>57</sup> Prostaglandins play an important role in vasodilation in the vascular smooth muscle.<sup>58,59</sup> One study examining causes of mortality in individuals with knee or hip OA found that CVD was significantly associated with NSAID use.<sup>60</sup> This suggests the use of NSAIDs in individuals with OA may have a mediating role in the increased risk of CVD.

#### 1.4.5 Physical inactivity

OA, particularly in the weight-bearing joints (i.e., the knee or the hip), is often accompanied with pain during movement. This causes difficulty during daily activities such as walking and going up steps, which often results in individuals with OA being less likely to be physically active.<sup>61</sup> As a result, increased sedentary behaviour is often associated with OA.<sup>61</sup> Decreased physical activity is

often linked with increased abdominal obesity, which are both risk factors for CVD.<sup>49</sup> Decreased physical activity results in lower muscle tone and increases the risk for frailty, which is independently associated with OA and CVD.<sup>62,63</sup> Increased obesity increases the inflammatory markers that circulate the system, which have negative implications on vascular<sup>46</sup> and joint<sup>44</sup> health.

Physical activity improves the health of the vasculature and may delay or prevent development of atherosclerosis.<sup>64</sup> These changes result from the role physical activity plays in modifying blood lipids, improvements in endothelial function (e.g., increasing the bioavailability of NO), and up-regulation of healthy arterial remodeling.<sup>65</sup> Acute bouts of exercise also result in decreases in oxidative stress and increases in markers (e.g., interleukin-6) that reduce chronic inflammation.<sup>66</sup> Thus, physical inactivity in individuals with OA result in increased risk for CVD, though physical activity as a modifiable risk factor improves the pathology of OA and risk for CVD.

#### 1.4.6 Nutrition and Biomarkers

OA is often comorbid with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D), with the relationship proposed to be a result of shared risk factors such as age, obesity, lipid metabolism, and glucose control.<sup>67</sup> Particularly in obese individuals with larger adipocytes, there are associations with insulin resistance and poor cartilage regulation.<sup>67</sup> Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) is a biomarker that reflects glucose concentration in the blood, and higher values are indicative of possible diabetes.<sup>68</sup> However, the relationship between HbA1c and OA pathology is mixed,<sup>69,70</sup> and it is unclear whether there are associations between OA and higher levels of HbA1c. Diabetes is also comorbid with CVD, and they share similar risk factors including obesity and poor lipid metabolism.<sup>68</sup> Independent of diabetes diagnosis, HbA1c has been found to be associated with the risk of CVD.<sup>71</sup>

This suggests there may be a role of poor glucose control in the shared pathology between OA and CVD.

There is evidence for the general role of nutrition on OA risk and progression. Poor diet (possibly due to lifestyle choices or social disadvantage) may lead to increased obesity,<sup>72</sup> which furthers CVD risk through pathways such as inflammation from adipokines. Consumption of high cholesterol and fat diets may also cause inflammation and metabolic syndrome, a risk factor for CVD characterized by high blood pressure, obesity, and poor glucose and cholesterol regulation.<sup>15,72</sup>

There is some literature that suggests high cholesterol may have a role in musculoskeletal disorders such as OA.<sup>15</sup> OA has often been viewed as a mechanical loading or joint-centric condition, though there are studies that show the metabolic role of OA progression where several risk factors, such as cholesterol, interact in the pathogenesis of OA.<sup>15</sup> Cholesterol accumulation (specifically low-density lipoprotein) may create an inflammatory environment, increasing CVD risk.<sup>15</sup> Recent studies have recognized the role of metabolic risk factors in inducing OA, and suggest that the development and progression of OA may share similar pathways with precursors to CVD (such as atherosclerosis) through changes in blood vessel formation and health.<sup>15,73</sup>

Other biomarkers, such as leptin, a pro-inflammatory adipokine, have been cited in OA pathology, where higher levels of leptin in obese mice were associated with higher risk for OA whereas obese mice without leptin were not at risk.<sup>74</sup> Leptin is generally elevated with obesity, and is associated with cartilage degradation.<sup>75</sup> The role of leptin in CVD risk has also been examined in the context of homeostasis in the vascular system, where leptin resistance or signaling deficiency increases the risk for vascular dysfunction and heart failure.<sup>76</sup>

Nutrition and biomarker availability work to increase or decrease the risk for OA and CVD as independent conditions and as comorbidities. Factors such as glucose control, cholesterol, leptin, and inflammatory markers likely interact to result in changes in risk, making nutrition an important modifiable risk factor for OA and CVD pathology.

#### 1.4.7 Social disadvantage

In addition to biomedical determinants of health, the role of non-physiological factors such as social inequalities have been show to influence an individual's biology and disease risk.<sup>50</sup> Considering the influence of non-biomedical factors on health and disease, social disadvantage has recently been studied in both OA and CVD outcomes. Research has found that lower socioeconomic status is associated with greater likelihood of OA outcomes, independent of influence from factors such as sex and aging.<sup>77</sup> In particular, factors such as ethnicity, pain perception, and socioeconomic variables have been proposed to influence risk and progression of OA.<sup>77</sup> There is a proposed relationship between occupation and OA outcome, such that in physically-demanding work (which has been associated with greater physical demand and lower socioeconomic status<sup>78</sup>), there is an increase biomechanical loading at the joint and greater incidence of OA.<sup>77</sup> Studies suggest that prolonged standing and labour-intensive tasks are associated with increased risk and prevalence of OA of the knee and hip.<sup>78</sup> It is postulated that factors such as socioeconomic status may influence pain perception,<sup>50</sup> though it is unclear whether this relationship holds true in women.

Studies have found similar results in CVD risk, where social disadvantage is an independent predictor of CVD.<sup>79</sup> Higher social disadvantage was associated with increased age, and was more commonly found in women than in men. Risk factors for CVD were also found to be more prevalent

in individuals with greater social disadvantage.<sup>79</sup> Specifically, these individuals were more likely older, women, greater body weight, and greater levels of inflammation, suggesting that social disadvantage results in lifestyle and social factors that are associated with greater CVD risk.<sup>79</sup>

Social disadvantage is not frequently studied, possibly due to the less understood and complicated interactions that social determinants of health have on physiology and progression of pathophysiology. However, there is literature that proposes social disadvantage may be a shared factor between OA and CVD (in addition to other conditions, such as obesity), suggesting social determinants of health should be examined when considering the comorbidities.

#### 1.4.8 Frailty

Factors such as age, physical disease and comorbidity, and cognitive health and satisfaction intersect to influence an individual's quality of life.<sup>80</sup> Frailty is the age-related decline in physiological and functional capacity, resulting in increased vulnerability and negative implications on quality of life.<sup>81</sup> Individuals with OA often have joint-related pain as a result of the OA pathology, which in turn acts to decrease physical activity and quality of life.<sup>82</sup> OA is associated with frailty, and the two conditions often result in similar health-related consequences (e.g., disability, pain).<sup>82</sup> A study found significant associations between joint-related pain in individuals with OA and increased prevalence of frailty, and that pain in individuals with OA of the knee or hip are at risk for developing frailty.<sup>82</sup>

In individuals with CVD, there is an increased prevalence of frailty, and the two conditions share similar risk factors.<sup>62</sup> However, the directionality of the relationship remains unclear, with studies suggesting that frailty increases the risk for more severe CVD consequences,<sup>62,83</sup> though

whether frailty increases the risk for CVD alone is not well understood.<sup>84</sup> Physical inactivity, obesity, and dietary factors all increase the risk for both CVD and frailty.<sup>62</sup>

Frailty is independently associated with OA and CVD, and share common risk factors that suggest an increased risk for frailty in individuals with OA or CVD.<sup>62,82</sup> Using comprehensive assessment tools, such as a frailty index, may provide a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms between OA and CVD, as well as the potential role of frailty in the relationship between OA and increased risk for CVD.

#### 1.5 Clinical Epidemiology Studies and Approaches

#### 1.5.1 Significance of epidemiological studies

Clinical epidemiology studies have long-since been cited to examine variables on health and risk, and allow clinicians and researchers to better understand individual and population-level health.<sup>85,86</sup> Preclinical changes may be observed in populations, and early interventions and preventative measures can be taken before major structural or function damage occurs. This proactive approach will aid in prolonged quality of life as well as decreased burden on the healthcare system.

#### 1.5.2 Statistics in clinical epidemiology

Studies in clinical epidemiological research often use case-control designs, where one "case" (e.g., an individual with OA) is matched (attributes like age, sex, etc.) to one or more "controls" (e.g., an individual without OA).<sup>87</sup> Within a larger dataset, these case-control studies are nested within the larger cohort of cases based on their disease characteristics.

A common approach for examining larger population-based data include use of proportions and ratios. By examining differences in proportions either cross sectionally or longitudinally, the differences in risk and group prevalence are better understood. From the population proportions, ratios can be calculated to allow for comparisons between groups (e.g., relative proportions). This provides further information on how proportions differ between groups, particularly in larger-scale studies that examine the prevalence and incidence of diseases.

Another means of analyzing large datasets is studying relationships at follow-up time points. For example, through matching cases and controls within the large dataset, a nested casecontrol study can help achieve greater precision when calculating odds ratios.<sup>87,88</sup> Odds ratios can be calculated through unadjusted and adjusted (i.e., incorporating covariates) logistic regression models. Logistic regression is a statistical approach used to examine the relationship between one or many variables and a dichotomous outcome, such as disease status (i.e., CVD or no CVD).<sup>89</sup> This technique is advantageous, as researchers can study the relationship between multiple variables (independently, interactions, and parallel to each other) and the binary outcome variable.<sup>90</sup> From the logistic regression analysis, odds ratios can be calculated by exponentiating the coefficient returned by the logistic regression (the logit, or the log of the odds ratio). The odds ratio can then be used to determine the change in the outcome variable for a 1-unit increase in a categorical variable (e.g., 1 year of age) or against a reference level (e.g., no OA and OA).<sup>90</sup> This aids in the interpretability of the results, and allows for incorporation of multiple explanatory variables in the model.<sup>89</sup>

1.5.3 Working with CLSA: a large longitudinal aging dataset

The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging is a national research study designed to collect data over the course of two decades to support a wide array of research questions targeted to better understanding aspects of the aging population.<sup>91,92</sup> A total of 51,338 Canadians aged 45-85 years were enrolled into the cohort at baseline (between 2010-2015), of which 21,241 participants were in the Tracking cohort and 30,097 were in the Comprehensive cohort. Both cohorts had comprehensive questionnaire data administered at baseline and at follow-up time points (approximately 3 years apart), and the Comprehensive cohort had additional physical assessments and biological samples collected to supplement the interview questionnaires. All individuals tracked by the CLSA are contacted for 3-year follow-ups, with the final follow-up projected to complete in 2033 or when the participant passes on.<sup>91</sup>

Participants were recruited from 10 provinces, and efforts were taken to ensure appropriate representation, particularly in areas that were identified as under-represented in population-based studies. More information on the recruitment and eligibility of participants can be found in the CLSA cohort study.<sup>91</sup> Multidisciplinary fields were incorporated into the design and decision of the variables collected. As a result, the data includes variables to better understand interdisciplinary aspects of aging, ranging from biological and clinical outcomes, functional measures and lifestyle habits, sociodemographic factors, to medications used. Several specific types of variables taken relevant to this study include ultrasound images of the carotid artery and blood biomarkers.

Survey weights were calculated using the CLSA dataset to maximize the generalizability of the study results to the Canadian population. Survey weights aim to correct for bias in the data collection (i.e., corrections for over- and under-sampling), and allows for comparisons of key

variables and outcomes to the aging population in Canada. There were two types of weights calculated to ensure the generalizability of the data: inflation weights and analytic weights. Inflation weights were used to represent descriptive variables, such as the proportion of people in the CLSA with a certain condition. These inflation weights dictate how many people a single collected individual can represent, with the 50,000 individuals included in the CLSA representing approximately around 13 million Canadians. Inflation weights reduce the sampling bias when examining proportions (i.e., for disease), as they correct for over- or under-sampling at a population level. For regression analyses, analytic weights are similarly applied, where over- or under-sampled locations are adjusted to reduce these sampling biases in statistical analyses. More information about sampling weights, how they were created, and how they should be used can be found in the data support documentation provided by the CLSA.

A key strength of using CLSA data is the breadth of the data included in the longitudinal data collection.<sup>91</sup> The data is comprehensive, with many different fields of variables collected, and the generalizability of the data and results generated aids the in producing more accurate results specific to the Canadian population. However, some considerations include possible recruitment bias, as individuals recruited had to have means to participate in the study, express written permission in French or English, and the Comprehensive cohort required individuals to visit the data collection centres. Thus, there may be a "healthy volunteer" bias and individuals who were not proficient in French or English may be under-represented. However, it appears there is still validity in examining relationships between disease and external variables, and conclusions are still widely generalizable.<sup>91,93</sup>

#### 1.6 Purpose & Objectives

There is a cited relationship between OA and CVD pathologies. However, what remains unknown is specifically which aspects of the shared mechanisms drive the increase in risk for CVD in individuals with OA, and whether preclinical changes occur in individuals with OA that resemble CVD pathology to a greater extent than individuals without existing OA. The purpose of this study is to examine risk factors for and markers of cardiovascular disease in individuals with osteoarthritis using data collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging.

The first objective, covered in the manuscript in Chapter 2, will examine cIMT, FRS, IHRS, and other CVD risk factors in individuals with and without OA, with considerations given to the site of OA, and how these factors influence CVD incidence at a 3-year follow-up. The second objective, covered in the manuscript in Chapter 3, will examine sex differences and menopause on CVD risk in individuals with and without OA, and how these factors influence CVD incidence at a 3-year follow-up.

# Chapter 2 – Predictors of CVD risk in the OA population using the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

#### Y. Mei<sup>1</sup>, M. Kadem<sup>2</sup>, D. Kobsar<sup>1</sup>, B.K. Al-Khazraji<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Kinesiology, Faculty of Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON L8S4L8, Canada.

<sup>2</sup>School of Biomedical Engineering, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON L8S4L8, Canada.

#### 2.1 Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a musculoskeletal condition characterized by a progressive degradation of the cartilage and joint.<sup>1</sup> OA is a progressive and chronic disease associated with prolonged morbidity and decreased quality of life, impacting factors that can affect daily quality of life including risk of frailty and reduced mobility.<sup>2,3</sup> Over 650 million people currently live with OA worldwide, rendering OA as one of the highest contributors to disease and disability, particularly in the older demographic.<sup>4</sup> OA is highly comorbid with cardiovascular disease (CVD),<sup>5,6</sup> and collectively, OA and CVD increase all-cause mortality and result in decreased quality of life and general health in those affected.<sup>5,7,8</sup> The nature of the relationship between OA and CVD is presently unclear, though a large body of literature demonstrates a higher risk and incidence of CVD in the OA population.<sup>6–9</sup> The two pathologies share several common risk factors which include physical inactivity, systemic inflammation, disease management methods, and lifestyle habits, all of which contribute to the high comorbidity between the two conditions.<sup>10,11</sup>

OA affects different sites in the body, with hand, knee, and hip being the most common joints for OA to occur.<sup>1</sup> Interestingly, the site of OA is differentially associated with CVD risk, where studies have found OA of the knee and hip to be highly associated with increased CVD risk, while literature surrounding the influence of hand OA on CVD is more mixed.<sup>11,12</sup> However, the majority

of literature confirms a general relationship between an OA diagnosis and CVD risk and incidence, particularly increasing with OA severity,<sup>13</sup> suggesting that aspects of the OA pathology may put individuals with OA at a greater risk for comorbidities such as CVD. A recent cross-sectional study examining CVD risk in individuals with OA using baseline data found contributions of systemic inflammation, sex differences, and the sites of OA on CVD risk profiles among older adults.<sup>14</sup> It is therefore of great interest to identify early risk factors and pre-clinical changes to inform how factors interact with CVD risk differently depending on the site of OA, and how they influence CVD outcomes to take preventative approaches in the treatment of both conditions.

A subclinical marker of cardiovascular health is the carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT)<sup>15</sup>, with many studies and systematic reviews reporting associations of cIMT with future cardio- and cerebrovascular events.<sup>15,16</sup> Interestingly, though higher cIMT values have been linked to increased cardiovascular risk,<sup>15</sup> this subclinical measure of vascular health has only seldom been examined in the OA population despite the existing and evident comorbidity.<sup>17</sup> Specifically, cIMT was significantly higher in patients with OA, and it was also found that greater cIMT values were associated with greater disease severity (measured through disease duration and the Kellgren-Lawrence grading scale).<sup>17</sup>

Development of various CVD risk scores account for various CVD risk factors and are used as tools to predict future CVD events. These CVD risk scores provide a validated method for identifying populations at risk of CVD, thereby assisting with prevention and early intervention.<sup>18</sup> The Framingham Risk Score (FRS) is a commonly used method to identify CVD risk in the population.<sup>19,20</sup> Notably, one study examined the FRS in the OA population, and found associations between OA and higher FRS values, specifically finding the prevalence of OA to be higher in those

with greater CVD risk.<sup>8</sup> This finding demonstrates a possible meaningful relationship between an OA diagnosis and CVD risk quantified by the FRS, which provides rationale for further examination of CVD risk in the OA population.

In addition to cIMT, other risk factors including age, sex, waist-to-hip ratio, cholesterol (total, high- and low-density lipoprotein), and physical activity levels are also markers of health and CVD risk.<sup>21</sup> Many risk factors (e.g., glucose control,<sup>21</sup> pro-inflammatory cytokines<sup>22</sup>) interact to affect CVD onset and progression by influencing factors or physiologic processes that may result in endothelial dysfunction.<sup>22</sup> Beyond the risk factors included in the FRS, physical activity, diet, and stress also influence the risk of CVD.<sup>23</sup> These modifiable lifestyle risk factors are especially of interest to researchers and clinicians, as they have the potential to influence the behaviour and treatment of patients and can be addressed often without pharmaceutical or medical intervention.<sup>24</sup> Similar to the FRS, the InterHeart Risk Score (IHRS) was developed as a tool to estimate CVD risk.<sup>24,25</sup> The IHRS score is relatively novel in comparison to the FRS; however, its well-rounded construction with additional modifiable risk factors and the validation of the IHRS on a more diverse cohort suggests that the IHRS may also be a good predictor of CVD risk.<sup>24</sup> Specifically, using the IHRS as a tool to examine CVD risk in the OA population could provide further insight on the factors driving the two comorbidities as a complement to the risk analysis provided by FRS.

Used together, cIMT and CVD risk scores have been demonstrated to yield some predictive power for identifying CVD risk.<sup>19</sup> Incorporating both cIMT as a subclinical marker of CVD risk and the FRS and/or IHRS as a comprehensive profile of CVD risk factors may provide a more comprehensive account of CVD risk. A recent study found that the combination of cIMT and CVD
risk scores (e.g. FRS) improved risk prediction in individuals with low CVD risk.<sup>19</sup> The combination of cIMT and FRS/IHRS for CVD risk assessment in the OA population could provide a holistic understanding of how CVD risk presents in individuals with OA. Improved quantification of CVD risk could also help address the relationship between two of the most prevalent and significant health conditions.<sup>5</sup>

Additional risk factors not specific to CVD, such as inflammation, general frailty, and social disadvantage have been shown to influence the risk for both OA and CVD risk and diagnosis. Inflammatory pathways have been highlighted by literature as a key mechanism of the overlapping etiology between OA and CVD.<sup>26</sup> Chronic inflammation in the joint, often as a result of trauma or overloading, drives the progression of OA.<sup>27</sup> Inflammation is associated with the development of atherosclerosis, potentially through processes such as the induction of endothelial dysfunction and dyslipidemia.<sup>28</sup> This relationship has been documented in individuals with OA, where OA of the knee, hip, and hand were associated with atherosclerosis, and OA of the knee and hip were associated with subsequent CVD consequences.<sup>29</sup> Additionally, OA is a common cause of disability, with studies showing that OA is associated with increased frailty regardless of the joint affected (hand or hip or knee OA).<sup>30</sup> There is a proposed bi-directional relationship between frailty and CVD outcomes, where frailty increases the risk of CVD and poor CVD outcomes, and having a CVD condition may cause or exacerbate frailty.<sup>31</sup> Frailty has also been suggested to worsen the prognosis in individuals with both OA and CVD independently, which raises cause for examining a measurement of frailty in CVD risk with individuals with and without OA. Finally, social disadvantage, sometimes considered through combinations of variables including socioeconomic status, ethnicity, and pain, has also been linked to both OA<sup>32</sup> and CVD<sup>33</sup> independently. Specifically,

social disadvantage has been speculated to increase both OA prevalence and severity/progression, particularly considering factors such as education level, employment status, and income.<sup>34</sup>

What remains unknown is how all the CVD risk factors discussed above present in individuals with OA, how CVD risk differs between different sites of OA, and how these risk factors affect odds of developing CVD. The purpose of this study was to examine surrogate measures of CVD risk (cIMT, IHRS, FRS) and additional risk factors (e.g., frailty, social disadvantage, inflammation, age, sex) in a population with known CVD risk (i.e., individuals with an OA diagnosis but no existing CVD) and a healthy control cohort (i.e., individuals with no OA or CVD diagnoses). The primary aim was to examine measures of CVD risk (cIMT, IHRS, FRS) in a population with OA (but no existing CVD) and a healthy control cohort (with no OA or CVD diagnoses). The secondary aim of this study was to compare the CVD risk between a sub-population of individuals with weight-bearing OA to non-weight bearing OA. These aims were addressed by the following objectives:

<u>Objective 1: Examine proportions of CVD in individuals with or without OA at baseline and</u> <u>3-year follow-up.</u> This will examine the comorbidity of OA and CVD, specifically to observe the frequency of CVD in individuals with versus without an existing OA diagnosis.

Objective 2: Compare group demographics of CVD risk factors, cIMT, the FRS, and the IHRS between individuals without CVD, and either with or without OA.

<u>Objective 3: Examine associations between cIMT, FRS, and IHRS with odds of CVD at 3-year</u> <u>follow-up in individuals with or without OA who did not have CVD at baseline.</u> Using baseline CVD risk profiles in an isolated age- and sex- matched sub-cohort of individuals with or without OA, CVD at 3-year follow-up (measured through answering "Yes" to any of the previously defined CVD variables) will be studied as the outcome of interest. The logistic regression models will systematically include variables (exposure) to assess how odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up is impacted by:

- 1. OA status
- 2. OA status + cIMT
- 3. OA status + cIMT + known CVD risk factors [age, sex, waist-to-hip ratio, frailty index]
- 4. OA status + cIMT + FRS
- 5. OA status + cIMT + IHRS

<u>Objective 4: Compare group demographics of CVD risk factors, cIMT, the FRS, and the IHRS</u> <u>between weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA.</u> The possible influence of the type of OA will be examined in individuals with only weight-bearing (hip and knee) OA and individuals with only non-weight-bearing (hand) OA. The CVD risk profiles will be compared in the two cohorts to determine the role of the site of OA on CVD risk.

<u>Objective 5: Examine the associations between cIMT, FRS, and IHRS with odds of CVD at 3-</u> <u>year follow-up in weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA cohorts who did not have CVD at</u> <u>baseline.</u> Using baseline CVD risk profiles in a sub-cohort of age- and sex-matched individuals with either weight-bearing or non-weight-bearing OA, CVD at 3-year follow-up (measured through answering "Yes" to any of the previously defined CVD diagnoses) will be studied as the outcome of interest. The logistic regression models will systematically include variables (exposure) to assess how odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up is impacted:

1. OA type

- 2. OA type + cIMT
- 3. OA type + cIMT + known CVD risk factors [age, sex, waist-to-hip ratio, frailty index]
- 4. OA type + cIMT + FRS
- 5. OA type + cIMT + IHRS

The specific sub-cohorts can be found in Figure 1. We hypothesize that: Objective 2 - markers of CVD risk (cIMT, FRS, IHRS, CVD risk factors) will be elevated in individuals with OA; Objective 3 - individuals with OA have significantly greater odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up compared to individuals without OA, which can partially be explained by determinants of CVD risk (e.g., cIMT, FRS, IHRS); Objective 4 - markers of CVD risk (cIMT, FRS, IHRS, CVD risk factors) will be elevated in individuals with weight-bearing compared to non-weight-bearing OA; and Objective 5 - individuals with weight-bearing OA have greater odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up compared to individuals with non-weight-bearing OA, which can be partially explained by determinants of CVD risk (e.g., cIMT, FRS, IHRS).

## 2.2 Methodological Approach

#### 2.2.1 Study design and population

Baseline (n = 30,097) and 3-year follow-up (n = 27,765) data from the Comprehensive cohort collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) was examined. Further details surrounding the CLSA design are described elsewhere.<sup>35,36</sup> The study was approved by the CLSA scientific advisory board and received ethics from the McMaster Research Ethics Board (protocol #4912). Illustrative outline highlighting Inclusion of participants into sub-cohorts used for analyses can be found in Figure 1.

## 2.2.2 Osteoarthritis status

Self-reported osteoarthritis status was used to group participants based on OA diagnosis using baseline data. Participants who answered "yes" to having been diagnosed with hand, knee, or hip OA by a physician were characterized as having "Any OA". Participants who responded "no" to hand, knee, and hip OA were characterized as "No OA". Participants who answered "yes" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with hand OA ("wbOA"). Participants who answered "yes" to having been diagnosed with hand OA, and answered "no" to having been diagnosed with knee and hip OA by a physician were characterized as having non-weight-bearing OA ("nwbOA").

## 2.2.3 Cardiovascular disease (CVD) status

The primary outcome variable was self-report of having received a physician's diagnosis of CVD, defined as heart disease (HD), cerebrovascular accident (CVA), transient ischemic stroke (TIA), high blood pressure (HBP), angina, peripheral vascular disease (PVD), or acute myocardial infarction (AMI).<sup>37</sup> For analyses examining CVD risk or development at 3-year follow-up, participants who reported "no" to all CVD conditions at baseline were included, and their 3-year follow-up CVD incidence data were analyzed. CVD development at 3-year follow-up was defined as having answered "no" to all of the CVD conditions at baseline, and "yes" to having been diagnosed with any of the conditions by a physician at 3-year follow-up.

#### 2.2.4 Cardiovascular risk

The Framingham Risk Score (FRS) is a commonly used method to identify CVD risk in the population.<sup>19,20</sup> The FRS calculation can be found in the Appendix (Supplementary Table 1). Age and sex were self-reported. high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and total cholesterol were collected from non-fasting blood samples.<sup>38</sup> Systolic blood pressure was collected, and self-reported medication to treat high blood pressure was included. Self-reported smoking status as a binary variable ("yes" or "no"). Self-reported diabetes was based on previous physician diagnosis.

The InterHeart risk score (IHRS) was developed using data collected from 52 countries as a tool to predict the risk of a CVD event.<sup>24,25</sup> A non-laboratory IHRS was later validated and determined to be of similar predictive accuracy, which excluded blood cholesterols and considered a family history of myocardial infarction.<sup>39</sup> For the purposes of this study, the non-laboratory IHRS was modified to adapt to the available CLSA variables (Psychosocial factors: self-rated mental health and physicians diagnosis of mental illness; Dietary factors, Physical activity) and the calculations can be found in the Appendix (Supplementary Table 2)<sup>24</sup>. For variables that assigned scores based on quantiles (e.g., waist-to-hip ratio), a healthy control cohort<sup>25</sup> (n = 13,561) of no existing OA and CVD was isolated from CLSA to determine new quantile values representative of the CLSA cohort. Age and sex were self-reported. Smoking variables were accounted for using self-reported smoking and second-hand smoking behaviours. Diabetes and high blood pressure were selfreported based on previous physician diagnosis. Psychosocial factors were defined as self-rated mental health and self-reported cases of mood disorders (including clinical depression, bipolar disorder, mania, or dysthymia) previously diagnosed by a physician. Dietary factors were selfreported frequencies of consuming salty foods, fried snacks, fruit, vegetables, and meat. Physical activity was estimated using participant responses to the Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE), where a PASE score of <120 for females and <140 for males was considered sedentary activity.<sup>40</sup>

## 2.2.5 Carotid Intima-Media Thickness (cIMT)

High quality left cIMT values were included in the analyses, as selected by the image quality rating variable (IMT\_L\_QUALITY\_COM), where only values that reported "good" for quality were included in analyses. Right cIMT values did not have quality ratings and thus were excluded from analysis.

## 2.2.6 Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics, expressed as means and standard deviations, were used to describe continuous variables. Counts, frequencies, and proportions were used to describe categorical variables such as disease frequency in a population. In the sub-cohorts, a nested, age- and sex-matched case-control population was used for analysis. Multivariable logistic regressions were used to determine unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios, presented as the odds ratio of the grouping variable (i.e., OA diagnosis) using 95% confidence intervals [95% CI]. Age, sex, waist-to-hip ratio, a Frailty Index,<sup>41</sup> CIMT, IHRS, and FRS were included as covariates in the different logistic regression models to yield adjusted odds ratio calculations. Individuals with missing values for one or more of the variables of interest were excluded from the logistic regression analyses. When appropriate and feasible, samples were 1 OA: 2 No OA age-matched in 10-year intervals. When variance was unequal, non-parametric Welch's t-tests were used to compare medians of unadjusted, raw continuous variables (Supplementary tables). Student's t-tests were used to

compare means of adjusted continuous variables. Alpha level of significance was set to 0.05, where test outcomes less than the alpha level were deemed significant. All statistical analyses were conducted using sampling weights with appropriate methods for the analysis of survey data. All data analyses were conducted using Python (version 3.0 via Jupyter Lab) and Jamovi (version 1.8).

## 2.3 Results

## Proportion of CVD in individuals with any OA at baseline

All individuals in the comprehensive cohort collected by the CLSA (n = 30,097) were included in the frequency analysis of CVD at baseline (Figure 1) (Table 1.1.1a). Of the entire sample, 7,922 had OA and 22,175 did not have OA. A total of 13,231 individuals had a CVD condition at baseline (44% of all individuals), of which 4,437 had OA (54% of all people with OA) and 9,204 did not have OA (40% of all people without OA).

Next, a smaller cohort of individuals at baseline (n = 6,365) who had complete data for the primary variables of interest (high quality cIMT, FRS, IHRS, and individuals with 3-year follow-up data) were examined for diagnosis frequency (Figure 1) (Table 1.1.1b). Of all the individuals in this cohort, 1,694 had OA and 4,671 did not have OA. A total of 2,923 individuals had a CVD condition at baseline (46% of all individuals), of which 957 had OA (56% of all people with OA) and 1,966 did not have OA (42% of all people without OA).

31

#### Proportion of CVD in individuals with OA at 3-year follow-up with no CVD at baseline

A total of 3,442 individuals were included in the frequency analysis of CVD at follow-up (Figure 1). From the sub-cohort of individuals who had complete data for the primary variables of interest, individuals who had any type of CVD event at baseline were excluded. From the sub-cohort, 3-year follow-up CVD was examined (Table 1.1.2). Of the 3442 individuals without CVD at baseline, 737 had OA and 2705 did not have OA. A total of 383 individuals developed a CVD condition at 3-year follow-up (11% of all individuals), of which 112 had OA (15% of all people with OA) and 271 did not have OA (10% of all people without OA).

#### Participant demographics and CVD risk in individuals with and without OA

The raw (Supplementary Table 4) and adjusted (Table 1.2) baseline demographics of the sex- and age-matched cohort were examined in a sub-cohort of 1706 individuals (Figure 1). Where possible, an individual with OA was matched to two individuals without OA. There were 618 individuals with OA and 1088 individuals without OA. Following application of survey weights, significantly greater age (OA:  $60.82 \pm 9.14$ ; No OA:  $58.56 \pm 8.81$ ), greater timed-up-and-go (OA:  $9.39 \pm 3.22$ ; No OA:  $8.87 \pm 1.51$ ), greater BMI (OA:  $27.39 \pm 5.16$ ; No OA:  $26.05 \pm 4.68$ ), greater frailty (OA:  $0.09 \pm 0.05$ ; No OA:  $0.07 \pm 0.04$ ), greater social disadvantage (OA:  $0.55 \pm 0.85$ ; No OA:  $0.42 \pm 0.75$ ), greater non-laboratory IHRS (OA:  $7.43 \pm 5.14$ ; No OA:  $6.61 \pm 5.25$ ), greater FRS (OA:  $10.11 \pm 4.57$ ; No OA:  $9.23 \pm 4.6$ ), and greater cIMT (OA:  $0.72 \pm 0.15$ ; No OA:  $0.70 \pm 0.15$ ) were observed in individuals with OA compared to individuals without OA (Table 1.2).

#### Greater odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up in individuals with OA

The same sub-cohort of 1706 individuals were examined at 3-year follow-up (Figure 1). The odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up were significantly greater in individuals with OA compared to individuals without OA (defined by "Any OA" in tables) alone (p<0.001, Any OA Odds ratio: 1.72 [1.29-2.28]) (Table 1.3.1) and after adjusting for cIMT (p<0.001, Any OA Odds ratio: 1.71 [1.29-2.28]) (Table 1.3.2). After accounting for cIMT in addition to other CVD risk factors (age, frailty, waist-to-hip ratio, sex) (Table 1.3.3), the odds of developing CVD remained significantly greater in individuals with OA (p<0.001, Any OA Odds ratio: 1.70 [1.27-2.28]). The odds of developing CVD after accounting for cIMT in conjunction with FRS (Table 1.3.4) and IHRS (Table 1.3.5) were both significantly greater in individuals with OA (p<0.001, Any OA Odds ratio: 1.63 [1.22-2.17]; p<0.001, Any OA Odds ratio: 1.67 [1.26-2.23], respectively). 116 individuals who did not have OA at baseline (10.7%) developed CVD at 3-year follow-up, and 105 individuals who had OA at baseline (16.9%) developed CVD at 3-year follow-up. 3 individuals who did not have OA at baseline out of 1088 developed OA by the follow-up time-point.

#### Participant demographics and CVD risk in weight-bearing and non-weight bearing OA

The raw (Supplementary Table 5) and adjusted (Table 1.4) baseline demographics of the sex- and age-matched sub-cohort of 318 weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA (Figure 1) were examined. There were 159 individuals with weight-bearing OA and 159 individuals with non-weight-bearing OA. Following application of survey weights, there was greater timed-up-and-go (wbOA:  $10.24 \pm 6.48$ ; nwbOA:  $8.76 \pm 1.25$ ), greater BMI (wbOA:  $27.39 \pm 4.73$ , nwbOA: 25.43 + 1.25)

3.74), and lower frailty (wbOA:  $0.08 \pm 0.05$ ; nwbOA:  $0.09 \pm 0.04$ ) in individuals with weight-bearing OA compared to individuals with non-weight-bearing OA (Table 1.4).

# No difference in CVD risk at 3-year follow-up in individuals with weight-bearing OA compared to non-weight bearing OA

The same sub-cohort of 318 individuals were examined at 3-year follow-up (Figure 1). The odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up were not different in individuals with weight-bearing OA compared to individuals with non-weight-bearing OA alone (defined by "Type of OA" in tables) (p=0.28, Type of OA Odds ratio: 0.71 [0.38-1.32]) (Table 1.5.1) and after adjusting for cIMT (p=0.275, Type of OA Odds ratio: 0.71 [0.38-1.31]) (Table 1.5.2). After accounting for cIMT in addition to other CVD risk factors (age, frailty, waist-to-hip ratio, sex) (Table 1.5.3), the odds of developing CVD were not different between individuals with weight-bearing and non-weightbearing OA (p=0.273, Type of OA Odds ratio: 0.70 [0.37-1.32]). The odds of developing CVD after accounting for cIMT in conjunction with FRS (Table 1.5.4) and IHRS (Table 1.5.5) were not different between weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA (p=0.263, Type of OA Odds ratio: 0.70 [0.38-1.30]; p=0.236, Type of OA Odds ratio: 0.69 [0.37-1.28], respectively). Twenty-one individuals who had weight-bearing OA (13.2%) at baseline developed CVD at 3-year follow-up, and 28 individuals who had non-weight-bearing OA (17.6%) at baseline developed CVD at 3-year follow-up. Thirtytwo individuals in either the weight-bearing or non-weight-bearing OA groups received an additional diagnosis of OA after baseline and thus had both weight-bearing and non-weightbearing OA at follow-up.

## 2.4 Discussion

The measures of CVD risk examined in this study were cIMT, FRS, and IHRS. Through quantifying CVD risk in an OA population and comparing to individuals without OA, the differences in CVD risk with or without the influence of OA pathology can be examined. Baseline and 3-year follow-up data from the CLSA were used to examine measures of CVD risk in individuals with and without OA, with further analyses concerning CVD risk in individuals with weight-bearing and nonweight bearing OA. For Objective 1, we found that OA (hand and/or knee and/or hip) was present in 26% of the baseline CLSA comprehensive cohort. There are no studies examining pooled total OA prevalence in the population, though previous literature reported prevalence of knee OA as 23% in individuals over 40, with prevalence increasing in age, which is comparable to our findings.<sup>4</sup> The frequency of CVD was 54% in individuals with OA and 40% in individuals without OA, which is also consistent with research suggesting that the prevalence for overall CVD was elevated in individuals with OA.<sup>5</sup> For Objective 2, we hypothesized that individuals with OA would have significantly greater markers of CVD risk compared to age- and sex- matched individuals without OA, and we found significantly greater TUG, higher BMI, greater Frailty Index, and greater SDS values in individuals with OA compared to individuals without. Additionally, we found individuals with OA had higher cIMT, FRS, and IHRS compared to individuals without OA. . For Objective 3, we hypothesized that the odds of developing CVD were greater in individuals with OA. At 3-year follow-up, we found that individuals with OA had significantly elevated odds of developing CVD, even after accounting for markers of CVD risk. For Objective 4, we hypothesized that markers of CVD risk would be elevated in individuals with weight-bearing compared to non-weight-bearing OA and found significantly greater TUG and BMI and significantly lower HDL and Frailty Index in individuals with weight-bearing OA; however, we did not find cIMT, IHRS, or FRS were different between groups. For Objective 5, we hypothesized that individuals with weight-bearing OA would experience greater odds of developing CVD compared to individuals with non-weight-bearing OA; but, found no significant influence of the site of OA on odds of CVD, with no differences between weight-bearing and non-weight bearing OA when examining CVD at 3-year follow-up.

The unadjusted odds ratio suggests that the odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up is significantly higher in individuals with OA and aligns with previous findings, where a meta-analysis reported individuals with OA had at a higher relative risk (p<0.001, relative risk: 1.24 [1.12-1.37] of experiencing heart failure and ischemic heart disease.<sup>5</sup> Interestingly, this meta-analysis did not find a significant difference in individuals with or without OA when examining myocardial infarction and stroke risk, which may suggest that the type of vascular disease interacts differently with the OA pathology.<sup>5</sup> Specifically, we did not examine the interaction between the type of CVD with OA, and by grouping all the vascular conditions collected by the CLSA into one umbrella variable, the nuanced interaction between specific vascular-related disorders and OA pathology may have been masked.

#### Influences of cIMT, FRS, and IHRS

cIMT increases as a result of natural aging, higher values of cIMT have been found to be associated with atherosclerotic risk, with this relationship holding true after accounting for the effects of aging.<sup>15,42</sup> Additionally, cIMT is measured through non-invasive techniques, making it an accessible surrogate of vascular health.<sup>19,43,44</sup> Individuals with OA had significantly greater cIMT measures when compared to individuals without OA, though no significant differences between individuals with weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA. The odds ratio of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up remained significant after accounting for cIMT, which suggests other factors may a role in the odds of developing CVD in individuals with and without OA. Literature examining cIMT in individuals with OA is sparse, though there are studies that found that patients with OA have increased cIMT values.<sup>17,45,46</sup> A study comparing cIMT in a smaller sample (12 individuals with OA, 13 individuals without OA) found significantly greater IMT values in individuals with OA, aligning with our findings.<sup>45</sup> It is important to consider the effects of aging on cIMT; however, despite the individuals in the analyzed cohorts in our study being age-matched, differences still persisted, suggesting cIMT as a surrogate measure of CVD risk is influenced by OA pathology. One study comparing the association between cIMT and the presence of OA stratified by sex, and only found associations between IMT and prevalence of hand OA in women.<sup>46</sup> A different study examining a population of healthy age- and sex-matched individuals with and without OA (30 OA females, 11 control females, 10 OA males, 4 control males).<sup>17</sup> They found significant associations between severity of OA and higher IMT values; however, they excluded individuals with hypertension, diabetes, and selected for individuals with only primary OA (i.e., OA with no known cause as opposed to trauma, infection, etcetera).<sup>17</sup> It is possible that when considering our results examining the influence of the site of OA, the cohorts compared did non differ significantly in OA pathology, which may explain the lacking of differences in cIMT seen between weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA.

The Framingham Risk Score (FRS) is a commonly used method to identify CVD risk in the population.<sup>19,20</sup> The FRS was originally developed as a 10-year risk tool for coronary heart disease with a 4-12 year predictive capacity, and after its development, it was then validated as a 5-year

tool. A limitation of the FRS is the generalizability of the score; as it was originally developed and validated in a population of primarily middle-class white men, the application of the FRS to other ethnic populations requires adjustments and additional considerations.<sup>20,47,48</sup> There were significantly greater FRS values found in individuals with OA compared to individuals without OA, though no significant differences when considering the site of OA. The odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up remained the same before and after accounting for the FRS. The increased FRS in individuals with OA aligns to other research examining the FRS in the OA population, which has found associations between OA and higher FRS values.<sup>8</sup> However, similar to cIMT, it is possible that by controlling for the variability of age and sex, the FRS was not significantly different between the types of OA pathology (weight-bearing versus non-weight-bearing OA).

Similar to the FRS, the InterHeart Risk Score (IHRS) was developed using data collected from 52 countries as a tool to calculate CVD risk.<sup>24,25</sup> The IHRS was used for detecting myocardial infarction worldwide in both sexes and all ages,<sup>24</sup> and later validated to predict general CVD events with a similarly high degree of accuracy.<sup>24</sup> A non-laboratory IHRS was later validated and determined to be of similar predictive accuracy, which is advantageous for accessibility and implementation in community-based populations.<sup>39</sup> In addition to the CVD risk factors that are accounted for by the FRS, factors such as physical activity, diet, and stress have also been demonstrated to influence the risk of CVD.<sup>23</sup> These modifiable, lifestyle risk factors are especially of interest to researchers and clinicians alike, as they have the potential to influence the behaviour and treatment of patients and can be addressed often without pharmaceutical or medical intervention.<sup>24</sup> A strength of using the IHRS in the CLSA cohort specifically is the narrower window of prediction time (~1.25-3 years, compared to 5-10 years by the FRS). In our study, we found significantly greater IHRS when comparing individuals with OA to individuals without OA, with no significant differences in weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA. Additionally, the odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up remained significant after accounting for the IHRS. There are no existing research studies examining the IHRS as a means to quantify CVD risk in individuals with OA, though the well-rounded construction and validation of the IHRS on a more diverse cohort suggests that the IHRS may also be a good predictor of CVD risk in populations including the CLSA cohort.<sup>24</sup> However, similar to cIMT and FRS, lacking of differences between weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA may also be attributed to the effects of age- and sex-matching, as accounting for the variation of age and sex factors may result in more similar disease phenotypes.

The combination of cIMT and FRS/IHRS for CVD risk assessment in the OA population has been suggested to have potential to provide a holistic understanding of how CVD risk presents in individuals with OA.<sup>19</sup> However, the odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up were significantly higher in individuals with OA, and not different between weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA both before and after accounting for the combination of cIMT and FRS/IHRS. This suggests that a different aspect of OA pathology may be driving the increase in CVD risk in individuals with OA, such as the potential interactions between the risk factors accounted for in CVD risk scores and non-specific risk factors such as inflammation and frailty. Additionally, increasing age and the female sex (particularly after the menopause transition) are well documented to be associated with increased risk and prevalence for both OA and CVD.<sup>8,9,26</sup> Through using matching criteria prior to analysis, the bias of the independent influences of age and sex are decreased. Lack of significant differences between individuals with and without OA when considering CVD risk scores may in part result from how age and sex interact with other risk factors to elevate CVD risk in individuals with OA. Future studies may include sex-stratified analyses for examining factors such as body adiposity (e.g., through BMI or waist-to-hip ratio), frailty, social disadvantage, and other variables that are influenced by sex differences.

## Influence of other risk factors on CVD risk in OA

We examined inflammation, measured through C-reactive protein, in individuals with and without OA. High-sensitivity C reactive protein (hsCRP) is a marker that interacts with other cytokines to elevate inflammation, and has potential implications in atherosclerosis through altering endothelial function.<sup>49</sup> There were no significant differences found between individuals with and without OA in our study, though there is literature to suggest that hsCRP levels are elevated in individuals with OA,<sup>50,51</sup> and high levels are also independently associated with predicting long-term CVD.<sup>49</sup> Notably, the first study to examine CVD risk in age- and sex-matched individuals with and without OA in the CLSA reported systemic inflammation (measured through hsCRP) and disturbed metabolism acting to increase the occurrence of elevated CVD risk in individuals with OA, and potentially to a greater extent in women.<sup>14</sup> Our study did not stratify these CVD risk factors by sex, which may provide rationale for this evidence gap. However, interpretations of hsCRP must be made with additional considerations, as the high sensitivity nature of hsCRP levels may be influenced by additional factors, such as acute trauma or infection that may result in a short-term inflammatory response and subsequent elevations of hsCRP levels in the blood.<sup>52</sup> Thus, it is important to note that hsCRP does not provide a complete inflammatory profile, and additional markers such as interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  are also independently implicated in OA<sup>53</sup> and CVD<sup>54</sup> pathologies. Adipokines, produced by adipose

tissue, results in inflammation that negatively impacts joint health.<sup>55</sup> Adipokines are often associated with obesity, which also negatively impact cardiovascular health,<sup>56</sup> which provides rationale to suspect a role of adipokines in mediating the relationship between OA and CVD. Collectively these additional inflammatory markers can be used to provide a more holistic understanding of the role of inflammation with CVD risk in individuals with OA.

Physical inactivity and poor performance in other functional measures have been associated with OA and risk for CVD. Increased pain during movement as a result of OA is a potential facilitating mechanism for CVD.<sup>26</sup> We examined timed-up-and-go (TUG) and the Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE) as functional measures to compare the differences between groups. We found that PASE was not significantly different between individuals with and without OA and was not significantly different between weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA, though TUG was significantly greater in individuals with OA and individuals with weight-bearing OA. However, these measures are not considered robust measures of activity or mobility and are therefore limited in the application. Though they provide some insight into the functional status of the individual, neither test can be used to represent complete functional ability. The reliability of the TUG test in individuals with OA, particularly knee OA, is not well established.<sup>57</sup> Additionally, literature suggests that the PASE score cannot be used to predict healthy physical metrics.<sup>40</sup> The PASE score is a questionnaire that can be used as a tool to survey physical activity in adults 65 years and older.<sup>40</sup> Individuals collected in the CLSA are aged 45-85 years, and thus the application of the PASE questionnaire within the analyses must be interpreted with caution, as a portion of the sub-cohort is below 65 years old.

In individuals with OA (specifically knee OA), a study found that there was overlap of waistto-hip ratio and BMI, particularly in women, providing rationale to examine these surrogates of body composition in our study.<sup>58</sup> Increased sedentary behaviour, seen with individuals with OA,<sup>59</sup> may further lead to increased body adiposity, which is also associated with increased risk of CVD.<sup>26</sup> Increased adiposity has been associated with increased risk for CVD through mechanisms such as through inflammatory adipokines, which play a role in increasing hypertension, atherosclerosis, poor cholesterol regulation, and subsequent CVD outcomes.<sup>56</sup> Thus, obesity is a notable risk factor for adverse CVD events.<sup>56</sup> Interestingly, we found no significant differences when comparing waistto-hip ratio in individuals with OA compared to individuals without OA, and we found that individuals with weight-bearing OA had no differences in waist-to-hip ratio compared to individuals with non-weight-bearing OA. However, BMI was significantly greater in individuals with OA, and significantly greater in individuals with weight-bearing OA. BMI and waist-to-hip ratio are both used as approximations body fat.<sup>60,61</sup> A study comparing measures of adiposity using the CLSA found BMI to be highly correlated with %body fat, and found waist-to-hip ratio to have a weaker relationship and influenced by sex differences when approximating %body fat.<sup>60</sup> Additionally, waist-to-hip ratio did not significantly affect odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow in individuals with and without OA and individuals with weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA. A different study examining BMI and waist-to-hip-ratio in evaluating obesity indices found that these measures did not add to CVD prediction in healthy middle-aged and older adults.<sup>62</sup> BMI and waistto-hip ratio are estimations of body composition, and a possible explanation for the lacking of differences in waist-to-hip ratio particularly in individuals with OA may be that these estimations alone are not sensitive to only detecting body adiposity (apart from muscle mass) or individual

anatomical differences. Additionally, it is possible that body composition measures may only be a risk factor when other mechanisms are interacting, such as increased inflammation and low physical activity. The differences observed in BMI between age- and sex-matching individuals with OA, particularly in weight-bearing OA, may therefore be influenced by decreased physical activity, as literature suggests individuals with OA of the knee or hip often have pain associated with movement, and therefore increased sedentary behaviour.<sup>26,63</sup> Further, as our study did not conduct sex-stratified analyses of CVD risk, the influence of body adiposity, inflammation, and other risk factors reported to contribute to elevated CVD risk in previous studies<sup>14</sup> did not consider the influence of sex.

Blood biomarkers have been cited in studies examining CVD risk. In particularly, glucose control, which can be measured through hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels, is strongly associated with an increased risk of CVD.<sup>64</sup> HbA1c is a marker of the average blood glucose concentration, with elevations in HbA1c levels often associated with diabetes, which is can result in obesity and hypertension, risk factors for CVD.<sup>65</sup> We found no significant differences in HbA1c levels when comparing individuals with and without OA, and no significant differences when comparing the site of OA. There is no literature suggesting that individuals with OA have elevated HbA1c levels, and as significant elevations were not found in our cohorts, this suggests that though higher HbA1c are associated with CVD, it is possible they are not caused by OA pathology as a linking mechanism between OA and CVD risk. Blood cholesterol is another factor associated with CVD risk, where LDL plays an atherogenic role in increasing CVD risk, and anti-atherogenic effects of HDL may mediate decreases in CVD risk.<sup>66</sup> We found significantly greater HDL values in individuals without OA, which has been suggested to have protective effects on CVD.<sup>67</sup> However, it is important to note that

concentration alone does not translate into functionality, and elevated HDL levels may not always result in clinically beneficial results.<sup>66</sup> Additionally, there were no significant differences in LDL between individuals with and without OA, and no significant differences in HDL or LDL levels between weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA. Again, this suggests that though dyslipidemia is associated with CVD, it is possible that OA pathology does not directly result in dyslipidemia, and CVD risk is merely elevated in populations with dyslipidemia regardless of OA status.

We found frailty, measured through a modified Frailty Index, a holistic metric created using CLSA data to capture frailty, to be significantly higher between age- and sex-matched individuals with OA and individuals with non-weight-bearing OA. Frailty has a bi-directional relationship with CVD, which when contextualized within our results helps to explain the increased risk for CVD in individuals with OA. Higher frailty is observed in individuals with OA, which may be a result of greater physical and cognitive frailty measured through the Frailty Index.<sup>41</sup> Physical frailty often leads to lower physical activity, which may result in muscle weakness, lower cardiovascular health, increased adiposity, and a subsequent increased risk of CVD.<sup>26,68</sup> The elevated frailty in non-weight-bearing OA may suggest a role of inflammation as opposed to decreased functional capacity driving frailty, which further implicates frailty not only influenced by and resulting in physical impairments.

The influence of SDS on CVD at 3-year follow-up was not studied, however we did examine group differences of SDS. We found the SDS to be significantly higher in individuals with OA compared to individuals without OA in an age- and sex matched cohort. This aligns with the literature surrounding social disadvantage and OA,<sup>34</sup> though it is important to note that the SDS

44

does not encompass all aspects of social disadvantage. However, there were no significant differences in the SDS value between individuals with weight-bearing OA compared to non-weight-bearing OA. The study that developed the social disadvantage index found that social disadvantage specifically in individuals CVD increased with age and varied by sex and ethnicity.<sup>33</sup> When considering individuals with and without OA in our cohort, differences exist after age- and sexmatching the groups, though ethnicity was not considered, which prompts future questions targeting the role of ethnicity in OA and CVD risk. Further, as there were no differences between the site of OA and SDS despite literature suggesting more influence of SDS on weight-bearing OA,<sup>34</sup> an aspect that can be considered in the future is also the role of ethnicity and the site of OA on CVD risk.

#### Influence of OA site on CVD outcomes

We found no significant influence of site (weight-bearing vs non-weight-bearing) of OA on CVD at 3-year follow-up. This is in contrast to many existing studies that suggest a stronger relationship of weight-bearing OA with CVD compared to non-weight-bearing OA.<sup>11,12,29</sup> Additionally, literature finds that as weight-bearing OA will influence aspects such as physical activity, the association with CVD outcomes is more apparent.<sup>26,68</sup> A study found that individuals with weight-bearing OA (specifically knee OA) spent over two-thirds of their daily time sedentary, which was also related to worse physical function.<sup>63</sup> Thus, it may not be the specific site of OA that results in different CVD risk, but rather the additional consequences of having weight-bearing or non-weight bearing OA. Factors such as age, sex, physical activity, and body composition may interact and result in elevated CVD risk in individuals with weight-bearing OA in current literature.

Limitations & Strengths

A limitation of this study is the self-reported nature of survey data. All OA and CVD diagnoses were self-reported of physician diagnoses, which may influence the validity of the results, which must be considered when interpreting the results from survey data. Additionally, several variables underwent minor adjustments in score calculations, such as for the IHRS (Supplementary Table 1), the Frailty Index (Supplementary Table 3), and the SDS. Due to the design of CLSA, there are limitations in the inclusion criteria of the cohort collected (e.g., English-speaking, individuals residing in the 10 provinces) that may slightly alter the demographic characteristics. Further considerations must be taken and possibly examined as potential avenues for future directions, including the role of OA severity on increased CVD risk,<sup>69</sup> and a potential mediating role of joint replacement.<sup>11</sup> Both OA severity and the occurrence of joint replacement surgeries may affect functional limitations of OA that cause greater CVD risk.<sup>12</sup> OA has been cited to affect specific types of CVD, such as heart failure, with weaker associations with ischaemic heart disease and transient ischemic attacks.<sup>5</sup> Future directions could thus include examining the specific subcohorts of CVD type with OA. The time of the most recent CVD event was also not collected and considered, which could explain fewer differences found between the groups, as individuals may begin to exhibit increased risk for CVD (regardless of OA status) prior to the CVD event. With these variables, Cox proportional hazards regressions can be analyzed to provide information on survival or differences in time-to-event for CVD in OA and non-OA groups. Though our study age- and sexmatched individuals with and without OA, we did not sex-match within each group (i.e., male participants with OA were matched to male participants without OA, but not to female participants with OA). Thus, a sex-stratified analysis will provide additional information on the specific influence

of sex on CVD outcomes. A more complete inflammatory profile that includes both chronic and transient inflammatory markers could provide a better idea of the role of inflammation in the two pathologies. Medications used, such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), were not considered in this study, though they have been implicated as a mechanism between individuals with OA and CVD.<sup>26</sup> Finally, nutrition is a factor that is associated with increased CVD, and though diet was considered in the IHRS, the role of healthy and unhealthy dietary patterns could be further examined in future studies.<sup>70</sup>

A strength of this study results from the generalizability of findings of the CLSA cohort to the Canadian aging population. In addition to using a large longitudinal dataset, survey weights were applied to minimize sampling bias in the analysis and allow for better generalizability of the findings. This study examined a novel combination of variables, investigating CVD risk by means of cIMT, FRS, and IHRS in individuals with OA, who have been reported by literature as high-risk for CVD. Specifically, the FRS and IHRS are both holistic measures of CVD risk, which are advantageous examine in a cohort where cross-sectional variables are used to calculate the scores, and the influence on longitudinal time-points can be studied. The non-laboratory IHRS provides additional modifiable risk factors of CVD risk while increasing the application potential of the score in settings where it is not feasible to have participants enter a lab for blood work. Finally, we performed random frequency-matching of age and sex within our analysis cohorts to narrow the scope of our analysis and remove possible biasing effects of age and sex between the groups.<sup>71</sup> We also included a diverse array of risk factors, and considering variables including inflammation, social disadvantage, and frailty in the context of CVD risk in relation to OA. Conclusion

Using a nested, age- and sex-matched, case-control sub-cohort from the CLSA, this study found greater odds of CVD in individuals with OA compared to individuals without OA, and no significant effect of cIMT, FRS, or IHRS on odds of CVD, though significantly elevated values of cIMT, FRS, and IHRS in individuals with OA at baseline compared to individuals without OA. Additionally, we found no significant differences in odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weightbearing and non-weight-bearing OA, and no significant effect of cIMT, FRS, or IHRS on odds of CVD. There were significant differences when examining factors such as frailty and social disadvantage at baseline between individuals with and without OA. This study provides rationale for future studies to further examine type of OA with type of CVD, with considerations given to a more comprehensive panel of risk factors such as frailty and social disadvantage. The global disease burden of OA and CVD are significant, making it of great interest for clinicians and patients alike to take early measures towards preserving health and furthering the understanding of disease onset and progression. Examining markers of CVD risk in an at-risk population with osteoarthritis will help further research targeting strategies to decrease the occurrence and burden of disease and comorbidity. Thus, researching the best approaches for early detection of CVD risk will play an important role in prevention and quality of life, particularly in the aging population.

# 2.5 References

- 1. Kwoh CK. Epidemiology of Osteoarthritis. In: Newman AB, Cauley JA, eds. *The Epidemiology of Aging*. Springer Netherlands; 2012:523-536. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-5061-6\_29
- 2. Zhang Y, Jordan JM. Epidemiology of Osteoarthritis. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*. 2010;26(3):355-369. doi:10.1016/j.cger.2010.03.001
- Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Smith E, et al. Global, regional and national burden of osteoarthritis 1990-2017: A systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. Published online 2020. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-216515
- 4. Cui A, Li H, Wang D, Zhong J, Chen Y, Lu H. Global, regional prevalence, incidence and risk factors of knee osteoarthritis in population-based studies. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2020;29. doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100587
- Hall AJ, Stubbs B, Mamas MA, Myint PK, Smith TO. Association between osteoarthritis and cardiovascular disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiolog*. 2016;23(9):938-946. doi:10.1177/2047487315610663
- 6. Wang H, Bai J, He B, Hu X, Liu D. Osteoarthritis and the risk of cardiovascular disease: a metaanalysis of observational studies. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6(1):39672. doi:10.1038/srep39672
- Hawker GA, Croxford R, Bierman AS, et al. All-Cause Mortality and Serious Cardiovascular Events in People with Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis: A Population Based Cohort Study. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;9(3):e91286-e91286. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0091286
- Kim HS, Shin JS, Lee J, et al. Association between Knee Osteoarthritis, Cardiovascular Risk Factors, and the Framingham Risk Score in South Koreans: A Cross-Sectional Study. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(10):e0165325. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0165325
- Rahman MM, Kopec JA, Anis AH, Cibere J, Goldsmith CH. Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Patients With Osteoarthritis: A Prospective Longitudinal Study. *Arthritis Care & Research*. 2013;65(12):1951-1958. doi:10.1002/acr.22092
- 10. Varga Z, Sabzwari S rafay ali, Vargova V. Cardiovascular Risk of Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs: An Under-Recognized Public Health Issue. *Cureus*. Published online April 8, 2017. doi:10.7759/cureus.1144
- 11. Zeng C, Bennell K, Yang Z, et al. Risk of venous thromboembolism in knee, hip and hand osteoarthritis: a general population-based cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2020;79(12):1616-1624. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217782
- 12. Kendzerska T, Jüni P, King LK, Croxford R, Stanaitis I, Hawker GA. The longitudinal relationship between hand, hip and knee osteoarthritis and cardiovascular events: a population-based cohort study. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. 2017;25(11):1771-1780. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2017.07.024

- 13. Jonsson H, Helgadottir GP, Aspelund T, et al. Hand Osteoarthritis Severity is Associated with Total Knee Joint Replacements Independently of BMI. The Ages-Reykjavik Study. *Open Rheumatol J*. 2011;5:7-12. doi:10.2174/1874312901105010007
- 14. Perruccio AV, Zahid S, Yip C, et al. Cardiovascular risk profile and osteoarthritis considering sex and multisite joint involvement: a CLSA population-based study. *Arthritis Care & Research*. n/a(n/a). doi:10.1002/acr.24826
- 15. Willeit P, Tschiderer L, Allara E, et al. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness Progression as Surrogate Marker for Cardiovascular Risk: Meta-Analysis of 119 Clinical Trials Involving 100 667 Patients. *Circulation*. 2020;142(7):621-642. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046361
- 16. Lorenz MW, Gao L, Ziegelbauer K, et al. Predictive value for cardiovascular events of common carotid intima media thickness and its rate of change in individuals at high cardiovascular risk Results from the PROG-IMT collaboration. Pirro M, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2018;13(4):e0191172. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0191172
- 17. Fouda N, Abd-Elaziz H, Fouda EM. Assessment of subclinical carotid atherosclerosis in patients with primary osteoarthritis: Correlation with disease severity and insulin resistance. *The Egyptian Rheumatologist*. 2014;36(2):85-91. doi:10.1016/j.ejr.2013.12.001
- 18. Anderson KM, Odell PM, Wilson PWF, Kannel WB. Cardiovascular disease risk profiles. *American Heart Journal*. 1991;121(1):293-298. doi:10.1016/0002-8703(91)90861-B
- 19. Zyriax BC, Dransfeld K, Windler E. Carotid intima–media thickness and cardiovascular risk factors in healthy volunteers. *Ultrasound J.* 2021;13(1):17. doi:10.1186/s13089-021-00218-6
- 20. Ofori SN, Odia OJ. Risk assessment in the prevention of cardiovascular disease in low-resource settings. *Indian Heart Journal*. 2016;68(3):391-398. doi:10.1016/j.ihj.2015.07.004
- 21. Walden R, Tomlinson B. Cardiovascular Disease. In: Benzie IFF, Wachtel-Galor S, eds. *Herbal Medicine: Biomolecular and Clinical Aspects*. 2nd ed. CRC Press/Taylor & Francis; 2011. Accessed February 8, 2022. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK92767/
- 22. Van Gaal LF, Mertens IL, De Block CE. Mechanisms linking obesity with cardiovascular disease. *Nature*. 2006;444(7121):875-880. doi:10.1038/nature05487
- 23. Teo KK, Rafiq T. Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Prevention: A Perspective From Developing Countries. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*. 2021;37(5):733-743. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2021.02.009
- 24. McGorrian C, Yusuf S, Islam S, et al. Estimating modifiable coronary heart disease risk in multiple regions of the world: the INTERHEART Modifiable Risk Score. *European Heart Journal*. 2011;32(5):581-589. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehq448
- 25. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *The Lancet*. 2004;364(9438):937-952. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17018-9

- 26. Fernandes GS, Valdes AM. Cardiovascular disease and osteoarthritis: common pathways and patient outcomes. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2015;45(4):405-414. doi:10.1111/eci.12413
- 27. Sokolove J, Lepus CM. Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis: latest findings and interpretations. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis*. 2013;5(2):77-94. doi:10.1177/1759720X12467868
- 28. van Leuven SI, Franssen R, Kastelein JJ, Levi M, Stroes ESG, Tak PP. Systemic inflammation as a risk factor for atherothrombosis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2008;47(1):3-7. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kem202
- 29. Macêdo MB, Santos VMOS, Pereira RMR, Fuller R. Association between osteoarthritis and atherosclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Experimental Gerontology*. 2022;161:111734. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2022.111734
- 30. Castell MV, van der Pas S, Otero A, et al. Osteoarthritis and frailty in elderly individuals across six European countries: results from the European Project on OSteoArthritis (EPOSA). *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2015;16:359. doi:10.1186/s12891-015-0807-8
- 31. Stewart R. Cardiovascular Disease and Frailty: What Are the Mechanistic Links? *Clinical Chemistry*. 2019;65(1):80-86. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2018.287318
- 32. Kabel A, Dannecker EA, Shaffer VA, Mocca KC, Murray AM. Osteoarthritis and Social Embarrassment: Risk, Pain, and Avoidance. *SAGE Open*. 2014;4(2):2158244014537649. doi:10.1177/2158244014537649
- Anand SS, Razak F, Davis AD, et al. Social disadvantage and cardiovascular disease: development of an index and analysis of age, sex, and ethnicity effects. *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2006;35(5):1239-1245. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl163
- 34. Luong MLN, Cleveland RJ, Nyrop KA, Callahan LF. Social determinants and osteoarthritis outcomes. *Aging health*. 2012;8(4):413-437. doi:10.2217/ahe.12.43
- 35. Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, et al. The Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). *Can J Aging*. 2009;28(3):221-229. doi:10.1017/S0714980809990055
- 36. Kirkland SA, Griffith LE, Menec V, et al. Mining a Unique Canadian Resource: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *Can J Aging*. 2015;34(3):366-377. doi:10.1017/S071498081500029X
- Menniti G, Paquet C, Han HY, Dube L, Nielsen DE. Multiscale Risk Factors of Cardiovascular Disease: CLSA Analysis of Genetic and Psychosocial Factors. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*. 2021;8:167. doi:10.3389/fcvm.2021.599671
- 38. Raina P, Wolfson C, Kirkland S, et al. Cohort Profile: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2019;48(6):1752-1753j. doi:10.1093/ije/dyz173

- 39. Joseph P, Yusuf S, Lee SF, et al. Prognostic validation of a non-laboratory and a laboratory based cardiovascular disease risk score in multiple regions of the world. *Heart*. 2018;104(7):581-587. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2017-311609
- Logan SL, Gottlieb BH, Maitland SB, Meegan D, Spriet LL. The Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE) Questionnaire; Does It Predict Physical Health? *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2013;10(9):3967-3986. doi:10.3390/ijerph10093967
- 41. Kanters DM, Griffith LE, Hogan DB, Richardson J, Patterson C, Raina P. Assessing the measurement properties of a Frailty Index across the age spectrum in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2017;71(8):794-799. doi:10.1136/jech-2016-208853
- 42. van den Munckhof ICL, Jones H, Hopman MTE, et al. Relation between age and carotid artery intima-medial thickness: a systematic review. *Clin Cardiol*. 2018;41(5):698-704. doi:10.1002/clc.22934
- 43. Sharma K, Blaha MJ, Blumenthal RS, Musunuru K. Clinical and Research Applications of Carotid Intima-Media Thickness. *The American Journal of Cardiology*. 2009;103(9):1316-1320. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.01.020
- 44. Lorenz MW, Markus HS, Bots ML, Rosvall M, Sitzer M. Prediction of Clinical Cardiovascular Events With Carotid Intima-Media Thickness: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Circulation*. 2007;115(4):459-467. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.628875
- 45. Al-Khazraji BK, Badrov MB, Kadem M, Lingum NR, Birmingham TB, Shoemaker JK. Exploring Cerebrovascular Function in Osteoarthritis: "Heads-up." *Physiological Reports*. Published online 2019. doi:10.14814/phy2.14212
- 46. Hoeven TA, Kavousi M, Clockaerts S, et al. Association of atherosclerosis with presence and progression of osteoarthritis: the Rotterdam Study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2013;72(5):646-651. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-201178
- 47. Dent THS. Predicting the risk of coronary heart disease. *Atherosclerosis*. 2010;213(2):345-351. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2010.06.019
- 48. Gijsberts CM, Groenewegen KA, Hoefer IE, et al. Race/Ethnic Differences in the Associations of the Framingham Risk Factors with Carotid IMT and Cardiovascular Events. Apetrei C, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(7):e0132321. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132321
- 49. Cozlea DL, Farcas DM, Nagy A, et al. The Impact of C Reactive Protein on Global Cardiovascular Risk on Patients with Coronary Artery Disease. *Curr Health Sci J*. 2013;39(4):225-231.
- 50. Kozijn AE, Tartjiono MT, Ravipati S, et al. Human C-reactive protein aggravates osteoarthritis development in mice on a high-fat diet. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. 2019;27(1):118-128. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2018.09.007
- 51. Jin X, Beguerie JR, Zhang W, et al. Circulating C reactive protein in osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Rheum Dis*. 2015;74(4):703-710. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204494

- 52. Ridker PM. High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein. *Circulation*. 2001;103(13):1813-1818. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.103.13.1813
- 53. Larsson S, Englund M, Struglics A, Lohmander LS. Interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha in synovial fluid are associated with progression of radiographic knee osteoarthritis in subjects with previous meniscectomy. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2015;23(11):1906-1914. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.035
- 54. Sarah M. Schumacher SVNP. Tumor Necrosis Factor-α in Heart Failure: an Updated Review | EndNote Click. 2018;20(11):117. doi:doi:10.1007/s11886-018-1067-7.
- 55. Kadir HAHA, Alsousou J, Roebuck MM, Frostick SP. Adipokines production in metabolic-associated osteoarthritis of the knee joint. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. 2018;26:S189. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2018.02.406
- 56. Smekal A, Vaclavik J. Adipokines and cardiovascular disease: A comprehensive review. *Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub.* 2017;161(1):31-40. doi:10.5507/bp.2017.002
- Alghadir A, Anwer S, Brismée JM. The reliability and minimal detectable change of Timed Up and Go test in individuals with grade 1 – 3 knee osteoarthritis. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2015;16:174. doi:10.1186/s12891-015-0637-8
- 58. Gandhi R, Dhotar H, Tsvetkov D, Mahomed NN. The relation between body mass index and waisthip ratio in knee osteoarthritis. *Can J Surg*. 2010;53(3):151-154.
- 59. Lee J, Song J, Hootman JM, et al. Obesity and other modifiable factors for physical inactivity measured by accelerometer in adults with knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2013;65(1):53-61. doi:10.1002/acr.21754
- 60. Andreacchi AT, Griffith LE, Guindon GE, et al. Body mass index, waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, and body fat in relation to health care use in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *Int J Obes*. 2021;45(3):666-676. doi:10.1038/s41366-020-00731-z
- 61. Nazare JA, Smith J, Borel AL, et al. Usefulness of measuring both body mass index and waist circumference for the estimation of visceral adiposity and related cardiometabolic risk profile (from the INSPIRE ME IAA study). *Am J Cardiol*. 2015;115(3):307-315. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.10.039
- 62. Myint PK, Kwok CS, Luben RN, Wareham NJ, Khaw KT. Body fat percentage, body mass index and waist-to-hip ratio as predictors of mortality and cardiovascular disease. *Heart*. 2014;100(20):1613-1619. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2014-305816
- 63. Lee J, Chang RW, Ehrlich-Jones L, et al. Sedentary behavior and physical function: Objective Evidence from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2015;67(3):366-373. doi:10.1002/acr.22432
- 64. Goto A, Noda M, Matsushita Y, et al. Hemoglobin a1c levels and the risk of cardiovascular disease in people without known diabetes: a population-based cohort study in Japan. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*). 2015;94(17):e785. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000000785

- 65. Leon BM, Maddox TM. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: Epidemiology, biological mechanisms, treatment recommendations and future research. *World J Diabetes*. 2015;6(13):1246-1258. doi:10.4239/wjd.v6.i13.1246
- 66. Pöss J, Custodis F, Werner C, Weingärtner O, Böhm M, Laufs U. Cardiovascular disease and dyslipidemia: beyond LDL. *Curr Pharm Des*. 2011;17(9):861-870. doi:10.2174/138161211795428858
- 67. Ali KM, Wonnerth A, Huber K, Wojta J. Cardiovascular disease risk reduction by raising HDL cholesterol current therapies and future opportunities. *Br J Pharmacol*. 2012;167(6):1177-1194. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02081.x
- 68. Arsenault BJ, Rana JS, Lemieux I, et al. Physical inactivity, abdominal obesity and risk of coronary heart disease in apparently healthy men and women. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2010;34(2):340-347. doi:10.1038/ijo.2009.229
- 69. Goel S, Kamath SU, Annappa R, et al. Cross-sectional assessment of cardiovascular risk factors in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Published online June 28, 2021. doi:10.12688/f1000research.27744.1
- 70. Casas R, Castro-Barquero S, Estruch R, Sacanella E. Nutrition and Cardiovascular Health. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2018;19(12):3988. doi:10.3390/ijms19123988
- 71. Pearce N. Analysis of matched case-control studies. *BMJ*. 2016;352:i969. doi:10.1136/bmj.i969
- 72. Anand SS, Tu JV, Desai D, et al. Cardiovascular risk scoring and magnetic resonance imaging detected subclinical cerebrovascular disease. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2020;21(6):692-700. doi:10.1093/ehjci/jez226

# 2.6 Figures and Tables



**Figure 1.** Flowchart of individuals included in this study (Chapter 2) from baseline and 3-year follow-up in the CLSA Comprehensive cohort. SDS: social disadvantage score; IHRS: INTERHEART risk score; HD: heart disease; PVD: peripheral vascular disease; HBP: high blood pressure; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ANGI: angina; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; TIA: transient ischemic accident; OA: osteoarthritis; wbOA: weight-bearing OA; nwbOA: non-weight-bearing OA.

	<b>OA diagnosis</b> n (GP)	<b>No OA diagnosis</b> n (GP)	<b>RP</b> OA/ No OA	<b>Total prevalence</b> n (OA + No OA prevalence)	
Total n =	7922	22175		30097	
Hand OA	3857 (0.49)	0 (0)		3857 (0.1262)	
Knee OA	4499 (0.57)	0 (0)		4499 (0.1495)	
Hip OA	2499 (0.32)	0 (0)		2499 (0.083)	
Any CVD diagnosis	4437 (0.54)	9204 (0.40)	1.35	13231 (0.44)	
HD	1176 (0.15)	2327 (0.10)	1.41	3503 (0.12)	
PVD	639 (0.08)	1007 (0.05)	1.78	1646 (0.05)	
HBP	3655 (0.46)	7446 (0.34)	1.37	11101 (0.37)	
AMI	434 (0.05)	1027 (0.05)	1.18	1460 (0.05)	
ANGI	492 (0.06)	832 (0.04)	1.18	1324 (0.4)	
CVA	180 (0.02)	342 (0.02)	1.47	522 (0.02)	
TIA	358 (0.05)	607 (0.03)	1.65	965 (0.03)	

**Table 1.1.1a.** CVD frequency in individuals with OA (hand OR hip OR knee OA) compared to individuals with no OA diagnoses at baseline using CLSA data.

GP: group proportion; RP: relative proportion; OA: osteoarthritis; CVD: cardiovascular disease; HD: heart disease; PVD: peripheral vascular disease; HBP: high blood pressure; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ANGI: angina; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; TIA: transient ischemic accident

Table 1.1.1b. CVD frequency in individuals with OA (hand OR hip OR knee OA) compared to individuals with no OA
diagnoses at baseline who have complete data for cIMT, FRS, and IHRS using CLSA data.

	<b>OA diagnosis</b> n (group prevalence)	<b>No OA</b> diagnosis n (group prevalence)	<b>Relative</b> proportions OA/No OA	<b>Total</b> <b>prevalence</b> n (OA + No OA prevalence)
Total n =	1694	4671		6365
Hand OA	827 (0.49)	0 (0)		827 (0.13)
Knee OA	983 (0.58)	0 (0)		983 (0.15)
Hip OA	534 (0.32)	0 (0)		534 (0.08)
Any CVD diagnosis	957 (0.56)	1966 (0.42)	1.33	2923 (0.46)
HD	247 (0.15)	487 (0.10)	1.50	734 (0.12)
PVD	120 (0.07)	193 (0.04)	1.75	313 (0.05)
HBP	813 (0.48)	1624 (0.35)	1.37	2437 (0.38)
AMI	86 (0.05)	211 (0.05)	1.00	297 (0.05)
ANGI	95 (0.06)	164 (0.04)	1.50	259 (0.04)
CVA	40 (0.02)	59 (0.01)	2.00	99 (0.02)
TIA	74 (0.04)	106 (0.02)	2.00	180 (0.03)

GP: group proportion; RP: relative proportion; OA: osteoarthritis; CVD: cardiovascular disease; HD: heart disease; PVD: peripheral vascular disease; HBP: high blood pressure; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ANGI: angina; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; TIA: transient ischemic accident

	<b>OA diagnosis</b> n (GI)	<b>No OA</b> diagnosis n (GI)	<b>RP</b> OA/No OA	<b>Total</b> incidence n (OA + No OA prevalence)
Total n =	737	2705		3442
Hand OA	362 (0.49)	0 (0)		362 (0.11)
Knee OA	400 (0.54)	0 (0)		400 (0.12)
Hip OA	207 (0.28)	0 (0)		207 (0.06)
Any CVD diagnosis	112 (0.15)	271 (0.10)	1.50	383 (0.11)
HD	31 (0.04)	68 (0.03)	1.41	482 (0.14)
PVD	15 (0.02)	34 (0.01)	1.33	49 (0.01)
HBP	62 (0.08)	167 (0.06)	1.33	229 (0.07)
AMI	8 (0.011)	18 (0.007)	1.57	26 (0.01)
ANGI	7 (0.01)	9 (0.003)	3.33	16 (0.00)
CVA	2 (0.003)	8 (0.003)	1.00	10 (0.00)
TIA	6 (0.008)	17 (0.006)	1.33	23 (0.01)

**Table 1.1.2**. CVD frequency at 3-year follow-up in individuals with OA (hand OR hip OR knee OA) compared to individuals with no OA diagnoses at baseline who have complete data for cIMT, FRS, and IHRS using CLSA data.

GI: group proportion at 3-year follow-up; OA: osteoarthritis; CVD: cardiovascular disease; HD: heart disease; PVD: peripheral vascular disease; HBP: high blood pressure; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ANGI: angina; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; TIA: transient ischemic accident

	OA Diagnosis	# Missing (% total)	No OA Diagnosis	# Missing (% total)	p-value
Total n	618		1088		
Age (years)	60.82 [9.14]	0	58.56 [8.81]	0	<.001
PASE	151.75 [74.7]	5 (< 1%)	156.94 [73.22]	10 (1%)	0.163
TUG (s)	9.39 [3.66]	7 (1%)	8.87 [1.51]	20 (2%)	<.001
BMI (kg/m²)	27.39 [5.16]	0	26.05 [4.68]	2	<.001
WH ratio	0.87 [0.1]	0	0.87 [0.1]	0	1
HbA1c (%)	5.53 [0.7]	2 (< 1%)	5.48 [0.57]	11 (1%)	0.110
hsCRP (mg/L)	2.06 [2.81]	1 (< 1%)	1.92 [3.54]	1 (< 1%)	0.399
HDL (mmol/L)	1.61 [0.5]	0	1.63 [0.5]	0	0.427
LDL (mmol/L)	2.98 [0.92]	0	2.94 [0.87]	0	0.372
Frailty Index	0.09 [0.05]	0	0.07 [0.04]	0	<.001
SDS	0.55 [0.85]	32 (5%)	0.42 [0.75]	59 (5%)	0.001
Non-lab IHRS <sup>39</sup>	7.43 [5.14]	0	6.61 [5.25]	0	0.002
FRS	10.11 [4.57]	0	9.23 [4.6]	0	<.001
cIMT	0.72 [0.15]	0	0.70 [0.15]	0	0.01

**Table 1.2.** Participant demographics using baseline CLSA data.

P values are calculated through Student's t-test between OA and No OA individuals. Data is matched 1 OA: 2 No OA. n = 690 male participants, n = 1016 female participants. OA: osteoarthritis; PASE: Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; TUG: timed-upand-go; BMI: Body Mass Index; WH: waist-to-hip ratio; HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c; HSCRP: high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; HDL: High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein; \*SDS – Social Disadvantage Score, modified from Anand et al (2020)<sup>72</sup>, calculated by income less than 20,000 CAD assigned a score of two, income between 20,000 CAD and 50,000 CAD assigned a score of one, and living without a partner assigned a score of one. The maximum SDS was three, and the lowest possible SDS was zero; IHRS – InterHeart risk score (non-lab); FRS: Framingham risk score; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness (left side).
Table 1.3.1 Unadjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA

						95% Confidence Interva			
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Upper			
Intercept	-2.126	0.0982	-21.64	<.001	0.119	0.0984	0.145		
Any OA:									
OA – No OA	0.539	0.1453	3.71	<.001	1.715	1.2899	2.280		

Model Coefficients - fCVD

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = CVD" vs. "fCVD = No CVD"

Total n = 1706 (n = 618 OA, age- and sex-matched n = 1,088 No OA). OA: osteoarthritis; fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up.

Model Coefficients	Model Coefficients - fCVD											
						95% Confidence Interval						
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper					
Intercept	-2.034	0.173	-11.773	<.001	0.131	0.0932	0.184					
ANY OA: OA – No OA	0.538	0.145	3.704	<.001	1.713	1.2885	2.278					
cIMT	-0.138	0.216	-0.639	0.523	0.871	0.5707	1.330					

Table 1.3.2 Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA - cIMT

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 1706 (n = 618 OA, age- and sex-matched n = 1,088 No OA). OA: osteoarthritis; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up.

						95% Confidence Interval				
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper			
Intercept	-1.9142	0.2271	-8.430	<.001	0.147	0.0945	0.230			
Any OA:										
OA – No OA	0.5312	0.1486	3.575	<.001	1.701	1.2712	2.276			
cIMT	1.3554	0.5292	2.561	0.010	3.878	1.3748	10.942			
Age	-0.0255	0.0107	-2.391	0.017	0.975	0.9546	0.995			
Frailty Index	2.6325	1.5722	1.674	0.094	13.909	0.6383	303.079			
WH ratio	-0.1460	0.5998	-0.243	0.808	0.864	0.2667	2.800			
Sex:										
M – F	0.4672	0.1619	2.886	0.004	1.595	1.1618	2.191			

Table 1.3.3. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA – cIMT and CVD risk factorsModel Coefficients - fCVD

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 1706 (n = 618 OA, age- and sex-matched n = 1,088 No OA). OA: osteoarthritis; WH ratio: waist-to-hip ratio; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; WHR: waist-to-hip ratio; fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up.

Table 1.3.4. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA - cIMT and FRS

						95% Confidence Interval			
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Lower	Upper			
Intercept	-2.1781	0.1773	-12.29	<.001	0.113	0.0800	0.160		
Any OA:									
OA – No OA	0.5115	0.1466	3.49	<.001	1.668	1.2512	2.223		
cIMT	-1.1138	0.3148	-3.54	<.001	0.328	0.1772	0.608		
FRS	0.0884	0.0175	5.04	<.001	1.092	1.0555	1.131		

Model Coefficients - fCVD

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 1706 (n = 618 OA, age- and sex-matched n = 1,088 No OA). OA: osteoarthritis; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; FRS: Framingham Risk Score; fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up.

						95% Confidence Interva		
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper	
Intercept	-2.0480	0.1730	-11.83	<.001	0.129	0.0919	0.181	
Any OA:								
OA – No OA	0.5196	0.1459	3.56	<.001	1.681	1.2631	2.238	
cIMT	-0.5466	0.2582	-2.12	0.034	0.579	0.3490	0.960	
IHRS (non-lab)	0.0452	0.0135	3.35	<.001	1.046	1.0189	1.074	

Table 1.3.5. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA – cIMT and IHRS

Model Coefficients - fCVD

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 1706 (n = 618 OA, age- and sex-matched n = 1,088 No OA). OA: osteoarthritis; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; IHRS: InterHeart Risk Score (non-laboratory); fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up.

	wbOA	# Missing (% total)	nwbOA	# Missing (% total)	p-value
Total n	159		159		
Age (years)	60.88 [9.05]	0	60.63 [9.25]	0	0.808
PASE	156.04 [82.7]	0	151.5 [67.86]	1 (< 1%)	0.593
TUG (s)	10.24 [6.48]	0	8.76 [1.35]	4 (3%)	0.005
BMI (kg/m²)	27.39 [4.73]	0	25.43 [3.74]	0	<.001
WH ratio	0.88 [0.1]	0	0.86 [0.1]	0	0.076
HbA1c (%)	5.6 [0.94]	1 (< 1%)	5.47 [0.51]	0	0.126
hsCRP (mg/L)	1.99 [2.85]	1 (< 1%)	2.02 [3.37]	0	0.932
HDL (mmol/L)	1.58 [0.5]	0	1.72 [0.51]	0	0.014
LDL (mmol/L)	2.94 [0.98]	0	3.01 [0.83]	0	0.492
Frailty Index	0.08 [0.05]	0	0.09 [0.04]	0	0.050
SDS	0.54 [0.8]	9 (6%)	0.65 [0.93]	6 (4%)	0.259
Non-lab IHRS <sup>39</sup>	7.21 [5.39]	0	6.68 [4.95]	0	0.362
FRS	10.22 [4.89]	0	9.56 [4.52]	0	0.212
cIMT	0.72 [0.14]	0	0.69 [0.14]	0	0.057

Table 1.4 Participant demographics using baseline CLSA data in weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA

P values are calculated through Student's t-test between weight-bearing (wbOA) and non-weight-bearing (nwbOA) osteoarthritis (OA). Data is matched 1 wbOA: 1 nwbOA. n = 54 male participants per group, n = 105 female participants per group. PASE: Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; TUG: timed-up-and-go; BMI: Body Mass Index; WH: waist-to-hip ratio; HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c; HSCRP: high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; HDL: High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein; \*SDS – Social Disadvantage Score, modified from Anand et al (2020)<sup>72</sup>, calculated by income less than 20,000 CAD assigned a score of two, income between 20,000 CAD and 50,000 CAD assigned a score of one, and living without a partner assigned a score of one. The maximum SDS was three, and the lowest possible SDS was zero; IHRS – InterHeart risk score (non-lab); FRS: Framingham risk score; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness (left side).

**Table 1.5.1.** Unadjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-weight-bearing OA (nwb OA)

						95% Confidence Interval		
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper	
Intercept	-1.543	0.208	-7.41	<.001	0.214	0.142	0.321	
Type of OA:								
wbOA – nwbOA	-0.340	0.313	-1.08	0.278	0.712	0.385	1.316	

Model Coefficients - fCVD

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 318 (n = 159 nwbOA, age- and sex-matched n = 159 wbOA). wbOA: weight-bearing osteoarthritis; nwbOA: non-weight-bearing osteoarthritis; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up.

**Table 1.5.2.** Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-weight-bearing OA (nwb OA) – cIMT only

Woder Coefficients - R	violei coefficients - revo												
						95% Confidence Interval							
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper						
Intercept	-1.5899	0.389	-4.090	<.001	0.204	0.0952	0.437						
Type of OA:													
wbOA - nwbOA	-0.3430	0.314	-1.091	0.275	0.710	0.3833	1.314						
cIMT	0.0756	0.527	0.143	0.886	1.079	0.3840	3.029						

Model Coefficients - fCVD

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 318 (n = 159 nwbOA, age- and sex-matched n = 159 wbOA). wbOA: weight-bearing osteoarthritis; nwbOA: non-weight-bearing osteoarthritis; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up.

**Table 1.5.3**. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-weight-bearing OA (nwb OA) – cIMT and CVD risk factors

						95% Confidence Interval					
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper				
Intercept	-1.7851	0.5048	-3.536	<.001	0.168	0.0624	0.451				
Type of OA:											
wbOA - nwbOA	-0.3557	0.3245	-1.096	-1.096 0.273 0.701		0.3709	1.324				
cIMT	2.8439	1.2588	2.259 <b>0.024</b> 17.182		17.182	1.4574	202.560				
Age	-0.0226	0.0228	8 -0.990 0.3		0.978	0.9348	1.022				
Frailty Index	5.3207	4.0927	1.300	0.194	204.524	0.0671	623015.672				
WHR	-1.5477	1.3202	-1.172	0.241	0.213	0.0160	2.829				
Sex:											
M – F	1.0307	0.3447	2.990	0.003	2.803	1.4264	5.508				

Model Coefficients - fCVD

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 318 (n = 159 nwbOA, age- and sex-matched n = 159 wbOA). wbOA: weight-bearing osteoarthritis; nwbOA: non-weight-bearing osteoarthritis; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; WHR: waist-to-hip ratio; fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up.

**Table 1.5.4.** Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-weight-bearing OA (nwb OA) – cIMT and FRS

Model Coefficients - f	Model Coefficients - fCVD												
						95% Confidence Interval							
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper						
Intercept	-1.7835	0.4154	4.294	<.001	0.168	0.0745	0.379						
Type of OA:													
wbOA - nwbOA	-0.3536	0.3159	-1.119	0.263	0.702	0.3780	1.304						
cIMT	-0.5290	0.6637	-0.797	0.425	0.589	0.1605	2.164						
FRS	0.0675	0.0382	1.768	0.077	1.070	0.9927	1.153						

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 318 (n = 159 nwbOA, age- and sex-matched n = 159 wbOA). wbOA: weight-bearing osteoarthritis; nwbOA: non-weightbearing osteoarthritis; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; FRS: Framingham Risk Score; fCVD: cardiovascular disease at followup. **Table 1.5.5.** Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing OA (wbOA) and non-weight-bearing OA (nwb OA) – cIMT and IHRS

						95% Confidence Interva		
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper	
Intercept	-1.6552	0.3974	4.165	<.001	0.191	0.0877	0.416	
Type of OA:								
wbOA - nwbOA	-0.3759	0.3173	-1.185	0.236	0.687	0.3687	1.279	
cIMT	-0.3218	0.5958	-0.540	0.589	0.725	0.2255	2.330	
IHRS (non-lab)	0.0547	0.0302	1.810	0.070	1.056	0.9955	1.121	

Model Coefficients - fCVD

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "fCVD = 1" vs. "fCVD = 0"

Total n = 318 (n = 159 nwbOA, age- and sex-matched n = 159 wbOA). wbOA: weight-bearing osteoarthritis; nwbOA: non-weightbearing osteoarthritis; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness; IHRS: InterHeart Risk Score (non-laboratory); fCVD: cardiovascular disease at follow-up. Chapter 3 – The association between OA, menopause, and the risk for CVD in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Y. Mei<sup>1</sup>, J.S. Williams<sup>1</sup>, H.E. Harnack<sup>1</sup>, E.K. Webb<sup>1</sup>, A.K. Shea<sup>2</sup>, M.J. MacDonald<sup>1</sup>, B.K. Al-Khazraji<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Kinesiology, Faculty of Science, McMaster University, Hamilton ON L8S4L8, Canada. <sup>2</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, McMaster University,

Hamilton ON L8S4L8, Canada.

# 3.1 Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a progressive musculoskeletal disease characterized by the degradation of cartilage and bone, resulting in pain and disability and affects approximately 654 million people worldwide.<sup>1,2</sup> The prevalence of OA is greater in women than in men (~22%, ~12%, respectively), and becomes more apparent after the sixth decade of life, where OA prevalence in women surpasses that in men.<sup>2</sup> The increased prevalence of OA in older women is partially explained by the occurrence of the menopause transition, or the sudden decrease in circulating sex hormones, estrogen (i.e.,  $17\beta$ -estradiol) and progesterone associated with the menstrual cycle.<sup>3</sup>

Cardiovascular disease (CVD), encompassing pathologies of the heart and vascular system, is also a leading cause of morbidity and mortality, contributing to over 17.3 million deaths worldwide each year.<sup>4</sup> While men have higher CVD prevalence and incidence earlier in life, the risk for women developing CVD after menopause is elevated, as estimated with the available risk scoring mechanisms and by evidence of CVD incidence.<sup>5</sup> OA and CVD are often comorbid, thereby increasing burden on the aging demographic and the surrounding society.<sup>6</sup> However, the joint in which osteoarthritis develops seems to matter when considering the shared risk profile between

cardiovascular disease and osteoarthritis. Specifically, compared to hand OA, studies have found a greater association of knee and hip OA with higher CVD risk.<sup>7,8</sup> It is of interest to further understand the relationship between weight-bearing OA and CVD risk.

The role for menopausal hormone therapy (HT) in the absence of contraindications, when started within 10 years of menopause, has been shown to decrease the risk for CVD.<sup>9</sup> Likewise, the estrogen component of HT, has shown promise in managing symptoms and progression of OA due to its protective effects on bone and surrounding tissue.<sup>10,11</sup> However, results from the Women's Health Initiative and Heart and Estrogen/progestin Replacement Study suggested that HT may increase the risk for CVD.<sup>12,13</sup> Since these studies were done, a "timing hypothesis" has emerged that describes HT as beneficial to women for reducing CVD disease during a specific window (i.e., within 10 years of menopause onset). It is possible that the same principles of the timing hypothesis may apply to OA disease risk, where using HT within 10 years of menopause onset may have protective effects for OA diagnosis and progression.

Furthermore, additional factors such as body adiposity (e.g., measured through body mass index or waist-to-hip ratio, BMI and WH ratio respectively) and physical activity all contribute to CVD risk.<sup>14</sup> Blood biomarkers, including inflammatory markers (e.g., C-reactive protein, or CRP), cholesterol (e.g., high- and low-density lipoproteins, HDL and LDL respectively), and glucose control (e.g., hemoglobin A1c, orHbA1c), also play a role in CVD risk.<sup>15–17</sup> Social disadvantage, often approximated through a combination of socioeconomic factors and social support, has been found to be significantly higher in women, and is also associated with CVD risk.<sup>18</sup> These risk factors have all been observed in individuals with OA, providing rationale for exploring the overlapping etiology.<sup>19,20</sup> Further, the decrease in circulating estrogen as a result of menopause has been suggested to contribute to elevations in these risk factors among post-menopausal women.<sup>21</sup> CVD risk scores have been created to provide a holistic score for CVD risk using common CVD risk factors. Notably, the InterHeart risk score (IHRS) uses a combination of general and modifiable risk factors to quantify CVD risk of future CVD events.<sup>19,22</sup> However, the IHRS has not been used to examine CVD risk in individuals with OA.

To our knowledge, no prior research has examined the interaction between HT use, OA diagnosis, and CVD risk in post-menopausal women. The aim of this study is to examine sex differences and the potential role of menopause on CVD risk in a population with known CVD risk (i.e., individuals with an OA diagnosis but no existing CVD) and a healthy control cohort (i.e., individuals with no OA or CVD diagnoses), while considering additional CVD risk variables and the IHRS. These aims will be addressed by the following objectives:

<u>Objective 1: Examine proportions of CVD in male and female participants with and without</u> <u>OA at baseline and 3-year follow-up.</u> This will examine the comorbidity of OA and CVD, specifically to observe the frequency of CVD in individuals with versus without an existing OA diagnosis stratified by sex to examine sex differences

<u>Objective 2: Compare group demographics of CVD risk factors and the IHRS between post-</u> <u>menopausal women with and without OA.</u> CVD risk profiles will be compared between a sub-group of age-matched post-menopausal female participants with and without OA diagnosis to examine the CVD risk profiles in the two cohorts.

Objective 3: Examine the associations between menopausal variables and odds CVD at 3year follow-up in post-menopausal women with and without OA. Using baseline CVD risk profiles in an isolated population of post-menopausal female participants, the odds of CVD (measured through answering "Yes" to any of the previously defined CVD diagnosis variables at 3-year followup) will be compared in age-matched female participants with and without OA as the outcome of interest. The logistic regression models will systematically include variables (exposure) to assess how odds ratio of CVD incidence is impacted by:

- 1. OA status alone
- 2. OA status with IHRS and interaction effects between IHRS and OA status
- 3. OA status with age, years since menopause, HT use, and IHRS, with interaction effects between IHRS and OA status

The specific sub-cohorts can be found in Figure 1. We hypothesize that: Objective 2 individuals with OA will have greater CVD risk profiles when examining demographics than individuals without OA; Objective 3 - in the sub-cohort of age-matched post-menopausal female participants with and without OA, post-menopausal female participants with OA will have greater CVD risk profiles when examining demographics; and Objective 4 - that post-menopausal female participants with OA will have greater odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up, which is partially explained by menopausal variables and CVD risk.

# 3.2 Methodological Approach

#### 3.2.1 Study design and population

Baseline (n = 30,097) and follow-up 1 (n = 27,765 after 3 years) data from the Comprehensive cohort collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) was used for secondary analysis. Further details surrounding the CLSA design are described elsewhere.<sup>23,24</sup> Cross-sectional and longitudinal studies were conducted using physiological and sociocultural data relevant to

health and aging collected from participants aged 45-85 years old sampled from 11 data collection sites across 7 Canadian provinces. The study was approved by the CLSA scientific advisory board and received ethics from the McMaster Research Ethics Board (protocol #4912). The flowchart of the sub-cohorts used for each analysis can be found in Figure 1.

### 3.2.2 Osteoarthritis status

Self-reported weight-bearing osteoarthritis status was used to group participants based on OA diagnosis. Participants who answered "yes" to having been diagnosed with knee or hip OA by a physician were characterized as having OA. Participants who responded "no" to both knee and hip OA were characterized as No OA. Although hand OA was also a collected variable, self-reported hand OA was not factored into the OA definition. Thus, individuals with hand OA were not excluded in the weight-bearing OA definition.

## 3.2.3 Menopausal status and hormone therapy (HT) use

Self-reported data on reproductive variables, such as menopause and HT use, have been examined in previous studies and found to be reliable and acceptable.<sup>25,26</sup> Self-reported menopausal status was used, defined as having stopped menstruation for at least one year without restarting. Individuals who reported undergoing a hysterectomy were excluded, as neither data regarding date of the hysterectomy nor the occurrence of an oophorectomy were available. Those who reported being post-menopausal were further asked the age of menopause onset, specifically the age at which the participants menstrual periods stopped for at least one year and did not restart. Using the participants' age and age of menopause onset, the number of years since menopause was calculated as a variable in the analyses. Self-reported HT use was included as a variable in the analyses, included as a binary variable with "ever used" and "never used".

### 3.2.4 Cardiovascular risk

The IHRS was developed using data collected from 52 countries as a tool to predict the risk of a CVD event.<sup>19,22</sup> A non-laboratory IHRS was later validated and determined to be of similar predictive accuracy, which excluded blood cholesterols and considered a family history of myocardial infarction.<sup>27</sup> For the purposes of this study, the non-lab IHRS was modified to adapt to the available CLSA variables, and the calculations can be found in the Appendix (Supplementary Tables 1)<sup>22</sup>. The methodology for calculating the IHRS in CLSA data can be found elsewhere (Chapter 2).

### 3.2.5 Cardiovascular disease (CVD) status

The primary outcome variable was CVD. Participants who answered "yes" to having been diagnosed with the following conditions by a physician, were characterized as having CVD: self-reported heart disease (HD), cerebrovascular accident (CVA), transient ischemic stroke (TIA), high blood pressure (HBP), angina, peripheral vascular disease (PVD), or acute myocardial infarction (AMI).<sup>28</sup> For analyses examining CVD at 3-year follow-up, participants who reported "no" to all CVD conditions at baseline were included, and their 3-year follow-up CVD data was subsequently analyzed.

### 3.2.6 Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics, expressed as means and standard deviations, were used to describe continuous variables and stratified by sex, menopause status, and disease. Counts, frequencies,

72

and proportions were used to describe categorical variables such as disease frequencies. Multivariable logistic regressions were calculated using covariates and interactions to determine adjusted odds ratios, presented using 95% confidence intervals [95% CI]. Age, years since menopause, HT use and type,<sup>29</sup> and the IHRS were included as covariates in the adjusted odds ratio calculations. Individuals with missing values for one or more of the variables of interest were excluded from the analyses. When appropriate and feasible, samples were 1 OA: 2 No OA agematched in 10-year intervals. Non-parametric Welch's t-tests were used to compare medians of unadjusted, raw continuous variables (Supplementary tables), and Student's t-tests were used to compare means of adjusted continuous variables. Alpha level of significance was set to 0.05, where test outcomes less than the alpha level were deemed significant. All statistical analyses were conducted using appropriate sampling weights with appropriate methods for the analysis of survey data. All data analyses were conducted using Python (version 3.0 via Jupyter Lab) and Jamovi (version 1.8).

### 3.3 Results

## Proportion of CVD in individuals with OA at baseline

A total of 17,217 participants (Figure 2) were included in the frequency analysis of CVD in participants that were stratified based on diagnosis, sex, and menopausal status (Table 2.1). This cohort had complete data for IHRS and 3-year follow-up data. At baseline, there were 3,502 total people with OA (n = 1,401 male participants, n = 2,101 female participants), and 13,715 people without OA (n = 7,030 male participants, n = 6,685 female participants). Of the 2101 female participants with an OA diagnosis, 142 were pre-menopausal and 1,533 were post-menopausal. Of the 6,685 female participants without an OA diagnosis, 1,249 were pre-menopausal and 4,386 were post-menopausal. A total of 7,753 individuals had a CVD condition at baseline (45% of all individuals), of which 1,986 had OA (57% of all people with OA) and 5,767 did not have OA (42% of all people without OA). When comparing people with OA to people without OA, CVD diagnosis was consistently greater in all individuals with OA (relative proportion: 1.10 - 1.76), regardless of sex or menopausal status.

### Proportion of CVD in individuals with OA at 3-year follow-up with no CVD at baseline

A total of 9,464 individuals (Figure 2) were included in the frequency analysis at follow-up. From the sub-cohort of individuals who had complete data for the primary variables of interest, individuals who had any type of CVD event at baseline were excluded. From the sub-cohort, 3-year follow-up CVD diagnosis was examined, stratified based on diagnosis, sex, and menopausal status (Table 2.2). At baseline, there were 1,516 total people with OA (n = 565 male participants, n = 951 female participants), and 7,948 people without OA (n = 3,760 male participants, n = 4,188 female participants). Of the 951 female participants with an OA diagnosis, 78 were pre-menopausal and 721 were post-menopausal. Of the 4,188 females without an OA diagnosis, 993 were pre-menopausal and 2,685 were post-menopausal. A total of 1,146 individuals developed a CVD condition at 3-year follow-up (12% of all individuals), of which 244 had OA (16% of all people with OA) and 902 did not have OA (11% of all people without OA). When comparing people with OA to people without OA, CVD diagnosis at 3-year follow-up had relative proportions of 1.03 – 2.3 in individuals with OA (regardless of sex or menopausal status) compared to individuals without OA.

# Participant demographics and CVD risk in post-menopausal female participants with or without OA

The raw (Supplementary Table 7) and adjusted (Table 2.3) demographic characteristics of the agematched cohort of post-menopausal female participants with and without OA were examined (Figure 2). There were 711 post-menopausal female participants with OA and 1,405 age-matched post-menopausal female participants without OA. Following the adjustments of survey weights, greater age (OA:  $64.0 \pm 8.15$ ; No OA:  $63.22 \pm 8.15$ ), greater BMI (OA:  $27.71 \pm 5.52$ ; No OA:  $25.93 \pm$ 4.58), and greater waist-to-hip ratio (OA:  $0.83 \pm 0.06$ ; No OA:  $0.82 \pm 0.06$ ) was observed in postmenopausal female participants with OA compared with post-menopausal female participants without OA (Table 2.3)

# Greater unadjusted odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up in post-menopausal female participants with OA, with no significant differences after considering covariates.

The odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up were significantly greater in post-menopausal female participants with OA compared to post-menopausal female participants without OA (Figure 2) (p=0.03, Odds ratio: 1.34 [1.03-1.74]) (Table 2.4.1). After adjusting for the IHRS and considering the interaction between IHRS and OA diagnosis, the odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up were not significantly different between the groups (p=0.246, Odds ratio: 1.37 [0.81-2.27]) (Table 2.4.2), with no significant interaction effect of IHRS with OA diagnosis and a significant main effect of IHRS. After adjusting for the effects of age, years since menopause, HT use, the IHRS, and considering the interaction between IHRS and OA diagnosis, the odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up is (p=0.217, Odds ratio: 1.40 [0.82-2.40]) (Table

2.4.3), with no significant interaction effect of IHRS with OA diagnosis and significant effects of age, years since menopause, HT use, and the IHRS. Of this sub-cohort, 39 post-menopausal female participants who did not have OA at baseline out of 1436 developed OA at 3-year follow-up.

### 3.4 Discussion

This study examined the relationship between weight-bearing OA and CVD in postmenopausal women by using baseline and 3-year follow-up data from the CLSA. To our knowledge, this study is the first to examine CVD risk (measured through the IHRS) and the influence of menopause on CVD incidence among those with a diagnosis of OA. For Objective 2, we hypothesized that in an age-matched sub-cohort of post-menopausal women, individuals with OA will have greater risk than individuals without OA, and we found significantly higher age, BMI, and waist-to-hip ratio in post-menopausal women with OA. For Objective 3 we hypothesized that postmenopausal women will have greater odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up, which could be partially explained through menopausal variables and IHRS. We found that post-menopausal women with OA have greater odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up compared to post-menopausal women without OA, which becomes non-significant after accounting for interaction effects of IHRS and OA diagnosis and main effects of menopausal variables. This suggests that age, years since menopause, HT use, and the interaction of IHRS and OA diagnosis account for the some of the elevated risk of CVD in post-menopausal women.

The results from the current study show a higher proportion of CVD events at a crosssectional time-point among a sub-cohort with existing OA, as compared with a sub-cohort without OA, which aligns with previous work.<sup>30,31</sup> Men and post-menopausal women had increased

76

frequencies of both OA and CVD diagnoses in this population. The 3-year follow-up data demonstrated that there was a higher incidence of CVD in individuals with OA, a higher proportion among males compared with women, and a higher proportion in post-menopausal versus premenopausal women. The group frequency of CVD at 3-year follow-up was comparable between men and post-menopausal women, supporting previous work indicating that sex hormones prior to the menopausal transition play a protective role for pre-menopausal women.<sup>32</sup>

To better understand the relationship between menopause and OA in CVD risk, a subcohort of age-matched female participants were examined at baseline and followed to 3-year follow-up. Interestingly, few differences were observed between post-menopausal women with and without OA, as only age, BMI, and waist-to-hip ratio were significantly greater in the OA group. This aligns with a previous study examining OA and CVD risk in baseline CLSA data that found BMI to be the largest contributor of CVD risk, predominantly in females.<sup>33</sup> After examining how menopausal variables influence CVD risk at follow-up, we found that post-menopausal women with OA are at higher odds of developing CVD than post-menopausal women without OA (Table 5.1), even after accounting for age, years since menopause, use of HT, and the IHRS (Table 5.2). Thus, despite few significant differences between post-menopausal women with and without OA at baseline, primarily surrounding surrogate measures of body adiposity, there is an elevated risk for CVD in postmenopausal women with OA at 3-year follow up, which suggests that menopausal variables and CVD risk (measured through the IHRS) may be at play to explain the difference in CVD risk for postmenopausal women with and without OA.

77

## Influence of age

The post-menopausal women with OA were significantly older than post-menopausal women without OA following the application of survey weights. However, the clinical significance of this difference may be speculated, as there is less than one year difference between the two cohorts after this adjustment. The adjusted odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up show a main effect of age, suggesting that age explains some of the differences in CVD outcomes at 3-year follow-up. Increased age has been implicated as a factor that affects the risk of CVD independent of OA, possibly resulting from age-related decline of endothelial health.<sup>34</sup> The main effect of age may also be mediated through factors such as the age-related increase of carotid intima-media thickness, which is a marker for CVD.<sup>35</sup>

### Influence of menopausal variables

There are associations between HT use and years since menopause and increased risk of CVD at 3-year follow-up. There is rationale for post-menopausal women to use HT due to previous health conditions and risks,<sup>36</sup> and these significant results of HT use with CVD outcomes further prompt examination of HT type and route of administration on CVD risk in post-menopausal females with and without OA. Years since menopause is used as a surrogate of age to predict risk of CVD, where studies have found that increased age and years since menopause were associated with greater CVD incidence.<sup>37</sup> Our results show significant main effects for both HT use and years since menopause with CVD outcomes at 3-year follow-up.

### Influence of IHRS

The adjusted odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up show a main effect of IHRS. The interaction effect of the IHRS and OA diagnosis both alone and with other menopausal variables further explains some of the relationship between CVD outcomes in post-menopausal women. When considering a comprehensive score such as the IHRS, several CVD risk factors are included in the composition of the score. Another commonly used CVD score is the Framingham risk score (FRS), provides a 10-year risk score for CVD.<sup>38,39</sup> One of the shortcomings of the FRS is the original population demographic; as it was originally developed and validated in a population of primarily middle-class white men, the generalizability of the score to other populations requires adjustments and consideration.<sup>40–42</sup> In contrast to the FRS, the IHRS was created using multi-ethnic data collected from 52 countries, and incorporates several modifiable risk factors (e.g., diet, physical activity) that the FRS does not account for.<sup>19,22</sup> Additionally, the original IHRS study examined the probability of CVD onset for 1-3.25 year follow-up, which is a shorter time interval compared with the 10-year estimation of the FRS<sup>19,22</sup>, and aligns with the timeframe of the followup data which was collected 3 years from baseline. As OA and CVD share many overlapping risk factors, it is expected that the IHRS explained some of the CVD risk differences between individuals with and without OA.

There is a strong association between OA and CVD in the literature which can partially be explained through shared risk factors and disease etiology.<sup>6,43,44</sup> Aging, higher inflammation and body adiposity, and general lifestyle habits all contribute to the risk for both OA and CVD. Aging negatively influences the cardiovascular system, which subsequently increases the risk of developing vascular-related conditions.<sup>43</sup> Regulation of blood glucose, measured through HbA1c

levels, plays a role in CVD risk as high levels of HbA1c are strongly associated with an increased risk of CVD.<sup>17</sup> Inflammation, often measured through high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), plays a role in the degradation of joint health in OA pathology.<sup>15</sup> Likewise, high levels of hsCRP are implicated in the development of CVD, specifically as a potential indicator for atherosclerosis, a precursor to CVD-related events.<sup>6,43</sup> Further, body adiposity is an indicator of health and disease risk, and increased adiposity can act through inflammation and endothelial dysfunction to increase the risk of both OA and CVD independently.<sup>43</sup> Despite the limitations of the body mass index (BMI) (i.e., oversimplification of body adiposity across sex, age, and distribution), it is still one of the most widely used indices of body composition.<sup>45</sup> Recent studies have used waist-to-hip ratio and waist circumference as better candidates to understanding body adiposity, particularly when examining adiposity as a risk factor for OA<sup>46</sup> and CVD<sup>45,47</sup>. Both BMI and waist-to-hip ratio were included in the study examine measures of body composition, with distinct differences found between the groups of post-menopausal women with and without OA. Additionally, studies have begun to incorporate measures of social disadvantage in understanding health and disease in the population. A modified social disadvantage score (described elsewhere)<sup>18</sup> was incorporated in the study.

Modifiable lifestyle habits such as physical activity, diet, and smoking have been implicated in elevating OA and CVD risk independently by influencing both endothelial and general vascular health.<sup>19,48</sup> To consider the effects of interacting risk factors, the IHRS provides a holistic profile of CVD risk.<sup>19,22</sup> The original study on which the IHRS is created examined the probability of CVD onset for 1 and 3.25-year follow-up, which may be a smaller and more sensitive window to detect CVD

80

risk compared with other CVD risk scores (e.g., the Framingham risk score which is based on a 10year risk of CVD).<sup>19</sup>

After accounting for OA diagnosis in age-matched post-menopausal women, our study found the presence of weight bearing OA at baseline increased future CVD events. However, after including the main effects of age, years since menopause, HT use, and the IHRS and the interacting effect of IHRS and OA diagnosis with CVD outcomes at 3-year follow-up, the difference is no longer significant. This indicates that menopausal variables and IHRS can help explain why OA pathology plays a role in increasing CVD risk in older women.

## Limitations & Strengths

There are several limitations to consider when interpreting findings from this study. Selfreported data were collected in the CLSA for several variables of interest, which may play a role in the validity of the results. For example, OA was a self-reported variable of physician diagnosis that did not distinguish radiographic or symptomatic OA and did not report on OA severity. There is a known association between increased OA severity and increased CVD risk,<sup>49</sup> but we did not have this information to incorporate this information into our analyses. It is important to note that hand OA has been presented by some studies to play a role on CVD risk, and as having OA was only classified as knee and/or hip OA in this study, the influence of hand OA was not studied.<sup>50,51</sup> Possible effects of joint replacement surgeries as a result of OA were also not considered.<sup>7</sup> These considerations of OA pathology are additional avenues for future research questions. Additionally, inflammation was considered solely through the content of hsCRP within the blood, which is not a complete inflammatory profile due to the transient nature of the marker, as elevations of hsCRP may occur in the blood during periods of acute trauma or infection.<sup>52</sup> However, additional inflammatory markers were not available for usage within the baseline CLSA data, though incorporating a panel of inflammatory markers would provide a better profile for inflammation. Due to the design of the CLSA, certain populations were not collected, including individuals living on federal First Nations reserves and those who were unable to respond in English or French.<sup>53</sup> Several variables included in the IHRS calculation were not exact, such as the adjustments of cholesterol values due to the lacking of apolipoproteins measured. Additional minor modifications made to the IHRS include slight re-definitions of psychosocial questions and second-hand smoking. These adjustments are reflected in Supplementary Table 1. The prescribed use of HT works best with individualized care, and factors such as type, dose, and duration of use are often not considered in studies, making it difficult to translate the results of specific studies to populations.<sup>36</sup> These limitations may also result in reverse causality, where post-menopausal females who are at higher risk for CVD take HT to manage other symptoms, and more healthy post-menopausal females are not using HT. Further, time of/since event for menopause, OA, and CVD was not included in the analysis, which may influence the interpretation of results. In particular, there is an association between early menopause and increased risk of CVD,<sup>54</sup> as well as early CVD events resulting in early menopause.<sup>55</sup> These variables can provide further understanding of the relationship between menopause and CVD, particularly in a population with OA who is known to be at elevated CVD risk. Time to event will also provide information on the "timing hypothesis" as women within the first 10 years of menopause are at greatest risk of CVD (which may be decreased by HT).<sup>56</sup> Finally, the physiological differences between sex and gender may influence disease risk. There is research to suggest feminine gender, and not female sex, influence CVD risk,<sup>57</sup> which suggests a role of gender (and possibly complex interactions between social determinants of health) in CVD pathology which may also extend to OA. CLSA baseline data collected information on sex, which was used in the subsequent analyses; however, given the role of gender, future research should seek to further examine the relationship between gender and disease.

A key strength of this study is the use of large, weighted, and longitudinal cohort data that is representative of the Canadian population. Survey weights adjust for biases in sampling and data collected, which allowed for increased generalizability of our findings. The sub-cohorts that underwent further risk analysis (i.e., through logistic regression models) were age-matched, which though reduces the total n in the sample, help reduce bias within the analysis. Age was still included as a covariate, as matching does not remove variability or the influence of the matched variables as covariates.<sup>58</sup> In addition, the IHRS provided a holistic representation of CVD risk in the population, and the employment of a CVD risk score allows for an accessible and well-rounded measurement of CVD risk. Specifically using a non-laboratory IHRS in this and other studies is advantageous as it increases the accessibility and therefore the use of the score, as individuals do not have to enter a lab to have this CVD profile generated.<sup>27</sup> Additionally, comparable to the cohort that was used to create the IHRS, the CLSA contains a multi-ethnic Canadian population,<sup>53</sup> making the IHRS a suitable score to apply on the cohorts analyzed. Including both cross-sectional and longitudinal results allowed for a unique and thorough examination of the roles of risk factors on outcomes. Particularly considering menopausal variables, examining factors known to influence CVD risk in a large aging dataset with focus given to a known high-risk population (i.e., individuals with OA) shows how menopause influences and perhaps augments CVD risk in individuals with existing OA. The use of HT on OA and CVD as comorbidities is not well known, and results from

this study provides further rationale to examine HT as a holistic variable (i.e., type, duration of use, etc.) in post-menopausal women who experience elevated disease risk and.

### Conclusion

This study suggests that having OA increases the risk of CVD in post-menopausal females, and this relationship is no longer significant after accounting for the effects of CVD risk factors, such as HT and the IHRS. Additionally, when considering CVD risk factors between the two cohorts, surrogate measures of body adiposity were elevated in post-menopausal women with OA, perhaps signifying a relationship between OA pathology and CVD relating to inflammation, diet, physical activity, or a combination of these factors. The study is one of the first to examine the effects of OA, menopause, and HT on CVD incidence, and informs future studies and clinical practices on the potential changes to CVD risk and incidence following the menopause transition and particularly in females with OA. The results demonstrate that sex differences exist in CVD risk, which is also influenced by OA status. Particularly in post-menopausal females, OA diagnosis is linked with CVD risk and higher odds of developing CVD at 3-year follow-up compared to individuals without OA, and both menopausal variables and CVD risk factors explain some of this relationship. Future studies should further examine sex-stratified analyses CVD risk within individuals with and without OA, with considerations to the type and severity of OA, as well as sex-specific cutoffs for adiposity surrogates.<sup>59</sup> Studies should also target the role of the menopause transition, and how factors such as hormone therapy type, duration, and route of administration interact with OA to alter CVD risk.

# 3.5 References

- 1. Kwoh CK. Epidemiology of Osteoarthritis. In: Newman AB, Cauley JA, eds. *The Epidemiology of Aging*. Springer Netherlands; 2012:523-536. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-5061-6\_29
- Cui A, Li H, Wang D, Zhong J, Chen Y, Lu H. Global, regional prevalence, incidence and risk factors of knee osteoarthritis in population-based studies. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2020;29. doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100587
- 3. Talsania M, Scofield RH. Menopause and Rheumatic Disease. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America*. 2017;43(2):287-302. doi:10.1016/j.rdc.2016.12.011
- 4. Laslett Lawrence J, Alagona P, Clark Bernard A, et al. The Worldwide Environment of Cardiovascular Disease: Prevalence, Diagnosis, Therapy, and Policy Issues. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2012;60(25\_Supplement):S1-S49. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.11.002
- 5. El Khoudary SR, Aggarwal B, Beckie TM, et al. Menopause Transition and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: Implications for Timing of Early Prevention: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2020;142(25). doi:10.1161/cir.00000000000912
- Hall AJ, Stubbs B, Mamas MA, Myint PK, Smith TO. Association between osteoarthritis and cardiovascular disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiolog*. 2016;23(9):938-946. doi:10.1177/2047487315610663
- 7. Zeng C, Bennell K, Yang Z, et al. Risk of venous thromboembolism in knee, hip and hand osteoarthritis: a general population-based cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2020;79(12):1616-1624. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217782
- 8. Kendzerska T, Jüni P, King LK, Croxford R, Stanaitis I, Hawker GA. The longitudinal relationship between hand, hip and knee osteoarthritis and cardiovascular events: a population-based cohort study. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. 2017;25(11):1771-1780. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2017.07.024
- 9. The NAMS 2017 Hormone Therapy Position Statement Advisory Panel. The 2017 hormone therapy position statement of The North American Menopause Society. *Menopause*. 2017;24(7):728-753. doi:10.1097/GME.00000000000921
- 10. Xiao YP, Tian FM, Dai MW, Wang WY, Shao LT, Zhang L. Are estrogen-related drugs new alternatives for the management of osteoarthritis? *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. 2016;18(1):151. doi:10.1186/s13075-016-1045-7
- Wang N, Zhang X, Rothrauff BB, et al. Novel Role of Estrogen Receptor-α on Regulating Chondrocyte Phenotype and Response to Mechanical Loading. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. 2021;0(0). doi:10.1016/j.joca.2021.11.002
- 12. Anderson G, Cummings S, Freedman LS, et al. Design of the Women's Health Initiative clinical trial and observational study. *Controlled Clinical Trials*. 1998;19(1):61-109. doi:10.1016/S0197-2456(97)00078-0

- 13. Hulley S, Grady D, Bush T, et al. Randomized trial of estrogen plus progestin for secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in postmenopausal women. Heart and Estrogen/progestin Replacement Study (HERS) Research Group. *JAMA*. 1998;280(7):605-613. doi:10.1001/jama.280.7.605
- 14. Walden R, Tomlinson B. Cardiovascular Disease. In: Benzie IFF, Wachtel-Galor S, eds. *Herbal Medicine: Biomolecular and Clinical Aspects*. 2nd ed. CRC Press/Taylor & Francis; 2011. Accessed February 8, 2022. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK92767/
- 15. Rahman A. Do high-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels help predict risk of cardiovascular disease in patients with osteoarthritis? *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. 2008;4(3):122-123. doi:10.1038/ncprheum0731
- Pöss J, Custodis F, Werner C, Weingärtner O, Böhm M, Laufs U. Cardiovascular disease and dyslipidemia: beyond LDL. *Curr Pharm Des*. 2011;17(9):861-870. doi:10.2174/138161211795428858
- 17. Goto A, Noda M, Matsushita Y, et al. Hemoglobin a1c levels and the risk of cardiovascular disease in people without known diabetes: a population-based cohort study in Japan. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2015;94(17):e785. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000000785
- Anand SS, Razak F, Davis AD, et al. Social disadvantage and cardiovascular disease: development of an index and analysis of age, sex, and ethnicity effects. *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2006;35(5):1239-1245. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl163
- 19. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *The Lancet*. 2004;364(9438):937-952. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17018-9
- 20. Luong MLN, Cleveland RJ, Nyrop KA, Callahan LF. Social determinants and osteoarthritis outcomes. *Aging health*. 2012;8(4):413-437. doi:10.2217/ahe.12.43
- 21. Mei Y, Williams JS, Webb EK, Shea AK, MacDonald MJ, Al-Khazraji BK. Roles of Hormone Replacement Therapy and Menopause on Osteoarthritis and Cardiovascular Disease Outcomes: A Narrative Review. *Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences*. 2022;3. Accessed May 12, 2022. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fresc.2022.825147
- 22. McGorrian C, Yusuf S, Islam S, et al. Estimating modifiable coronary heart disease risk in multiple regions of the world: the INTERHEART Modifiable Risk Score. *European Heart Journal*. 2011;32(5):581-589. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehq448
- 23. Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, et al. The Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). *Can J Aging*. 2009;28(3):221-229. doi:10.1017/S0714980809990055
- 24. Kirkland SA, Griffith LE, Menec V, et al. Mining a Unique Canadian Resource: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *Can J Aging*. 2015;34(3):366-377. doi:10.1017/S071498081500029X

- 25. Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, et al. Reproducibility and validity of self-reported menopausal status in a prospective cohort study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1987;126(2):319-325. doi:10.1093/aje/126.2.319
- 26. Lucas R, Azevedo A, Barros H. Self-reported data on reproductive variables were reliable among postmenopausal women. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 2008;61(9):945-950. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2007.11.001
- 27. Joseph P, Yusuf S, Lee SF, et al. Prognostic validation of a non-laboratory and a laboratory based cardiovascular disease risk score in multiple regions of the world. *Heart*. 2018;104(7):581-587. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2017-311609
- Menniti G, Paquet C, Han HY, Dube L, Nielsen DE. Multiscale Risk Factors of Cardiovascular Disease: CLSA Analysis of Genetic and Psychosocial Factors. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*. 2021;8:167. doi:10.3389/fcvm.2021.599671
- 29. Shea AK, Sohel N, Gilsing A, Mayhew AJ, Griffith LE, Raina P. Depression, hormone therapy, and the menopausal transition among women aged 45 to 64 years using Canadian Longitudinal Study on aging baseline data. *Menopause*. 2020;27(7):763-770. doi:10.1097/GME.00000000001540
- 30. Wang H, Bai J, He B, Hu X, Liu D. Osteoarthritis and the risk of cardiovascular disease: a metaanalysis of observational studies. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6(1):39672. doi:10.1038/srep39672
- 31. Veronese N, Trevisan C, De Rui M, et al. Association of Osteoarthritis With Increased Risk of Cardiovascular Diseases in the Elderly: Findings From the Progetto Veneto Anziano Study Cohort. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2016;68(5):1136-1144. doi:10.1002/art.39564
- 32. lorga A, Cunningham CM, Moazeni S, Ruffenach G, Umar S, Eghbali M. The protective role of estrogen and estrogen receptors in cardiovascular disease and the controversial use of estrogen therapy. *Biology of Sex Differences*. 2017;8(1):33-33. doi:10.1186/s13293-017-0152-8
- Perruccio AV, Zahid S, Yip C, et al. Cardiovascular risk profile and osteoarthritis considering sex and multisite joint involvement: a CLSA population-based study. *Arthritis Care & Research*. n/a(n/a). doi:10.1002/acr.24826
- Lorenz MW, Markus HS, Bots ML, Rosvall M, Sitzer M. Prediction of Clinical Cardiovascular Events With Carotid Intima-Media Thickness: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Circulation*. 2007;115(4):459-467. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.628875
- 35. Willeit P, Tschiderer L, Allara E, et al. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness Progression as Surrogate Marker for Cardiovascular Risk: Meta-Analysis of 119 Clinical Trials Involving 100 667 Patients. *Circulation*. 2020;142(7):621-642. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046361
- 36. Fait T. Menopause hormone therapy: latest developments and clinical practice. *Drugs in Context*. 2019;8:1-9. doi:10.7573/dic.212551
- Wild RA, Hovey KM, Andrews C, et al. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk scores, age, or years since menopause to predict cardiovascular disease in the Women's Health Initiative. *Menopause*. 2021;28(6):610-618. doi:10.1097/GME.00000000001753

- 38. Anderson KM, Odell PM, Wilson PWF, Kannel WB. Cardiovascular disease risk profiles. *American Heart Journal*. 1991;121(1):293-298. doi:10.1016/0002-8703(91)90861-B
- 39. D'Agostino RB, Grundy S, Sullivan LM, Wilson P, for the CHD Risk Prediction Group. Validation of the Framingham Coronary Heart Disease Prediction Scores: Results of a Multiple Ethnic Groups Investigation. *JAMA*. 2001;286(2):180. doi:10.1001/jama.286.2.180
- 40. Ofori SN, Odia OJ. Risk assessment in the prevention of cardiovascular disease in low-resource settings. *Indian Heart Journal*. 2016;68(3):391-398. doi:10.1016/j.ihj.2015.07.004
- 41. Dent THS. Predicting the risk of coronary heart disease. *Atherosclerosis*. 2010;213(2):345-351. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2010.06.019
- 42. Gijsberts CM, Groenewegen KA, Hoefer IE, et al. Race/Ethnic Differences in the Associations of the Framingham Risk Factors with Carotid IMT and Cardiovascular Events. Apetrei C, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(7):e0132321. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132321
- 43. Fernandes GS, Valdes AM. Cardiovascular disease and osteoarthritis: common pathways and patient outcomes. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2015;45(4):405-414. doi:10.1111/eci.12413
- Hawker GA, Croxford R, Bierman AS, et al. All-Cause Mortality and Serious Cardiovascular Events in People with Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis: A Population Based Cohort Study. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;9(3):e91286-e91286. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0091286
- 45. Bennasar-Veny M, Lopez-Gonzalez AA, Tauler P, et al. Body Adiposity Index and Cardiovascular Health Risk Factors in Caucasians: A Comparison with the Body Mass Index and Others. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(5):e63999. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063999
- 46. Collins KH, Chin R, Sanmartin C, Reimer RA, Herzog W, Marshall DA. Body fat is an independent risk factor for osteoarthritis in the statistics Canada Canadian health measures survey population. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. 2014;22:S204. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2014.02.391
- 47. Arsenault BJ, Rana JS, Lemieux I, et al. Physical inactivity, abdominal obesity and risk of coronary heart disease in apparently healthy men and women. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2010;34(2):340-347. doi:10.1038/ijo.2009.229
- Prevention (US) C for DC and, Promotion (US) NC for CDP and H, Health (US) O on S and. Cardiovascular Diseases. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US); 2010. Accessed June 25, 2021. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53012/
- 49. Goel S, Kamath SU, Annappa R, et al. Cross-sectional assessment of cardiovascular risk factors in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Published online June 28, 2021. doi:10.12688/f1000research.27744.1
- Courties A, Sellam J, Maheu E, et al. Coronary heart disease is associated with a worse clinical outcome of hand osteoarthritis: a cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *RMD Open*. 2017;3(1):e000344. doi:10.1136/rmdopen-2016-000344

- 51. Haugen IK, Ramachandran VS, Misra D, et al. Hand osteoarthritis in relation to mortality and incidence of cardiovascular disease: data from the Framingham Heart Study. *Ann Rheum Dis*. 2015;74(1):74-81. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203789
- 52. Ridker PM. High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein. *Circulation*. 2001;103(13):1813-1818. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.103.13.1813
- 53. Raina P, Wolfson C, Kirkland S, et al. Cohort Profile: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2019;48(6):1752-1753j. doi:10.1093/ije/dyz173
- 54. Li Y, Zhao D, Wang M, et al. Combined effect of menopause and cardiovascular risk factors on death and cardiovascular disease: a cohort study. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*. 2021;21:109. doi:10.1186/s12872-021-01919-5
- 55. Zhu D, Chung HF, Pandeya N, et al. Premenopausal cardiovascular disease and age at natural menopause: a pooled analysis of over 170,000 women. *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2019;34(3):235-246. doi:10.1007/s10654-019-00490-w
- 56. Mehta JM, Chester RC, Kling JM. The Timing Hypothesis: Hormone Therapy for Treating Symptomatic Women During Menopause and Its Relationship to Cardiovascular Disease. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. 2019;28(5):705-711. doi:10.1089/jwh.2018.7201
- 57. Pelletier R, Ditto B, Pilote L. A composite measure of gender and its association with risk factors in patients with premature acute coronary syndrome. *Psychosom Med*. 2015;77(5):517-526. doi:10.1097/psy.00000000000186
- 58. Pearce N. Analysis of matched case-control studies. *BMJ*. 2016;352:i969. doi:10.1136/bmj.i969
- 59. Nazare JA, Smith J, Borel AL, et al. Usefulness of measuring both body mass index and waist circumference for the estimation of visceral adiposity and related cardiometabolic risk profile (from the INSPIRE ME IAA study). *Am J Cardiol*. 2015;115(3):307-315. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.10.039
- 60. Anand SS, Tu JV, Desai D, et al. Cardiovascular risk scoring and magnetic resonance imaging detected subclinical cerebrovascular disease. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2020;21(6):692-700. doi:10.1093/ehjci/jez226

# 3.6 Figures and Tables



**Figure 2.** Flowchart of individuals included in this study (Chapter 3) from baseline and 3-year follow-up in the CLSA Comprehensive cohort. SDS: social disadvantage score; IHRS: InterHeart risk score; HD: heart disease; PVD: peripheral vascular disease; HBP: high blood pressure; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ANGI: angina; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; TIA: transient ischemic accident; PASE: Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; OA: osteoarthritis. \*Excludes Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly.

	OA Diag	Diagnosis					No OA Diagnosis												
	Total	Mala	Female n (GP)			_		Total	Mala	Female n (GP)									
	n (GP)	n (GP)	<b>Total</b> n (GP)	MP <sup>PRE</sup> n (GP)	<b>MP<sup>POST</sup></b> n (GP)	RP (MP <sup>POS</sup> / MP <sup>PRE</sup> )	RP         n (GP)         n (           /         (OA <sup>M</sup> /         OA <sup>F</sup> )	n (GP)	TotalMPPREMPPOSTn (GP)n (GP)n (GP)		RP (MP <sup>post</sup> / MP <sup>pre</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (CTL <sup>M</sup> ∕ CTL <sup>F</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>M</sup> ∕ CTL <sup>M</sup> )	RP (OA <sup>F</sup> / CTL <sup>F</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>PR</sup> / CTL <sup>PR</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>PO</sup> / CTL <sup>PO</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>⊤</sup> / CTL <sup>⊤</sup> )		
Total n	3502	1401	2101	142	1533			13715	7030	6685	1249	4386							
Knee OA	2645 (0.76)	1062 (0.76)	1583 (0.75)	109 (0.77)	1142 (0.74)	0.96	1.01	0	0	0	0	0							
Hip OA	1446 (0.41)	512 (0.37)	934 (0.44)	57 (0.40)	685 (0.45)	1.13	0.82	0	0	0	0	0							
Any CVD diagnosis	1986 (0.57)	836 (0.60)	1150 (0.55)	64 (0.45)	812 (0.53)	1.18	1.09	5767 (0.42)	3270 (0.47)	2497 (0.37)	256 (0.20)	1701 (0.39)	1.95	1.25	1.28	1.47	2.25	1.36	1.35
HD	509 (0.15)	270 (0.19)	239 (0.11)	10 (0.07)	163 (0.11)	1.57	1.69	1412 (0.10)	969 (0.14)	443 (0.07)	27 (0.02)	316 (0.07)	3.50	2.08	1.40	1.72	3.50	1.57	1.41
PVD	267 (0.08)	105 (0.07)	162 (0.08)	8 (0.06)	114 (0.07)	1.17	0.97	603 (0.04)	287 (0.04)	316 (0.05)	48 (0.04)	212 (0.05)	1.25	0.86	1.84	1.63	1.50	1.40	1.73
НВР	1649 (0.47)	673 (0.48)	976 (0.46)	54 (0.38)	679 (0.44)	1.16	1.03	4699 (0.34)	2629 (0.37)	2070 (0.31)	193 (0.15)	1416 (0.32)	2.13	1.21	1.28	1.50	2.53	1.38	1.37
AMI	171 (0.05)	113 (0.08)	58 (0.03)	1 (0.01)	41 (0.03)	3.00	2.92	609 (0.04)	480 (0.07)	129 (0.02)	3 (0.002)	92 (0.02)	10.00	3.54	1.18	1.43	5.00	1.50	1.10
ANGI	213 (0.06)	121 (0.09)	92 (0.04)	2 (0.01)	65 (0.04)	4.00	1.97	526 (0.04)	367 (0.05)	159 (0.02)	5 (0.004)	104 (0.02)	5.00	2.19	1.66	1.84	2.50	2.00	1.58
CVA	83 (0.02)	40 (0.03)	43 (0.02)	0 (0.00)	38 (0.02)		1.40	185 (0.01)	113 (0.02)	72 (0.01)	6 (0.005)	49 (0.01)	2.00	1.49	1.78	1.90		2.00	1.76
TIA	142 (0.04)	53 (0.04)	89 (0.04)	2 (0.01)	64 (0.04)	4.00	0.89	332 (0.02)	188 (0.03)	144 (0.02)	11 (0.01)	100 (0.02)	2.00	1.24	1.42	1.97	1.00	2.00	1.72

Table 2.1. CVD frequency at baseline in OA and No OA (CTL) groups stratified by sex (M/F).

GP: group proportion; RP: relative proportion; MP<sup>PRE</sup>: pre-menopausal female participants; MP<sup>POST</sup>: post-menopausal female participants; OA<sup>M</sup>: male participants with OA; OA<sup>F</sup>: female participants with OA; CTL<sup>M</sup>: male participants without OA diagnosis; CTL<sup>F</sup>: female participants without OA diagnosis; OA<sup>PR</sup>: pre-menopausal female participants without OA; OA<sup>PO</sup>: post-menopausal female participants with OA; CTL<sup>PR</sup>: pre-menopausal female participants without OA; OA<sup>PO</sup>: post-menopausal female participants with OA; CTL<sup>PO</sup>: post-menopausal female participants without OA; OA<sup>T</sup>: total OA; CTL<sup>T</sup>: total without OA; OA: osteoarthritis; CVD: cardiovascular disease; HD: heart disease; PVD: peripheral vascular disease; HBP: high blood pressure; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ANGI: angina; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; TIA: transient ischemic accident

Table 2.2. CVD frequency at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA (CTL) groups without CVD at baseline stratified by sex (M/F).

	OA Diagnosis						No OA Diagnosis												
	Tatal Ma	Male	Female n (GI)			_		Total	Mala	Female n (GI)		_							
	n (GI)	n (GI)	<b>Total</b> n (GI)	MP <sup>PRE</sup> n (GI)	<b>МР<sup>рост</sup></b> n (GI)	RP (MP <sup>post</sup> / MP <sup>pre</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>M</sup> ∕ OA <sup>F</sup> )	n (GI)	n (GI)	<b>Total</b> n (GI)	<b>MP<sup>PRE</sup></b> n (Gl)	<b>МР<sup>юст</sup></b> n (GI)	<b>RP</b> (MP <sup>POST</sup> / MP <sup>PRE</sup> )	RP (CTL <sup>M</sup> / CTL <sup>F</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>M</sup> ∕ CTL <sup>M</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>F</sup> / CTL <sup>F</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>PR</sup> / CTL <sup>PR</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>PO</sup> / CTL <sup>PO</sup> )	<b>RP</b> (OA <sup>⊤</sup> / CTL <sup>⊤</sup> )
Total n	1516	565	951	78	721			7948	3760	4188	993	2685							
Any CVD diagnosis	244 (0.16)	98 (0.17)	146 (0.15)	8 (0.10)	106 (0.15)	1.50	1.13	902 (0.11)	489 (0.13)	413 (0.10)	64 (0.06)	278 (0.10)	1.67	1.30	1.31	1.50	1.67	1.50	1.42
HD	62 (0.04)	29 (0.05)	33 (0.03)	2 (0.03)	26 (0.04)	1.33	1.67	206 (0.03)	124 (0.03)	82 (0.02)	9 (0.01)	56 (0.02)	2.00	1.50	1.67	1.50	3.00	2.00	1.58
PVD	44 (0.03)	11 (0.02)	33 (0.03)	1 (0.01)	22 (0.03)	3.00	0.67	117 (0.01)	39 (0.01)	78 (0.02)	21 (0.02)	45 (0.02)	1.00	0.50	1.67	1.50	0.50	1.50	1.97
HBP	134 (0.09)	57 (0.10)	77 (0.08)	6 (0.08)	56 (0.08)	1.00	1.25	550 (0.07)	317 (0.08)	233 (0.06)	33 (0.03)	165 (0.06)	2.00	1.33	1.25	1.33	2.67	1.33	1.28
AMI	12 (0.01)	9 (0.02)	3 (0.003)	0 (0.00)	2 (0.003)		6.67	47 (0.01)	37 (0.01)	10 (0.002)	1 (0.001)	9 (0.003)	3.00	5.00	2.00	1.50		1.00	1.34
ANGI	15 (0.01)	7 (0.01)	8 (0.01)	0 (0.00)	4 (0.01)		1.00	34 (0.004)	20 (0.01)	14 (0.003)	3 (0.003)	8 (0.003)	10.00	3.33	1.00	3.33		3.33	2.30
CVA	6 (0.004)	2 (0.004)	4 (0.004)	0 (0.00)	2 (0.003)		1.00	31 (0.004)	12 (0.003)	19 (0.005)	1 (0.001)	13 (0.005)	5.00	0.60	1.33	0.80		0.60	1.03
TIA	21 (0.01)	8 (0.01)	13 (0.01)	0 (0.00)	9 (0.01)		1.00	53 (0.01)	29 (0.01)	24 (0.01)	0 (0.00)	19 (0.007)	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00		1.43	2.07

GI: group proportion at 3-year follow-up; MP<sup>PRE</sup>: pre-menopausal female participants; MP<sup>POST</sup>: post-menopausal female participants; OA<sup>M</sup>: male participants with OA; OA<sup>F</sup>: female participants with OA; CTL<sup>M</sup>: male participants without OA diagnosis; CTL<sup>F</sup>: female participants without OA diagnosis; OA<sup>PR</sup>: pre-menopausal female participants without OA; CTL<sup>PR</sup>: pre-menopausal female participants without OA; OA<sup>F</sup>: female participants with OA; CTL<sup>PR</sup>: pre-menopausal female participants without OA; OA<sup>PO</sup>: post-menopausal female participants with OA; CTL<sup>PC</sup>: post-menopausal female participants without OA; OA<sup>C</sup>: total OA; CTL<sup>T</sup>: total without OA; OA: osteoarthritis; CVD: cardiovascular disease; HD: heart disease; PVD: peripheral vascular disease; HBP: high blood pressure; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ANGI: angina; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; TIA: transient ischemic accident

	OA Diagnosis	No OA Diagnosis	p-value
Total n	711	1405	
Age (years)	64.00 [8.15]	63.22 [8.15]	0.038
PASE	132.85 [65.05]	138.23 [64.83]	0.072
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	27.71 [5.53]	25.93 [4.58]	<0.001
WH ratio	0.83 [0.06]	0.82 [0.06]	<0.001
HbA1c (%)	5.50 [0.55]	5.46 [0.45]	0.074
hsCRP (mg/L)	2.47 [2.78]	2.19 [4.98]	0.164
HDL (mmol/L)	1.78 [0.51]	1.77 [0.49]	0.612
LDL (mmol/L)	3.15 [0.85]	3.20 [0.89]	0.215
SDS	0.70 [0.91]	0.65 [0.88]	0.222
Non-lab IHRS <sup>27</sup>	6.07 [3.73]	5.76 [3.87]	0.078

**Table 2.3.** Participant demographics of post-menopausal female participants with and without OA. Values representmean [SD].

P values are calculated through Student's t-test between OA and No OA post-menopausal female participants. Data is matched 1 OA: 2 No OA. PASE: Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly – missing 6 (< 1%) for OA diagnosis, missing 11 (< 1%) for No OA diagnosis; BMI: Body Mass Index; HDL: High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein; high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; \*SDS – Social Disadvantage Score, modified from Anand et al (2020)<sup>60</sup>, calculated by income less than 20,000 CAD assigned a score of two, income between 20,000 CAD and 50,000 CAD assigned a score of one. The maximum SDS was three, and the lowest possible SDS was zero; IHRS – InterHeart risk score.

 Table 2.4.1. Unadjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA post-menopausal female participants.

 Model Coefficients - CVD incidence

						95% Confidence Interval	
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper
Intercept	-2.055	0.0832	-24.71	<.001	0.128	0.109	0.151
GROUP:							
OA – No OA	0.291	0.1344	2.16	0.030	1.338	1.028	1.741

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "CVD incidence = CVD" vs. "CVD incidence = No CVD"

Total n = 2154 (n = 718 OA, age-matched n = 1,436 No OA)

**Table 2.4.2.** Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA post-menopausal female participants.Model Coefficients - CVD incidence

						95% Confide	nce Interval
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper
Intercept	-2.48766	0.1584	-15.704	<.001	0.0831	0.0609	0.113
GROUP:							
OA – No OA	0.30498	0.2628	1.160	0.246	1.3566	0.8105	2.271
Non-lab IHS	0.06708	0.0196	3.416	<.001	1.0694	1.0290	1.111
Non-lab IHS 米 GROUP:							
Non-lab IHS 🛠 (OA – No OA)	-0.00375	0.0327	-0.115	0.909	0.9963	0.9344	1.062

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "CVD incidence = CVD" vs. "CVD incidence = No CVD"

Total n = 2154 (n = 718 OA, age-matched n = 1,436 No OA)

Table 2.4.3. Adjusted odds ratio of CVD at 3-year follow-up in OA and No OA post-menopausal female participants.

					95% Confidence Interval		
Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper
Intercept	-4.57080	0.57009	-8.018	<.001	0.0103	0.00339	0.0316
GROUP:							
OA – No OA	0.33910	0.27486	1.234	0.217	1.4037	0.81905	2.4056
Non-lab IHS	0.05938	0.02085	2.848	0.004	1.0612	1.01869	1.1054
Age	0.03463	0.00818	4.233	<.001	1.0352	1.01877	1.0520
mYears	-0.00146	3.99e-4	-3.657	<.001	0.9985	0.99776	0.9993
HT:							
No HT – HT	-0.31816	0.13385	-2.377	0.017	0.7275	0.55962	0.9457
Non-lab IHS * GROUP:							
Non-lab IHS 🛠 (OA – No OA)	-0.01082	0.03449	-0.314	0.754	0.9892	0.92458	1.0584

Model Coefficients - CVD incidence

Note. Estimates represent the log odds of "CVD incidence = CVD" vs. "CVD incidence = No CVD"

Total n = 2154 (n = 718 OA, age-matched n = 1,436 No OA); mYears: years since menopause; HT – hormone therapy; IHRS – InterHeart risk score.
## Chapter 4 – Conclusions

#### 4.1 Summary of Findings and Implications

Analysis of baseline and 3-year follow-up data of the Comprehensive cohort collected by the CLSA revealed elevated odds of developing CVD in individuals with OA. The study design for both manuscript 1 (Chapter 2) and manuscript 2 (Chapter 3) were nested case-control, with ageand sex-matching performed for manuscript 1 and age-matching performed for manuscript 2.

For manuscript 1, there were greater unadjusted and adjusted odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up in individuals with OA, with significant differences at baseline for cIMT, FRS, or IHRS but no significant influence of odds in cIMT, FRS, or IHRS. Factors including TUG, BMI, frailty, and social disadvantage were significantly different at baseline in individuals with and without OA. There were no differences with odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up in weight-bearing and non-weightbearing OA, though BMI was found to be significantly greater in individuals with weight-bearing OA at baseline. Our findings suggest that although individuals with OA are at an elevated risk of CVD compared to individuals without OA, markers of CVD risk (cIMT, FRS, IHRS) alone did not account for the differences of odds of developing CVD between the groups.

For manuscript 2, there were greater unadjusted odds of CVD at 3-year follow-up in postmenopausal females with OA. The adjusted odds of CVD after accounting for IHRS, the interaction of IHRS and OA diagnosis, and menopausal variables were no longer significantly different between post-menopausal females with and without OA. This suggests that the elevation in CVD following the menopause transition is augmented by OA pathology interacting with menopausal variables, such as hormone therapy use and years since menopause.

96

This thesis provides novel information on how CVD risk presents in individuals with OA, with considerations given to the site of OA and menopausal transition. Collectively, findings from manuscripts 1 and 2 suggest that there may be additional and interacting aspects of OA pathology that increase CVD risk. For example, it is known that factors such as smoking, obesity, and high-fat and high-cholesterol diets are associated with increased inflammation, which is a driver of increased CVD risk. It is possible that these risk factors alone are not independent determinants of health outcomes, but rather act synergistically to alter CVD risk profiles, particularly in an elevated-risk group such as OA.

#### 4.2 Future Directions and Conclusions

The results from this thesis provide rationale to explore several additional avenues for examining the relationship between OA and CVD. The roles of OA severity and occurrence of joint replacement have been demonstrated to influence CVD risk. As CVD pathology is different between specific diseases (e.g., stroke versus heart failure), the influence of OA pathology on difference CVDs may also differ, prompting further investigations on OA and type of CVD. Many risk factors, including as diet, physical activity, smoking, and obesity are all associated with increased inflammation, suggesting that examining a holistic inflammatory profile may provide further understanding of underlying mechanisms. Specifically with regards to women's health, examining sex differences before and after the menopause transition as well as examining the changes in OA pathology and CVD risk factors across the menopause transition will address the specific role of menopause in altering CVD risk. Additional variables associated with menopause, such as HT use, have also been implicated in independently influencing the risk for OA and CVD, and warrants further exploration. Through examining key mechanisms underlying the shared pathology, early risk identification may improve to help reduce disease burden and preserve the quality of life of aging individuals.

### 4.3 References

- Chaudhry R, Miao JH, Rehman A. Physiology, Cardiovascular. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing;
  2022. Accessed May 3, 2022. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK493197/
- 2. Rajendran P, Rengarajan T, Thangavel J, et al. The Vascular Endothelium and Human Diseases. *Int J Biol Sci*. 2013;9(10):1057-1069. doi:10.7150/ijbs.7502
- 3. Loscalzo J, Welch G. Nitric oxide and its role in the cardiovascular system. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*. 1995;38(2):87-104. doi:10.1016/S0033-0620(05)80001-5
- 4. Castellon X, Bogdanova V. Chronic Inflammatory Diseases and Endothelial Dysfunction. *Aging Dis*. 2016;7(1):81-89. doi:10.14336/AD.2015.0803
- 5. Oparil S, Acelajado MC, Bakris GL, et al. Hypertension. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. 2018;4:18014. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2018.14
- 6. Diseases I of M (US) C on a NSS for C and SC. *Cardiovascular Disease*. National Academies Press (US); 2011. Accessed June 9, 2022. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK83160/
- Laslett Lawrence J, Alagona P, Clark Bernard A, et al. The Worldwide Environment of Cardiovascular Disease: Prevalence, Diagnosis, Therapy, and Policy Issues. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2012;60(25\_Supplement):S1-S49. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.11.002
- 8. Khoudary SRE, Aggarwal B, Beckie TM, et al. Menopause Transition and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: Implications for Timing of Early Prevention: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2020;142(25):e506-e532. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000912
- 9. Olvera Lopez E, Ballard BD, Jan A. Cardiovascular Disease. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Accessed May 27, 2022. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK535419/
- United Nations. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. *World Population Ageing*. Published online 2015. doi:ST/ESA/SER.A/390
- 11. Cui A, Li H, Wang D, Zhong J, Chen Y, Lu H. Global, regional prevalence, incidence and risk factors of knee osteoarthritis in population-based studies. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2020;29. doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100587
- 12. Oliveria SA, Felson DT, Reed JI, Cirillo PA, Walker AM. Incidence of symptomatic hand, hip, and knee osteoarthritis among patients in a health maintenance organization. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1995;38(8):1134-1141. doi:10.1002/art.1780380817
- Constantino de Campos G, Mundi R, Whittington C, Toutounji MJ, Ngai W, Sheehan B.
  Osteoarthritis, mobility-related comorbidities and mortality: an overview of meta-analyses. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis*. 2020;12:1759720X20981219. doi:10.1177/1759720X20981219
- 14. Chen D, Shen J, Zhao W, et al. Osteoarthritis: toward a comprehensive understanding of pathological mechanism. *Bone Res.* 2017;5:16044. doi:10.1038/boneres.2016.44

- 15. Farnaghi S, Crawford R, Xiao Y, Prasadam I. Cholesterol metabolism in pathogenesis of osteoarthritis disease. *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases*. 2017;20(2):131-140. doi:10.1111/1756-185X.13061
- 16. Hunter DJ, Felson DT. Osteoarthritis. *BMJ*. 2006;332(7542):639-642.
- 17. Sen R, Hurley JA. Osteoarthritis. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Accessed June 9, 2022. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK482326/
- 18. Willeit P, Tschiderer L, Allara E, et al. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness Progression as Surrogate Marker for Cardiovascular Risk: Meta-Analysis of 119 Clinical Trials Involving 100 667 Patients. *Circulation*. 2020;142(7):621-642. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046361
- 19. Polak JF. Carotid intima-media thickness: an early marker of cardiovascular disease. *Ultrasound Q*. 2009;25(2):55-61. doi:10.1097/RUQ.0b013e3181a901ab
- 20. van den Munckhof ICL, Jones H, Hopman MTE, et al. Relation between age and carotid artery intima-medial thickness: a systematic review. *Clin Cardiol*. 2018;41(5):698-704. doi:10.1002/clc.22934
- 21. D'Agostino RB, Grundy S, Sullivan LM, Wilson P, for the CHD Risk Prediction Group. Validation of the Framingham Coronary Heart Disease Prediction Scores: Results of a Multiple Ethnic Groups Investigation. *JAMA*. 2001;286(2):180. doi:10.1001/jama.286.2.180
- 22. Gijsberts CM, Groenewegen KA, Hoefer IE, et al. Race/Ethnic Differences in the Associations of the Framingham Risk Factors with Carotid IMT and Cardiovascular Events. Apetrei C, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(7):e0132321. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132321
- 23. McGorrian C, Yusuf S, Islam S, et al. Estimating modifiable coronary heart disease risk in multiple regions of the world: the INTERHEART Modifiable Risk Score. *European Heart Journal*. 2011;32(5):581-589. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehq448
- 24. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *The Lancet*. 2004;364(9438):937-952. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17018-9
- 25. Joseph P, Yusuf S, Lee SF, et al. Prognostic validation of a non-laboratory and a laboratory based cardiovascular disease risk score in multiple regions of the world. *Heart*. 2018;104(7):581-587. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2017-311609
- Hall AJ, Stubbs B, Mamas MA, Myint PK, Smith TO. Association between osteoarthritis and cardiovascular disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiolog*. 2016;23(9):938-946. doi:10.1177/2047487315610663
- Rahman MM, Kopec JA, Anis AH, Cibere J, Goldsmith CH. Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Patients With Osteoarthritis: A Prospective Longitudinal Study. *Arthritis Care & Research*. 2013;65(12):1951-1958. doi:10.1002/acr.22092

- 28. Fernandes GS, Valdes AM. Cardiovascular disease and osteoarthritis: common pathways and patient outcomes. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2015;45(4):405-414. doi:10.1111/eci.12413
- 29. Talsania M, Scofield RH. Menopause and Rheumatic Disease. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America*. 2017;43(2):287-302. doi:10.1016/j.rdc.2016.12.011
- 30. Wang JC, Bennett M. Aging and Atherosclerosis. *Circulation Research*. 2012;111(2):245-259. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.261388
- 31. Zyriax BC, Dransfeld K, Windler E. Carotid intima–media thickness and cardiovascular risk factors in healthy volunteers. *Ultrasound J.* 2021;13(1):17. doi:10.1186/s13089-021-00218-6
- 32. Loeser RF. Aging and Osteoarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2011;23(5):492-496. doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e3283494005
- 33. Mahajan A, Patni R. Menopause and Osteoarthritis: Any Association ? *J Midlife Health*. 2018;9(4):171-172. doi:10.4103/jmh.JMH\_157\_18
- 34. Mei Y, Williams JS, Webb EK, Shea AK, MacDonald MJ, Al-Khazraji BK. Roles of Hormone Replacement Therapy and Menopause on Osteoarthritis and Cardiovascular Disease Outcomes: A Narrative Review. *Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences*. 2022;3. Accessed May 12, 2022. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fresc.2022.825147
- 35. Tanamas SK, Wijethilake P, Wluka AE, et al. Sex hormones and structural changes in osteoarthritis: A systematic review. *Maturitas*. 2011;69(2):141-156. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.03.019
- 36. Roman-Blas JA, Castañeda S, Largo R, Herrero-Beaumont G. Osteoarthritis associated with estrogen deficiency. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. 2009;11(5):241-241. doi:10.1186/ar2791
- 37. Murphy E, Kelly DP. Estrogen Signaling and Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation Research*. 2011;109(6):687-696. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.236687
- 38. Gavin KM, Seals DR, Silver AE, Moreau KL. Vascular endothelial estrogen receptor alpha is modulated by estrogen status and related to endothelial function and endothelial nitric oxide synthase in healthy women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 2009;94(9):3513-3520. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-0278
- 39. El Khoudary SR, Wildman RP, Matthews K, Thurston RC, Bromberger JT, Sutton-Tyrrell K. Progression rates of carotid intima-media thickness and adventitial diameter during the menopausal transition. *Menopause*. 2013;20(1):8-14.
- 40. Khan ZA, Janssen I, Mazzarelli JK, et al. Serial Studies in Subclinical Atherosclerosis During Menopausal Transition (from the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation). *Am J Cardiol*. 2018;122(7):1161-1168. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2018.06.039
- 41. Manson JE, Bassuk SS. Invited commentary: hormone therapy and risk of coronary heart disease why renew the focus on the early years of menopause? *Am J Epidemiol*. 2007;166(5):511-517. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm213

- 42. Boardman HM, Hartley L, Eisinga A, et al. Hormone therapy for preventing cardiovascular disease in post-menopausal women. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2015;(3):Cd002229-Cd002229. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD002229.pub4
- 43. Fernandes GS, Valdes AM. Cardiovascular disease and osteoarthritis: common pathways and patient outcomes. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2015;45(4):405-414. doi:10.1111/eci.12413
- 44. Sokolove J, Lepus CM. Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis: latest findings and interpretations. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis*. 2013;5(2):77-94. doi:10.1177/1759720X12467868
- 45. Pearle AD, Scanzello CR, George S, et al. Elevated high-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels are associated with local inflammatory findings in patients with osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2007;15(5):516-523. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2006.10.010
- 46. van Leuven SI, Franssen R, Kastelein JJ, Levi M, Stroes ESG, Tak PP. Systemic inflammation as a risk factor for atherothrombosis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2008;47(1):3-7. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kem202
- 47. Kadir HAHA, Alsousou J, Roebuck MM, Frostick SP. Adipokines production in metabolic-associated osteoarthritis of the knee joint. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. 2018;26:S189. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2018.02.406
- 48. Smekal A, Vaclavik J. Adipokines and cardiovascular disease: A comprehensive review. *Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub*. 2017;161(1):31-40. doi:10.5507/bp.2017.002
- 49. Arsenault BJ, Rana JS, Lemieux I, et al. Physical inactivity, abdominal obesity and risk of coronary heart disease in apparently healthy men and women. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. 2010;34(2):340-347. doi:10.1038/ijo.2009.229
- 50. Amin S, Niu J, Guermazi A, et al. Cigarette smoking and the risk for cartilage loss and knee pain in men with knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2007;66(1):18-22. doi:10.1136/ard.2006.056697
- I. Durak NKB A Avci, MYB Çimen, M KaÇmaz, L Karaca, HS öztürk. Acute Effects of Smoking of Cigarettes with Different Tar Content on Plasmaoxidant/Antioxidant Status. *Inhalation Toxicology*. 2000;12(7):641-647. doi:10.1080/08958370050030994
- 52. Barua RS, Ambrose JA. Mechanisms of coronary thrombosis in cigarette smoke exposure. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2013;33(7):1460-1467. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300154
- 53. Gallucci G, Tartarone A, Lerose R, Lalinga AV, Capobianco AM. Cardiovascular risk of smoking and benefits of smoking cessation. *J Thorac Dis.* 2020;12(7):3866-3876. doi:10.21037/jtd.2020.02.47
- 54. Messner B, Bernhard D. Smoking and Cardiovascular Disease. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*. 2014;34(3):509-515. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.300156
- 55. Oono IP, Mackay DF, Pell JP. Meta-analysis of the association between secondhand smoke exposure and stroke. *J Public Health (Oxf)*. 2011;33(4):496-502. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdr025

- 56. Frey PF, Ganz P, Hsue PY, et al. The exposure-dependent effects of aged secondhand smoke on endothelial function. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2012;59(21):1908-1913. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.02.025
- 57. Ghlichloo I, Gerriets V. Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs). In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Accessed June 9, 2022. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK547742/
- 58. Needleman P. The synthesis and function of prostaglandins in the heart. *Fed Proc*. 1976;35(12):2376-2381.
- 59. Malik K, Dua A. Prostaglandins. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Accessed June 9, 2022. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK553155/
- 60. Nüesch E, Dieppe P, Reichenbach S, Williams S, Iff S, Jüni P. All cause and disease specific mortality in patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis: population based cohort study. *BMJ*. 2011;342:d1165. doi:10.1136/bmj.d1165
- 61. Lee J, Chang RW, Ehrlich-Jones L, et al. Sedentary behavior and physical function: Objective Evidence from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2015;67(3):366-373. doi:10.1002/acr.22432
- 62. Stewart R. Cardiovascular Disease and Frailty: What Are the Mechanistic Links? *Clinical Chemistry*. 2019;65(1):80-86. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2018.287318
- 63. Castell MV, van der Pas S, Otero A, et al. Osteoarthritis and frailty in elderly individuals across six European countries: results from the European Project on OSteoArthritis (EPOSA). *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2015;16:359. doi:10.1186/s12891-015-0807-8
- 64. Seals DR, Nagy EE, Moreau KL. Aerobic exercise training and vascular function with ageing in healthy men and women. *The Journal of physiology*. 2019;597(19):4901-4914. doi:10.1113/jp277764
- 65. Green DJ, Smith KJ. Effects of Exercise on Vascular Function, Structure, and Health in Humans. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*. 2018;8(4):a029819. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a029819
- 66. Woods JA, Wilund KR, Martin SA, Kistler BM. Exercise, Inflammation and Aging. *Aging Dis*. 2011;3(1):130-140.
- 67. Piva SR, Susko AM, Khoja SS, Josbeno DA, Fitzgerald GK, Toledo FGS. Links between Osteoarthritis and Diabetes:Implications for Management from a Physical Activity Perspective. *Clin Geriatr Med*. 2015;31(1):67-87. doi:10.1016/j.cger.2014.08.019
- 68. Leon BM, Maddox TM. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: Epidemiology, biological mechanisms, treatment recommendations and future research. *World J Diabetes*. 2015;6(13):1246-1258. doi:10.4239/wjd.v6.i13.1246
- 69. Murata K, Uchida K, Takano S, et al. Osteoarthritis patients with high haemoglobin A1c have increased Toll-like receptor 4 and matrix metalloprotease-13 expression in the synovium. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes*. 2019;12:1151-1159. doi:10.2147/DMSO.S209677

- 70. Garessus EDG, de Mutsert R, Visser AW, Rosendaal FR, Kloppenburg M. No association between impaired glucose metabolism and osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*. 2016;24(9):1541-1547. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2016.04.007
- 71. Goto A, Noda M, Matsushita Y, et al. Hemoglobin a1c levels and the risk of cardiovascular disease in people without known diabetes: a population-based cohort study in Japan. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*). 2015;94(17):e785. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000000785
- 72. Thomas S, Browne H, Mobasheri A, Rayman MP. What is the evidence for a role for diet and nutrition in osteoarthritis? *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2018;57(Suppl 4):iv61-iv74. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/key011
- 73. Saleh AS, Najjar SS, Muller DC, et al. Arterial stiffness and hand osteoarthritis: a novel relationship? *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2007;15(3):357-361. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2006.09.008
- 74. Yan M, Zhang J, Yang H, Sun Y. The role of leptin in osteoarthritis. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2018;97(14):e0257. doi:10.1097/MD.000000000010257
- 75. Hui W, Litherland GJ, Elias MS, et al. Leptin produced by joint white adipose tissue induces cartilage degradation via upregulation and activation of matrix metalloproteinases. *Ann Rheum Dis*. 2012;71(3):455-462. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-200372
- 76. Poetsch MS, Strano A, Guan K. Role of Leptin in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2020;11:354. doi:10.3389/fendo.2020.00354
- 77. Luong MLN, Cleveland RJ, Nyrop KA, Callahan LF. Social determinants and osteoarthritis outcomes. *Aging health*. 2012;8(4):413-437. doi:10.2217/ahe.12.43
- Knight JB, Callahan LF, Luong MLN, et al. The Association of Disability and Pain with Individual and Community Socioeconomic Status in People with Hip Osteoarthritis. *Open Rheumatol J*. 2011;5:51-58. doi:10.2174/1874312901105010051
- Anand SS, Razak F, Davis AD, et al. Social disadvantage and cardiovascular disease: development of an index and analysis of age, sex, and ethnicity effects. *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2006;35(5):1239-1245. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl163
- 80. Kanters DM, Griffith LE, Hogan DB, Richardson J, Patterson C, Raina P. Assessing the measurement properties of a Frailty Index across the age spectrum in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2017;71(8):794-799. doi:10.1136/jech-2016-208853
- 81. Chen X, Mao G, Leng SX. Frailty syndrome: an overview. *Clin Interv Aging*. 2014;9:433-441. doi:10.2147/CIA.S45300
- 82. Veronese N, Maggi S, Trevisan C, et al. Pain Increases the Risk of Developing Frailty in Older Adults with Osteoarthritis. *Pain Medicine*. 2017;18(3):414-427. doi:10.1093/pm/pnw163
- 83. Marinus N, Vigorito C, Giallauria F, et al. Frailty is highly prevalent in specific cardiovascular diseases and females, but significantly worsens prognosis in all affected patients: A systematic review. *Ageing Res Rev.* 2021;66:101233. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2020.101233

- 84. Kleipool EEF, Hoogendijk EO, Trappenburg MC, et al. Frailty in Older Adults with Cardiovascular Disease: Cause, Effect or Both? *Aging Dis*. 2018;9(3):489-497. doi:10.14336/AD.2017.1125
- 85. Rogawski ET, Gray CL, Poole C. An argument for renewed focus on epidemiology for public health. *Ann Epidemiol.* 2016;26(10):729-733. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2016.08.008
- 86. Fowkes FG, Dobson AJ, Hensley MJ, Leeder SR. The role of clinical epidemiology in medical practice. *Eff Health Care*. 1984;1(5):259-265.
- 87. Pearce N. Analysis of matched case-control studies. *BMJ*. 2016;352:i969. doi:10.1136/bmj.i969
- 88. Hajian-Tilaki K. Sample size estimation in epidemiologic studies. *Caspian J Intern Med*. 2011;2(4):289-298.
- 89. Sperandei S. Understanding logistic regression analysis. *Biochem Med (Zagreb)*. 2014;24(1):12-18. doi:10.11613/BM.2014.003
- 90. Schober P, Vetter TR. Logistic Regression in Medical Research. *Anesth Analg*. 2021;132(2):365-366. doi:10.1213/ANE.00000000005247
- 91. Raina P, Wolfson C, Kirkland S, et al. Cohort Profile: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2019;48(6):1752-1753j. doi:10.1093/ije/dyz173
- 92. Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, et al. The Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). *Can J Aging*. 2009;28(3):221-229. doi:10.1017/S0714980809990055
- 93. Fry A, Littlejohns TJ, Sudlow C, et al. Comparison of Sociodemographic and Health-Related Characteristics of UK Biobank Participants With Those of the General Population. Am J Epidemiol. 2017;186(9):1026-1034. doi:10.1093/aje/kwx246
- 94. Anand SS, Tu JV, Desai D, et al. Cardiovascular risk scoring and magnetic resonance imaging detected subclinical cerebrovascular disease. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2020;21(6):692-700. doi:10.1093/ehjci/jez226

# Supplementary Figure



Supplementary Figure 1. Approaches to working with large datasets

# Supplementary Tables

Risk Factor		Points for the	Points for each			
		Men Women				section
Age						
45-49		7		5		Points:
50-54		8		7		
55-59		10		8		
60-64		11		9		
65-69		12		10		
70-74		14		11		
75+		15		12		
HDL (mmol	/L)					
>1.6		-2				Points:
1.3-1.6		-1				
1.2-1.29		0				
0.9-1.19		1				
<0.9		2				
Total Chole	sterol					
<4.1		0		0		Points:
4.1-5.19		1		1		
5.2-6.19		2		3		
6.2-7.2		3		4		
>7.2		4		5		
Systolic Blo (mmHg)	od Pressure	Not Treated	Treated	Not Treated	Treated	
<120		-2	0	-3	-1	Points:
120-129	120-129		2	0	2	
130-139		1	3	1	3	
140-149		2	4	2	5	
150-159		2	4	4	6	
160+		3	5	5 7		
Smolver	Yes	4		3		Points:
SITIUKEI	No	0		0		
Diabotas	Yes	3		4		Points:
Diabetes	No	0		0		7

### Supplementary Table 1. Framingham Risk Score Table (modified based on variables available from CLSA)

**Supplementary Table 2.** Non-Laboratory InterHeart Score Table (modified based on variables available from CLSA)

Risk Factor	Question		Points for the	Points for each
			answer	section
Age	Are you a man 55 yea	rs or older OR woman	2	Points:
	65 years or older?			
	OR Are you a man you	inger than 55 years or	0	
Smaking Dick the		by years	0	Dointe
description which	100 cigarettes in my l	ife	0	POINTS.
matches you best:	OR L am a former	smoker (last smoked	2	
	more than 12 months	sago)	_	
	OR I am a current	1-5 cigarettes/d	2	
	smoker or I smoked	6-10 cigarettes/d	4	
	regularly in the last	11-15 cigarettes/d	6	
	12 months, and I	16-20 cigarettes/d	7	
	SITIORE	More than 20 cigarettes/d	11	
Second hand smoke	Over the past 12 months, what has	Once a month or less	0	Points:
	been your typical	OR at least once a	2	
	exposure to other	week or more		
	people's tobacco			
Distance	smoke?			
Diabetes	Do you have	Yes	6	Points:
		No or unsure	0	
High blood pressure	Do you have high	Yes	5	Points:
	blood pressure?	No or unsure	0	
Waist to hip ratio	Pick one only:	Q1: less than 0.81	0	Points:
		Q2: 0.81 – 0.887	1	
		Q3: 0.887 – 0.965	2	
		Q4: greater than or = 0.965	3	
Psychosocial factors	How is your self-	Never or some	0	Points:
	rated mental	periods		
	health?	OR Several periods	3	
		of stress or		
	Has a destar over	permanent stress	2	
	told you that you	No	5	
	suffer from clinical		0	
	depression or a			
	mood disorder?			
	Do you eat salty	Yes	1	Points:
	food or snacks one	No	0	

	or more times a day?			
Dietary factors. Pick one	Do you eat fried	Yes	1	
	foods or snacks or fast foods (French fries, pan-fried potatoes, poutine) 3 or more times a	No	0	
answer for each food	Do you eat fruit one	Yes	0	
group mentioned	or more times daily?	No	1	
	Do you eat vegetables one or more times daily?	Yes	0	
		No	1	
	Do you eat meat	Yes	2	
	and/or poultry 2 or more times daily?	No	0	
Physical activity	How active are you during your leisure time?	I am mainly sedentary or perform low level exercise (PASE < 120 for females; PASE < 140 for males)	2	Points:
		OR I perform moderate to high level exercise (PASE > 120 for females; PASE > 140 for males)	0	

Supplementary Table 3. Frailty Index calculations (modified to exclude OA as a variable).

Domain	Item	Question	Scoring
Self-rated health,	Health	In general, would you	0= excellent
vision, hearing		say your health is	0.25= very good
	gen_hlth_com	excellent, very good,	0.5= good
		good, fair or poor?	0.75= fair
			1= poor
	Vision	ls your eyesight, using	0= excellent
		glasses or corrective	0.25= very good
	vis_sght_com	lens if you use them:	0.5= good
		excellent, very good,	0.75= fair
		good, fair or poor?	1= poor
	Hearing	Is your hearing, using a	0= excellent
		hearing aid if you use	0.25= very good
	hrg_hrg_com	one: excellent, very	0.5= good
		good, good, fair or	0.75= fair
		poor?	1= poor
Chronic conditions	Arthritis	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
		you that you have	1= yes
	ccc_ra_com,	rheumatoid arthritis or	
	cct_otart_com	another type of	
		arthritis?	
	COPD	Has a doctor told you	0= no
		that you have/had any	1= yes
	ccc_copd_com	of the following:	
		emphysema, chronic	
		bronchitis, chronic	
		obstructive pulmonary	
		disease (COPD) or	
		chronic changes in	
		lungs due to smoking?	
	COPD	Has a doctor told you	0= no
		that you have/had any	I= Yes
	ccc_copa_com	of the following:	
		empnysema, chronic	
		obstructivo pulmopary	
		uisease (COPD) of	
		lungs due to smoking?	
		Has a destar over told	0- no
	זטוו		
	ccc hhn com	high-blood pressure or	т- йсэ
		hypertension?	
	Diabatas Mallitus	Has a doctor over told	0- no
	dia diah com	diabetes borderline	т- йсэ

		diabetes or that your	
		blood sugar is high?	
	Chronic Heart Failure	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
		you that you have	1= yes
	ccc_heart_com	heart disease	
		(including congestive	
		heart failure, or CHF)?	
	Angina	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
		you that you have	1= yes
	ccc_angi_com	angina (or chest pain	
		due to heart disease)?	
	Acute Myocardial	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	Infarction	you that you have had	1= ves
		, a heart attack or	,
	ccc ami com	myocardial infarction?	
	Peripheral Vascular	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	Disease	vou that vou have	1= ves
		, peripheral vascular	,
	ccc pvd com	disease or noor	
		circulation in your	
		limbe?	
•	Stroke	Has a doctor ever told	0- no
	Stroke	You that you have	1- ves
		experienced a stroke	I- YCS
		experienceu a stroke	
		OF CVA	
		accident)?	2
	I ransient Ischemic	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	Attack	you that you have	1= yes
		experienced a mini-	
	ccc_tia_com	stroke or TIA?	
		(Transient Ischemic	
		Attack)?	
	Memory Problem	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
		you that you have a	1= yes
	ccc_mempb_com	memory problem?	
	Parkinson's Disease	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
		you that you have	1= yes
	ccc_park_com	Parkinson's disease?	
	Peptic Ulcer Disease	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
		you that you have	1= yes
	ccc_ulcr_com	intestinal or stomach	
		ulcers?	

Colitis	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have a	1= yes
ccc_ibdibs_com	bowel disorder such as	
	Crohn's Disease,	
	ulcerative colitis, or	
	Irritable Bowel	
	Syndrome?	
Bowel Incontinence	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you	1= yes
ccc_bowinc_com	experience bowel	
	incontinence?	
Urinary Incontinence	How often do you wet	0= no
	or soil yourself (either	1= yes
ccc_uriinc_com	day or night)?	
Cataract	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have	1= yes
icq_catrct_com	cataracts?	
Glaucoma	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have	1= yes
icq_glauc_com	glaucoma?	
Macular Degeneration	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have	1= yes
ccc_macdeg_com	macular	
	degeneration?	
Cancer	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have	1= yes
ccc_canc_com	cancer?	
Osteoporosis	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have	1= yes
ccc_ostpo_com	osteoporosis,	
	sometimes called low	
	bone mineral density,	
	or thin, brittle, or	
	weak bones?	
Back Pain	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have	1= yes
ccc_bckp_com	back problems,	
	excluding fibromyalgia	
	and arthritis?	
Hypothyroidism	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have an	1= yes
ccc_uthyr_comMissing	UNDER-active thyroid	
	gland (sometimes	
	called hypothyroidism	
	or myxedema)?	
Hyperthyroidism	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
	you that you have an	1= yes

	ccc_othyr_com	OVER-active thyroid	
		gland (sometimes	
		called hyperthyroidism	
		or Graves' disease)?	
	Kidney Failure	Has a doctor ever told	0= no
		you that you have	1= yes
	ccc kidn com	kidney disease or	
		kidney failure?	
	Pneumonia	In the past year, have	0= no
		you seen a doctor for	1= ves
	ccc drppeu com	nneumonia?	_ ,
		pricumonia.	
	Urinary Tract Infection	In the past year, have	0= no
		you seen a doctor for	1= yes
	ccc druti com	urinary tract infection?	
	Falls	How many times have	0= none
		you fallen in the past	0.5= only one
	fal nmbr nb com	12 months?	1= two or more
Activities of daily living	Walking	Can you walk without	0= able
,		heln?	0.5 = with help
	adl ablwk com	neip.	1= unable
	adl_abiwk_com		
	adl_npwk_com		
	Bathing	Can you take a bath or	0- abla
	Datring		0 = able
		snower without help?	0.5= with help
	adi_abibt_com,		I= unapie
	adi_npbt_com,		
	adl_unbt_com		
Instrumental activities	Shopping	Can you go shopping	0= able
of daily living		for groceries or	0.5= with help
	ial_ablgro_com,	clothes without help	1= unable
	ial_hpgro_com,	(taking care of all	
	ial_ungro_com	shopping needs	
		yourself)?	
	Doing housework	Can you do your	0= able
		housework without	0.5= with help
	ial_ablwrk_com,	help (i.e., you can	1= unable
	ial_hpwrk_com,	clean floors, etc.)?	
	ial_unwrk_com		
Cognitive function	Verbal fluency	As many names of	0= no
		animals, the	1= yes
	cog aft score 1 com	participant recalls in 1	
	<u> </u>	minute	
Mental health	Effort	How often did vou feel	0= rarely or never
		that everything you	0.33 = some of the time
	den ffrt com	did was an effort	0.66 = occasionally
1			side occusionally

		1= all of the time
Felt lonely	How often did you feel	0= rarely or never
	lonely?	0.33= some of the time
dep_lonly_com		0.66= occasionally
		1= all of the time
Could not get going	How often did you feel	0= rarely or never
	that you could not 'get	0.33= some of the time
dep_gtgo_trm	going'?	0.66= occasionally
(com not given)		1= all of the time

	OA Diagnosis	# Missing (% total)	No OA Diagnosis	# Missing (% total)	p-value
Total n	618		1088		
Age (years)	63.19 [9.22]	0	61.61 [9.08]	0	<0.001
PASE	146.62 [72.38]	5 (< 1%)	147.93 [72.27]	10 (1%)	0.003
TUG (s)	9.35 [2.67]	7 (1%)	9.04 [1.62]	20 (2%)	0.012
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	27.30 [5.06]	0	26.20 [4.64]	2	<0.001
WH ratio	0.87 [0.10]	0	0.88 [0.10]	0	0.236
HbA1c (%)	5.56 [0.67]	2 (< 1%)	5.52 [0.55]	11 (1%)	0.160
hsCRP (mg/L)	2.16 [3.01]	1 (< 1%)	2.10 [4.73]	1 (< 1%)	0.774
HDL (mmol/L)	1.60 [0.49]	0	1.62 [0.50]	0	0.562
LDL (mmol/L)	2.96 [0.89]	0	2.95 [0.88]	0	0.769
Frailty Index	0.62 [0.88]	0	0.54 [0.83]	0	<.001
SDS	0.09 [0.05]	32 (5%)	0.08 [0.05]	59 (5%)	0.069
Non-lab IHRS <sup>25</sup>	7.57 [5.16]	0	7.27 [5.28]	0	0.263
FRS	10.79 [4.56]	0	10.26 [4.62]	0	0.024
cIMT	0.74 [0.15]	0	0.72 [0.15]	0	0.039

Supplementary Table 4. Raw participant demographics using baseline CLSA data.

P values are calculated through Student's t-test between OA and No OA individuals. Data is matched 1 OA: 2 No OA. n = 690 male participants, n = 1016 female participants. OA: osteoarthritis; PASE: Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; TUG: timed-up-and-go; BMI: Body Mass Index; WH: waist-to-hip ratio; HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c; HSCRP: high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; HDL: High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein; \*SDS – Social Disadvantage Score, modified from Anand et al (2020)<sup>94</sup>, calculated by income less than 20,000 CAD assigned a score of two, income between 20,000 CAD and 50,000 CAD assigned a score of one. The maximum SDS was three, and the lowest possible SDS was zero; IHRS – InterHeart risk score (non-lab); FRS: Framingham risk score; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness (left side).

	wbOA	# Missing (% total)	nwbOA	# Missing (% total)	p-value
Total n	159		159		
Age (years)	62.74 [9.21]	0	63.01 [9.24]	0	0.794
PASE	147.45 [79.61]	0	149.63 [70.15]	1 (< 1%)	0.063
TUG (s)	9.64 [4.15]	0	8.98 [1.54]	4 (3%)	0.03
BMI (kg/m²)	27.27 [4.85]	0	25.55 [3.80]	0	<0.001
WH ratio	0.87 [0.09]	0	0.86 [0.09]	0	0.416
HbA1c (%)	5.58 [0.79]	1 (< 1%)	5.54 [0.63]	0	0.647
hsCRP (mg/L)	2.16 [3.20]	1 (< 1%)	2.09 [3.65]	0	0.845
HDL (mmol/L)	1.61 [0.49]	0	1.69 [0.48]	0	0.129
LDL (mmol/L)	2.84 [0.89]	0	2.97 [0.85]	0	0.162
Frailty Index	0.62 [0.85]	0	0.62 [0.90]	0	0.362
SDS	0.09 [0.05]	9 (6%)	0.09 [0.05]	6 (4%)	0.993
Non-lab IHRS <sup>25</sup>	7.50 [5.65	0	6.97 [4.97]	0	0.376
FRS	10.50 [4.91]	0	10.35 [4.53]	0	0.776
cIMT	0.73 [0.14]	0	0.72 [0.15]	0	0.521

**Supplementary Table 5.** Raw participant demographics using baseline CLSA data in weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing OA

P values are calculated through Student's t-test between weight-bearing (wbOA) and non-weight-bearing (nwbOA) osteoarthritis (OA). Data is matched 1 wbOA: 1 nwbOA. n = 54 male participants per group, n = 105 female participants per group. PASE: Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; TUG: timed-up-and-go; BMI: Body Mass Index; WH: waist-to-hip ratio; HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c; HSCRP: high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; HDL: High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein; \*SDS – Social Disadvantage Score, modified from Anand et al (2020)<sup>94</sup>, calculated by income less than 20,000 CAD assigned a score of two, income between 20,000 CAD and 50,000 CAD assigned a score of one, and living without a partner assigned a score of one. The maximum SDS was three, and the lowest possible SDS was zero; IHRS – InterHeart risk score (non-lab); FRS: Framingham risk score; cIMT: carotid intima-media thickness (left side).

	OA Diagnosis					No OA Diagnosis				
	Tatal	N 4 - 1 -	Female			Tatal		Female		
	lotal	Iviale	Total	PRE	POST	Iotal	IVIale	Total	PRE	POST
Total n	1430	596	834	86	753(6?)	7822	3958	3864	1038	2797
Age (years)	63.79	63.71	63.84	52.23	65.19	59.25	59.80	58.68	49.78	62.05
	[9.05]	[9.09]	[9.02]	[7.46]	[8.19]	[9.20]	[9.35]	[9.00]	[3.48]	[8.11]
PASE	140.59	157.59	128.53	144.56	126.79	155.68	164.83	146.35	167.35	138.58
	[70.74]	[74.89]	[65.05]	[78.14]	[63.29]	[75.73]	[78.14]	[72.02]	[79.60]	[67.35]
BMI (kg/m²)	28.25	28.35	28.17	30.29	27.92	26.75	27.17	26.32	26.62	26.21
	[5.53]	[4.82]	[5.99]	[8.27]	[5.62]	[4.70]	[4.16]	[5.15]	[5.90]	[4.84]
WH ratio	0.89	0.97	0.83	0.83	0.83	0.89	0.96	0.82	0.81	0.82
	[0.09]	[0.06]	[0.06]	[0.08]	[0.06]	[0.10]	[0.06]	[0.06]	[0.06]	[0.07]
HbA1c (%)	5.54	5.57	5.52	5.41	5.53	5.49	5.54	5.44	5.32	5.49
	[0.61]	[0.67]	[0.56]	[0.54]	[0.56]	[0.55]	[0.61]	[0.48]	[0.43]	[0.48]
hsCRP (mg/L)	2.46	2.11	2.70	3.87	2.56	2.08	1.93	2.24	2.17	2.26
	[4.06]	[4.09]	[4.01]	[6.61]	[3.57]	[4.18]	[3.88]	[4.47]	[3.50]	[4.79]
HDL (mmol/L)	1.58	1.35	1.75	1.58	1.76	1.56	1.37	1.75	1.71	1.77
	[0.49]	[0.38]	[0.49]	[0.40]	[0.50]	[0.48]	[0.39]	[0.49]	[0.47]	[0.49]
LDL (mmol/L)	3.04	2.93	3.11	2.92	3.13	3.04	2.97	3.12	2.91	3.20
	[0.86]	[0.86]	[0.86]	[0.79]	[0.87]	[0.89]	[0.88]	[0.90]	[0.84]	[0.91]
SDS*	0.64	0.40	0.82	0.58	0.85	0.52	0.42	0.63	0.41	0.71
	[0.91]	[0.75]	[0.97]	[0.89]	[0.97]	[0.81]	[0.75]	[0.87]	[0.73]	[0.90]
Non-lab IHRS <sup>25</sup>	7.57	9.36	6.29	5.95	6.33	7.07	8.59	5.52	4.58	5.86
	[4.29]	[4.29]	[3.80]	[3.86]	[3.80]	[4.41]	[4.26]	[4.01]	[3.93]	[3.96]

**Supplementary Table 6.** Raw participant demographics using baseline CLSA data, stratified by OA diagnosis, sex, and menopausal status.

PRE: pre-menopausal female participants; POST: post-menopausal female participants; OA: osteoarthritis; PASE: Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly; TUG: timed-up-and-go; BMI: Body Mass Index; WH: waist-to-hip ratio; HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c; HSCRP: high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; HDL: High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein; \*SDS – Social Disadvantage Score, modified from Anand et al (2020)<sup>94</sup>, calculated by income less than 20,000 CAD assigned a score of two, income between 20,000 CAD and 50,000 CAD assigned a score of one, and living without a partner assigned a score of one. The maximum SDS was three, and the lowest possible SDS was zero; IHRS – InterHeart risk score (non-lab); FRS: Framingham risk score; cIMT: carotid intimamedia thickness (left side).

	OA Diagnosis	No OA Diagnosis	p-value
Total n	711	1405	
Age (years)	65.20 [8.12]	64.75 [8.13]	0.224
PASE	127.39 [63.18]	134.41 [64.48]	0.018
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	27.93 [5.64]	26.06 [4.65]	<0.001
WH ratio	0.83 [0.06]	0.82 [0.07]	0.028
HbA1c (%)	5.53 [0.56]	5.49 [0.45]	0.053
hsCRP (mg/L)	2.49 [2.94]	2.27 [5.33]	0.291
HDL (mmol/L)	1.77 [0.50]	1.79 [0.48]	0.505
LDL (mmol/L)	3.13 [0.84]	3.20 [0.90]	0.067
SDS	0.83 [0.95]	0.77 [0.91]	0.199
Non-lab IHRS <sup>25</sup>	6.26 [3.72]	6.02 [3.86]	0.168

**Supplementary Table 7.** Raw participant demographics of post-menopausal females with and without OA. Values represent mean [SD].

P values are calculated through Student's t-test between OA and No OA post-menopausal female participants. Data is matched 1 OA: 2 No OA. PASE: Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly – missing 6 (< 1%) for OA diagnosis, missing 11 (< 1%) for No OA diagnosis; BMI: Body Mass Index; HDL: High-Density Lipoprotein; LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein; high sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; \*SDS – Social Disadvantage Score, modified from Anand et al (2020)<sup>94</sup>, calculated by income less than 20,000 CAD assigned a score of two, income between 20,000 CAD and 50,000 CAD assigned a score of one, and living without a partner assigned a score of one. The maximum SDS was three, and the lowest possible SDS was zero; IHRS – InterHeart risk score.